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Wednesday, May 7, 2008


--- On commencing at 9:08 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Today is day 5 of cross-examination of the Ontario Energy Board's hearing EB-2007-0050.  The hearing is in regard to Hydro One's application for leave to construct a transmission line between the Bruce Power facility and the Milton Switching Station and to make modifications to certain transmission stations.


Are there any preliminary matters that came up over the -- overnight?  None.


Mr. Fallis, I believe you are going to do cross-examination this morning.


MR. FALLIS:  I am.  My light seems to be on.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't believe you are.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, RESUMED


Robert Chow, Previously Sworn


Mike Falvo, Previously Sworn


Victor Girard, Previously Sworn


John Sabiston, Previously Sworn


Gary Schneider, Previously Sworn


Andrew Skalski, Previously Sworn
Cross-examination by Mr. Fallis:


MR. FALLIS:  There it is, okay.


Members of the panel, I represent landowners in the Wellington, Gray County and Bruce County areas who are the persons who you seek to acquire easement rights over their lands, and the questions I am asking are on their behalf as landowners.


My first questions I would like to direct to the OPA and to Mr. Chow.  Mr. Chow, you are the representative of the OPA that is on this panel; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  My understanding, sir, is that the OPA was created on December 20th, 2004 under the Electrical -- Electricity Restructuring Act of 2004 and that the operative parts of that statute are embedded in the Electricity Act.  Is that your understanding?


MR. CHOW:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  And that it is actually now part I.1 of that act.  If you are familiar with the act, that is the section of the act that it is in.  Is that your understanding as well?


MR. CHOW:  Again, I believe we are under the act, but the terms of the specifics of the act, I can't help you.


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you.  Under the act, sir, the act, section 25.2(1) of the act sets out the objects and character of the Ontario Power Authority and section 25.2(1) says that, "The objects of the Ontario Power Authority are", and it lists nine separate objects, dealing with things like forecast, to engage in activities for ensuring adequate, reliable supply, et cetera, et cetera.


But two of them I want to bring to your attention.  25.2(1) says -- at (b), it says:

"The objects of the OPA are to conduct independent planning for electricity generation demand, conservation and transmission for Ontario."


With respect to the focus on transmission, your mandate was to conduct independent planning for transmission.  That's the object of the -- that the legislature has given to you, and I want to ask a specific question with respect to that.


Do you or did you prepare a separate report with respect to transmission, in the three years of your life of the OPA, now three-and-a-half years, two-and-a-half years before the application was brought?  Did you develop an independent plan for transmission in Ontario?


MR. CHOW:  Yes, we did.  We developed a plan as part of the development of the Integrated Power System Plan, and that was presented as the part of the discussion paper, specifically in discussion paper number 5 presented in November -- I don't know the exact date.  November 2006.


Subsequent to that, the Ontario Power Authority developed the Integrated Power System Plan, which it filed back in, I believe, August 29th, 2007.  Contained in it are a section on transmission planning.


MR. FALLIS:  It has not been made part of this proceeding, and they're part of the IPSP proceeding, which I believe is going to be dealt with later this summer.  Were the transmission portions, with respect to the Milton to Bruce, discussed in that plan?


MR. CHOW:  I believe as part of the Hydro One evidence, the discussion paper number 5 on transmission was included as part of the evidence.


MR. FALLIS:  In the evidence in this material here that's before this proceeding?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Sir, with respect, the other area, I understand that you -- that the object is -- on section F was to engage in activities to facilitate load management.  That is one of the objects of the OPA and that is -- that has been the subject of your discussion with respect to organizing the load management so that there aren't outages.  Is this project part of that -- that you are proposing to the Board to approve, is that part of the -- of that object, to facilitate load management?


MR. CHOW:  Yes, but I need some clarification on your question.  You mentioned the load management to prevent outages?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, load management so that you organize the distribution of power in such a way to diminish the possibility of congestion and -- that's what I take it to be.  Would that be your understanding, as well, to try to keep the flow of power, leaving all of the generation facilities in Ontario managed in a controlled way?


MR. CHOW:  No.  I would clarify that.


One of the objectives of the Ontario Power Authority is to develop a conservation program, which is part of it as load management.  So it is a major program of the demand conservation and demand management in the OPA that look after providing equipment up to supply in the form of conservation.


MR. FALLIS:  So the separate object that has been stated in the -- by the legislature to you is to engage in activities that promote electricity conservation, and the efficient use of electricity is really one in the same as load management; is that what you're saying?


MR. CHOW:  In my understanding, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  So the legislators sort of got it wrong when they said to -- separate item F, which says to engage in activities that facilitate load management, and, indeed, they redundantly say, according to you, to engage in activities that promote electricity conservation and the efficient use of electricity?  That basically is the same statement, only worded differently.


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, if I could interject.  The panel does not have a copy of the objects of the act that you are referring to.  It may be helpful if we had that, sir.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I am just -- I don't have -- it's a matter of public record.  I don't have a copy for the -- I am just reading the statement.


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, you are pointing to what you believe is an inconsistency, I believe.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I'm just saying --


MR. SKALSKI:  We don't have that information in front of us.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, the words, I read two sections.  Mr. Chow has just said that the load management meant to promote electricity conservation.  I am reading the second section of that, which says to promote -- is to engage in activities that promote electricity conservation.  It seems to me he is saying the same thing.  That is what -- according to Mr. --


MR. SKALSKI:  And Mr. Chow does not have the benefit of that document in front of him, sir.


MR. FALLIS:  Sorry, but it is in the public record.


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me.  Has it been filed?  Has --


MR. FALLIS:  I don't have to file the Electricity Act.  This whole process --


MS. NOWINA:  I am not suggesting you do.  I am just wondering if there is a copy immediately available.


MR. FALLIS:  I can have a page.  It is on the page.  I can --


MR. MILLAR:  I don't believe it has been prefiled.


MS. NOWINA:  Do we have...


MR. MILLAR:  We can get copies.


MS. NOWINA:  We should have a copy of the Electricity Act around.


MR. MILLAR:  I certainly have a personal copy in my office.  We can get it, if that would be helpful.  If it is just a page, we can make copies.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross is going to make copies.  Can you return to this line of questioning when he comes back with the copies?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, I will.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  With respect, sir -- and I am going to have another part on this second section, but maybe I will send them out a second time.


Under the same section, 25.5 of the Ontario Power Authority -- of the Electricity Act and the Ontario Power Authority section, it talks about the powers that your authority has, and the authority says, under subsection 5:

"Without limiting the generality of section 4 dealing with objects ..."


Section 5 deals with the -- it says, "The OPA has power to", and then the first four things allows it to enter into contracts, and the second -- section E says the -- relating to -- one of the items is electricity load management.


Would that include requiring any of the powers with which you work, Hydro One, Hydro One Networks Inc.?  Would that include directing them to do certain things that you want to be carried out?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am trying to resist, believe me.


MS. NOWINA:  I appreciate that, Mr. Nettleton.  Go ahead.  Jump in.


MR. NETTLETON:  But I -- you know, the panel was clear, Mr. Skalski was clear, that they don't have copies of other sections of legislation, particularly sections of the Electricity Act.


If my friend is intending to point these witnesses to other sections of the act, it may be most helpful if all of the sections that he is intending to refer to could be provided.  It would be, I think, time-efficient that way.


MR. FALLIS:  I don't disagree.  Mr. Ross is photocopying the other section.  I can maybe come back to that when he comes back.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you go back to the section we now have in hand while Mr. Ross is doing the photocopying?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, I can.


MS. NOWINA:  And to Board staff, we should have a copy of the Electricity Act here, so at break, if you would make sure that we have one, please.


MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  If I can go back then to the section 25.2, the objects and character, and the object of the Ontario Power Authority, it says under -- with respect to, after your answer that was given, you described facility load management as being -- promoting electricity conservation.


My question to you was, does it seem to you redundant that section F -- G was written when -- to promote electricity conservation, and that's what you interpreted section F to mean?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHOW:  Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  Having this in front of me now, I can see F and G are somewhat related.  G is more related to the broader issue of electricity conservation and the efficient use of electricity.


My read of F would be in a similar way, but it is related, for example, to demand-management type of activity, the actual controlling and permitting more efficient low-profile peak saving.  That is my reading of it.  I am not a lawyer.  I think they are related.


MR. FALLIS:  Fair enough.


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, can I also just clarify.  On this document there are certain items that are bolded.  Is that something that has been added to the document --


MR. FALLIS:  No, it's not.  That's the copy that I have that I was referring to.  They're not bolded in the act.  They're bolded for my presentation purposes.


MR. SKALSKI:  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  Going over to the other page that you have been provided, Mr. Chow -- and I have bolded the parts that I was referring to in my evidence -- or my questions.  And it talks about authority.


And the -- it says, in the powers that the OPA has, with respect to the things it can do, is to -- section (e) says:

"to take such steps as it considers advisable to facilitate the provision of services relating to electricity load management".


So my question was -- and I have bolded that in (e)(ii) -- we've talked about what that is in the previous objects.  With respect to that, would you agree with me that it takes such steps as you consider advisable if you felt it was absolutely necessary that Hydro One or another distributor do something in particular with respect to a particular distribution or transmission issue, your board -- or your authority could order that lower party to do something.  You have the power to actually demand that they do something.  Would you agree?


MR. CHOW:  No.  I believe I said yesterday that the OPA -- I don't believe the OPA has the authority to order another party to proceed with an action.


What we can do as steps is, one, to advise, to recommend, to urge, or, if necessary, go to bodies that have the legislative power to direct actions, such as the Ontario Energy Board or the IESO, to take an appropriate step to have the action implemented.


MR. FALLIS:  So if we go down one below to section (5)(f) with respect to transmission capacity, it says:

"Without limiting the generality of section 4, the OPA has power to take such steps as it considers advisable to ensure that there is adequate transmission capacity identified in the Integrated Power System Plan."


You are saying, under your answer, that you could not direct the Hydro to -- Hydro One Networks Inc. to apply for a -- make an application to this Board for leave to construct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  I do not believe we have --


MR. FALLIS:  If Mr. Skalski wishes to coach you there, I will just give you a minute.


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Skalski wishes to confer.


MR. FALLIS:  Coaching and conferring is the same thing.  I don't think -- can Mr. Chow not answer that?  He's a separate authority.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, it is a witness panel.  They can choose to answer the question however they wish.


MR. FALLIS:  All right.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHOW:  Mr. Fallis, as I said yesterday and today, I do not believe we have the power to order an entity to take a certain action.


Again, I am not a lawyer.  There may be a fine point in what is a power to direct, what is the power to counsel.  That, I cannot speak on that.


I personally do not believe we have the authority to order another entity such as Hydro One to take a certain action that it did not wish to do.


MR. FALLIS:  Would the Minister, in your opinion, have the power to order you to do that?


MR. CHOW:  Sir, I cannot answer that.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, these are legal questions, questions of a legal interpretation of an act.  This panel is not a panel of legal experts.


MR. FALLIS:  Fine.


Now, I would like you to turn to the letter that was filed as Exhibit -- and we can call this up -- Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5, April the 12th.  It was the Minister of Energy letter.  If you could call it up, please.


MR. SKALSKI:  Do you have an appendix number, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  appendix 12, I think.  It's schedule 5, appendix 12.  This is a letter dated October 14th, 2005.


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  We are looking at it.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, that letter is a letter that was sent by the Minister of Energy at that point in time, Donna Cansfield, the Minister of Energy, in which -- it was a letter written to Mr. Jan Carr on that date, for the Ontario Power Authority, entitled "direction".  And in that document -- I am just going to the wording -- is at the second-last paragraph.  It involved the contract that had been negotiated with the Bruce Power LLP to refurbish the units 1 and 2 at Bruce A, and the letter was directed to the OPA to require the OPA to sign the agreement.


I highlight the words in the bottom, second -- about the third last paragraph below the indent:

"In addition pursuant to section 25.32(7) of the Electricity Act, as a result of the initiative referred to above, I hereby direct the OPA to execute and deliver to the Ministry of Energy the contract between the OPA and the Ministry of Energy, which is enclosed with this Direction."


And at the very last line before the date it says:

"This Direction shall be effective and binding as of the date hereof."


I point out that this is an absolute direction that you are mandated to carry out and there is no discretion on your part.  You are mandated to do it.  Would you agree with that?



MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Now, if you would now turn to the letter of March 23rd, 2007, which is the letter from -- excuse me, one moment.


MR. SKALSKI: I believe that is appendix 4, Madam Chair.


MR. FALLIS:  I'm sorry.


MR. SKALSKI:  Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  Let me see the exhibit number.  Just scroll down, please.  It is Exhibit B6.5, appendix 4.  That is the letter of March 23rd, 2007.


I would ask you to look at the letter and, in particular, the first line.  It says it is a letter sent by your authority under the signature of the chief executive officer, Jan Carr, dated March 23rd, and it says:

"The purpose of this letter is to urge..."


It is sent to Hydro One Inc., is that correct, Hydro One Inc.?  Would you agree with that?


MR. SKALSKI:  Hydro One Networks Inc., yes.


MR. FALLIS:  I am asking the OPA officer.  He is the one that received the letter.  I don't need a letter from Hydro One.  I would ask:  Would you agree with me, sir, that the letter was send by Jan Carr to Laura Formusa, president of Hydro One Inc.?  Would you agree with that?  That's who it is addressed to, right, on the top of the letter?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  It is entitled, "Dear Laura", and then it talks about the transmission line, and it says below that:

"The purpose of this letter is to urge Hydro One Networks Inc. to initiate the activities necessary to construct a new double-circuit 500 kV line between the Bruce nuclear complex and Hydro One's existing switching station located in Milton in the western part of the GTA ..."


Greater Toronto Area:

"... for a switching station located in the Town of Milton, service by December 1, 2011."


Would you agree that is what the first part of the -- first sentence says in that letter?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  So the word that you used in that letter you referred to moments ago is that all you can do is urge; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  You say that you did not have the authority to direct Hydro One Inc. to build that line?


MR. CHOW:  That's my understanding.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  If I turn over to the last paragraph on the line, last whole paragraph, last whole paragraph, large paragraph, on page 3 of that letter, the letter goes on to say -- you indicate that you believe it is crucial that the work commence as quickly as  possible, but the very last sentence says to Hydro One Inc.:

"If you choose to proceed with this project as the project proponent, you will have the support of the OPA in the regulatory process for this project."


Do you agree that statement was made in your letter?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  With respect, sir, the OPA has used the word "choose", so that you would contemplate and hope that your urging would be successful.  You are here and it was.  But would you agree with me the word "choose" is a word that involves choice on the part of Hydro One as to whether it wished to be the project proponent or does not want to be the project proponent?  It contemplates a choice.  Would you agree with me?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  And, therefore, if Hydro One had a choice as to whether it wished to be the project proponent or not the project proponent, would you agree that, therefore, it had the discretion as to whether it wished to be the project proponent or did not wish to be the project proponent?  Would you agree with that?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Therefore, Hydro One Inc. has retained the discretion as to whether it wishes to be a proponent or not; is that correct?


MR. SKALSKI:  Can I just clarify, Mr. Fallis?  The letterhead is addressed, as you noticed, to Ms. Formusa of Hydro One Inc.  Ms. Formusa is also the president and CEO of Hydro One Networks Inc., and also the references or the reference to Hydro One that you see in the last paragraph on page 3 is a short-form reference to Hydro One Networks.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, Mr. Skalski, my questions are directed to the OPA, who wrote the letter, and I am asking the OPA.  You can deal with in reply whatever you wish.  My questions are directed to the OPA.


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Fallis, you are directing the questions to a panel.  Mr. Chow is a member of the panel.  Mr. Chow is not the author of this letter.  It is Mr. Carr's letter.


So if you are wanting a clarification as to what Hydro One entity Mr. Carr was referring to, I am not sure that anyone on this panel can answer it, because Mr. Carr is not here.


I am struggling with where we're going with these questions.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, Mr. Nettleton and Hydro One officials, you filed the evidence.  I am only working with the evidence that you filed to ask the questions of the only person on the panel who is the -- represents Ontario Power who sent that.


So I am entitled to ask that question of Hydro One.  I will ask Hydro One questions on the letter, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's address your comments to me, gentlemen.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, what is the purpose of your line of questioning?  Are you trying to get at something that has to do with whether it says Hydro One Inc. or Hydro One Networks?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, the question is -- I am trying to get at, Madam Chair, is the questions of whether the project is a non-discretionary project or a discretionary project, and so far the answer from Ontario --


MS. NOWINA:  I understand that.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  I have no problem with that line of questioning.  I am not certain that it turns on whether it says Hydro One Inc. or Hydro One Networks.  Is that an area of concern for you?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  It is?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then I think it is fine for Mr. Chow to answer the question, if he can, but I can understand if he cannot.


So you are just confirming that it says Hydro One Inc. on the document?


MR. FALLIS:  The letter was sent to Hydro One Inc.  the application is made by another corporation.


MS. NOWINA:  And your question is?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, that was the -- I have other questions,  but he has already answered the question, that they had the discretion to choose.  That was the question, and then Mr. Skalski started to reread the letter in terms of some other set of filters that he had to analyze that letter.


I wasn't asking him anything.  I was defending the asking of the question of Mr. Chow.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. FALLIS:  Mr. Chow, does Hydro One Inc. operate, to your knowledge -- your knowledge, OPA -- does it operate transmission systems in Ontario, distribution or transmission systems in Ontario?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. CHOW:  Can you repeat the question, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  Does Hydro One Inc. operate transmission systems or distribution systems in Ontario?

     MR. CHOW:  My understanding, Mr. Fallis, just my

understanding, is that Hydro One Inc. is a holding company, of which one of the subsidiaries companies is Hydro One Networks that operate the -- and maintain and owns the transmission asset in Ontario, at least for most of it.

     MR. FALLIS:  With respect to the transmission and

distribution of electricity outside of Ontario, does Hydro One transmit or distribute electricity outside of Ontario?

     MR. CHOW:  Again, I may not be the best person to answer that, Mr. Fallis.  There are Hydro One staff here that may give you a better answer to that than me.

     MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Fair enough.  I would like to direct the next set of questions, if I could, to Mr. Falvo, from the Independent Electricity System Operator.

     Mr. Falvo, I understand that IESO has been a separate

entity -- that was otherwise named, but a separate entity since the break-up of Ontario Hydro in about 1998; is that correct?

     MR. FALVO:  I believe so, yes.

     MR. FALLIS:  And it was called Independent Electrical

Marketing Operator?  Was that a name that that --

     MR. FALVO:  It was the Independent Electricity Market

Operator.

     MR. FALLIS:  Market Operator.  Okay.  And it changed its name to what it is now in the interim time, I guess?

     MR. FALVO:  I think that was changed when the Electricity Act was revised, I think in 2004.

     MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  And just so I understand, as the system operator, your organization basically operates and monitors the flow of power from the generation facilities on the grid, through the transmission facilities on the grid.  You manage and operate that.  Am I correct in that simplistic understanding?

     MR. FALVO:  Yes, essentially that's it.  We direct the

operation of the system.

     MR. FALLIS:  And, sir, would I be correct that your operation -- entity can also influence the flow of direction on the grid as to where it goes to?

     MR. FALVO:  Within the capability of the equipment, yes.

     MR. FALLIS:  Yeah.  Like, for example, if there is a demand to go to Michigan and it comes from the Bruce, you can route it to -- you can put it on the Longwood 500 kV line, as opposed to the Milton line, if you wanted to send power to Longwood to join into the system that would take it to Michigan; is that correct?

     MR. FALVO:  That is not exactly how it works.  It's an

interconnected grid.  What can happen is, if there is a transaction in place scheduled to flow between Ontario and Michigan, what can happen is that we can direct the generation resources in a certain economic order to increase above the demand in Ontario, and Michigan would do the opposite, and then the net electricity would flow from one area to the other.

     MR. FALLIS:  But there is a mechanism that allows that to happen in an organized way.  You can influence that to happen or not happen?  How you do it, I don't know.  But you can --

     MR. FALVO:  It is essentially the way I described it.

     MR. FALLIS:  Now, would you agree with me that while the Ontario Power Authority or the planners for the system -- that basically the -- my vision of it is that the IESO are really in the trenches doing the work.  You are really making the system tick and function.  That is what your job is, to make sure that the power gets delivered after the capital facilities are in place; is that correct?

     MR. FALVO:  Sorry, may I have a moment?


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. FALVO:  We have the role of directing the operation of the grid through agreements with transmitters and market

participants, as well as being an independent standards authority for reliability in Ontario.

     MR. FALLIS:  Well, the transmission grid is predominantly owned by Hydro One Networks Inc.; is that correct?

     MR. FALVO:  Predominantly, but not exclusively.

     MR. FALLIS:  In terms of overall, in southern Ontario, is there any grid that is not owned by Hydro One in the greater Toronto area and from there to Windsor and...?

     MR. FALVO:  There is a small portion that isn't, but it is predominantly Hydro One.

     MR. FALLIS:  Is it?  Okay.  So in the predominance, basically, we're talking about a contract with Hydro One here; is that -- Hydro One Networks?  Do you have a contract with them?

     MR. FALVO:  No, we don't.  We have an agreement.

     MR. FALLIS:  An agreement.

     MR. FALVO:  Yes.

     MR. FALLIS:  Do you distinguish between a difference

between an agreement and a contract, or is there...?

     MR. FALVO:  I am not aware of any exchange of financial

terms.

     MR. FALLIS:  I see.

     MR. FALVO:  Other than minor services that go back and

forth.

     MR. FALLIS:  So when power -- from your understanding from IESO, when you are routing power to outside of Ontario, be it to Manitoba, Quebec, or New York or Michigan, is that -- who is -- you are doing it -- who is the -- who is selling the power?  Like, who is owning the power that is going out?  Who is it marketed or billed by, if you will, to the outside source?

     MR. FALVO:  It is a market.  The generators put in offers to sell.  The buyers put in bids to buy.  And that would include buyers outside of Ontario.  And then there is an economic order that matches up.

     MR. FALLIS:  So the Bruce Power can enter into an agreement with Michigan.  It would be their sale, but you would -- the transmitter would be paid something for routing it?  Is that overly simplistic?

     MR. FALVO:  The transmitter gets a tariff for transmitting.  What we would do is dispatch it based on the bids and offers.  As you said, a generator like Bruce Power could have a contract, or they could simply be selling into the market.

     MR. FALLIS:  When you say "selling into the market", then there would be another buyer in the market.  It is not a direct sale from Bruce to Michigan.  Maybe the markets there -- Michigan would buy from the market?  Is that what you're saying?

     MR. FALVO:  Right.

     MR. FALLIS:  I see.


Okay.  I would like to go to Hydro One.  Are any of you on the Hydro One -- it would be Mr. Schneider, I guess Mr. Girard, Mr. Sabiston, Mr. Skalski.  Are any of you in the

employ of Hydro One Inc.?

     MR. SCHNEIDER:  No.  We are all in the employ of Hydro One Networks Inc.

     MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Now, I understand that Hydro One

Networks Inc. was incorporated on March the 4th, 1999, and that Hydro One Inc. was incorporated prior to that.  Is that your understanding?

     MR. SKALSKI:  I don't think we are aware of those dates, Mr. Fallis.

     MR. FALLIS:  Hydro One Networks Inc. was incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act, and I understand that Hydro One Inc. was also incorporated under the same act.  Does anybody disagree with that?

     MR. SKALSKI:  We are not aware of those details, Mr. Fallis.

     MR. FALLIS:  So you don't know -- when you say you are not aware of them, are you in a position where you could undertake to confirm that, and by an undertaking?

     MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, again, I am loath to accept undertakings or have my witnesses accept undertakings without understanding where this is going.

     The issue of the incorporation of Hydro One Inc. versus

Hydro One Networks Inc. seems to be far removed from the

application that is before the Board.  The application before the Board has been made by Hydro One Networks Inc.  It has been made pursuant to section 92 of the act.


If my friend is suggesting that there is some impropriety, that is for argument, in respect of how the application has been made.  But I am not clear what the purpose of the undertaking would be.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I am not getting it either, Mr. Fallis.  And I don't want to waste your time or mine --


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Well, let me --


MS. NOWINA:  It is a simple undertaking, so I don't mind asking that they provide it, but I would like to  understand what relevance it has.

     MR. FALLIS:  Well, maybe by asking the very next question, the relevance will come out.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.

     MR. FALLIS:  Is there any letter, any direction, any

directors' minute, any documentation whatsoever, to indicate any authority that mandated Hydro One Networks Inc. to make the application to this Board from Hydro One Inc.?

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, maybe I can point something out to you, which may or may not answer your question, and then you can go forward if you like.


The letter that you were referring to, to Ms. Formusa from Mr. Carr of March 23rd, although it is addressed to Hydro One Inc., the first line of the letter says:

"The purpose of this letter is to urge Hydro One Networks Inc. ..."


I assume that you saw that?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that assist you at all?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, that letter was written to Hydro One Inc. to ask Hydro One to do something.  I am wanting to know, Did Hydro One do something?  Did it urge -- was there any document that shows that it urged or directed HONI to do what the OPA wished it to do?  Is there anything in writing that shows that? It isn't prefiled.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis -- or perhaps the Hydro One panel can answer this question.  Ms. Formusa is, to my understanding, also the president of Hydro One Networks Inc.  Is that not true?


MR. SKALSKI: Yes, that's correct.


MS. NOWINA:  So the letter was to Ms. Formusa, who is the president of both organizations.


MR. FALLIS:  They are separate corporations under the Business Corporations Acts.  I suggest that there is -- even if it was written to Hydro One Networks Inc. directly, would you agree, sir, that Hydro One Networks Inc. -- I am asking this -- I will ask this of anyone of the Hydro One witnesses, that there was still a choice that was given to the letter, even if it were to Hydro One Networks Inc., as to whether it wished to choose to be a project proponent.  Would you agree with that?


MR. SKALSKI:  Again, Mr. Fallis I believe that the reference to Hydro One in the last paragraph, which uses the word "choose", is a shorthand reference to Hydro One Networks.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, fair enough.  Even assuming that, if the letter was written properly or directly to Hydro One Networks Inc., would you agree with me that Hydro One Networks Inc. had the choice as to whether it wished to proceed with the project as the project proponent?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  In fact, Hydro One Networks Inc., sir, could have chosen not to do it, would you agree with that -- not to be the proponent?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct.  However, Mr. Chow has mentioned today, and I believe in previous hearing days, that if that hypothetical situation would have played out, there were other actions the OPA could have taken to move the project along, if they were feeling strongly that it should move forward.


MR. FALLIS:  So with respect to your position of Hydro One Networks Inc., you chose -- your choice -- to make the application as the project proponent?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  Hydro One made that choice.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  And nobody directed you to do it?  You were urged to do it and you decided to do it, but could have chosen not to do it; is that correct?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct.


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you.  Now, I would like to go into a different area, and I do not wish to cross into other areas that have been reviewed by other counsel and other witnesses.  I would like to deal with the area of wind.


Mr. Falvo indicated yesterday that wind farms are equipped in such a way to be rejected, is the wording that I have.  I have captured that?  Have I captured that correctly, Mr. Falvo, that the power is equipped to be rejected?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  My understanding of that - correct me if I'm wrong - is that the rejection would be made by the IESO that you can -- the system will allow it to be -- I think the word has been "dispatched".  Is that the same word as rejected?  Is it another way of saying that?


MR. FALVO:  The choice is to arm.  I think there is still a very lingering confusion about arming and triggering that I would like to clear up.


MR. FALLIS:  Certainly.


MR. FALVO:  Generation rejection is a special action, an automated action, and what it allows the system to do is to actually operate above its capability.  Without it, the transfer capability would have to be lower; right?


The reason for that is that if we were to operate above, the system would automatically overload or possibly shut down, because there wouldn't be any time to take action immediately following a problem fault on the system.


What a special protection system does is that we choose to arm it; it allows us to exceeded capability of the system.  Where that happens is that when we say "arm" - that's when I talk about using it - it means we have wound up the spring.  It is ready to go.  It is ready to fire.  And what we have done is committed to essentially the ultimate failsafe, which is to disconnect the generating units - excuse me - if the fault on the system were to happen.


There is no other -- at that point, there is no other way to automatically manage the consequence of that fault.


So when we say "arming", we're saying we have committed to an automatic action that will instantly disconnect the generating units, if the fault on the system happens, that allows us to operate above the capability of the transmission system without that action.


So if is selected; it is armed; it is ready to fire off.  And our concern about relying on that over an extended period of time is that there is still a risk of it not operating when it is called upon, or mis-operating, operating when it is not supposed to.


Those are the risks that are inherent in relying on that for an extended period of time.  That's the clarification.


MR. FALLIS:  I appreciate that clarification.  When you say wind farms are equipped to be rejected, that would mean they're armed to -- so that in an instant, they can be -- the power can be disconnected from the system so it doesn't --


MR. FALVO:  What we have said is that the special protection system has been expanded, so one of its functions is to send a signal to the wind farms to disconnect them automatically when --


MR. FALLIS:  Is that as it joins the grid or is that at each of the turbines?


MR. FALVO:  I'm sorry.


MR. FALLIS:  Is that at the grid where it joins?  It's -- let us think of Melancthon, which was 20 miles up the road from Orangeville or 15 miles up the road from Orangeville where we were the other day.  There are 50-some towers that are there.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  The evidence by Mr. Chow yesterday was that the line that goes from Melancthon and the Bruce - Orangeville is in the Bruce, according to Hydro's definition - it goes to a short distance above the transfer station, I believe, at Orangeville, joins in.


Is the arming at the point of junction with the 230 or is the arming at each of the turbines?


MR. FALVO:  The special protection system resides somewhere else.  It is part computer system and part protections.


But the disconnection will happen, I believe, for those stations at a circuit breaker that is upstream from the collection of all of the wind turbines, between the turbines and the connection to the Hydro One line.


MR. FALLIS:  So it is -- well, if you use flow, it would be downstream from the turbines and upstream from the major distribution line, would that be fair, that it is going to join?  It joins the 230 line?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  So it is between the joint of the 230 and the --


MR. FALVO:  And the individual turbines.


MR. FALLIS:  And after.  So it would be one -- one rejection which would disconnect 52 -- 57 turbines that are presently there?


MR. FALVO:  I think it would be half of them at a time.


MR. FALLIS:  Whatever it is.


MR. FALVO:  There is a capability of half.


MR. FALLIS:  Fair enough.  Now, the other thing you indicated, that wind will not be paid for if it is not delivered. That's a statement that you made yesterday.


MR. FALVO:  It's my understanding that -- well, in the market, the wind farms are treated as a price taker, which means when they're able -- when they're generating and they're able to generate and the grid can reliably receive the energy, they are essentially a price taker.


So they would be the last ones to be dispatched down or off, if there were a situation that would require it on the grid.


If they get disconnected, then they also don't get paid.


MR. FALLIS:  So if a disconnection came through arming, they would not be paid for the power that they would otherwise have sold and that they could generate; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  If it came following a trigger of the arm, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  So I think the word is "dispatched" or "armed it", so to dispatch them, there would be no cost to the ratepayers of Ontario if you cut them off because they threatened the security of the system?  There would be no payment to them?


MR. FALVO:  There is no payment from the market when they're not generating.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  When the generation is not being received, the turbines are going around, they're generating, but just, you can't get it to the 230 line.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  All right.  Fair enough.


Now, I am going to ask you this as the IESO:  But for the addition of the energy pool created by wind, the need for the 500 kV line really isn't there, is it?


MR. FALVO:  No.  I believe we have said that the capability of the system is far less than the committed resources right now.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Now, the concern that I have is that you have indicated, Mr. Falvo, that the -- and Mr. Chow as well, that the transmission can handle 100 percent of the nuclear production from the Bruce, which can be sending power at 100 percent of its generation capacity or nameplate capacity, if you will.  It has the potential to do that and presently can do that; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Can you repeat the question, because I didn't really...


MR. FALLIS:  The transmission system today --


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  -- has the capability of transmitting everything that can be produced at the Bruce today.  And the Bruce being the Bruce nuclear generation facility.  It can transmit that today, with all of the contingencies for outages and so forth.  It has the capability of transmitting it all, presently.


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  We have indicated, in our evidence, that the system today is good for 5,000 megawatts, which is -- have sufficient capability to transfer the six units at Bruce today.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.


MR. SKALSKI:  Can I clarify?  I believe that is only through the high use of generation rejection as well.


MR. FALVO:  For maintenance conditions.


MR. CHOW:  For maintenance conditions.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, I didn't hear that last phrase.  For maintenance conditions?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  In the IR, where there was the plot of the percent-of-time usage of the generation rejection, the arming of it, because of the frequent maintenance on the transmission system, as we said, the nominal rating of the transmission system is sufficient to get all of the power out, but in some instances during maintenance conditions we have to rely on the generation rejection today.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  But that is for planned outages; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. SKALSKI:  Which are occurring frequently.  I think that that is the point.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. FALLIS:  So that the nuclear system, if you are just building the new line for the nuclear addition that you are putting on, forgetting about wind, that you would be putting on a line for -- that has the capacity of 3,000 megawatts.  That's what the 500 kV line has the nameplate capacity or more to deliver; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  The new line would add 3,000 megawatts of capacity to the system, assuming the near-term measures also have been implemented.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Now, so that 3,000 -- and with certainty, that 3,000 megawatts of generation -- in fact, I think, Mr. Chow, you indicated it was actually more than that.  I think you described it on the circuit basis, that it was between 3- and 4,000, but the conventional thought is 3,000.  Am I correct?  Will the 500 kV line have a nameplate capacity greater than the delivery of 3,000 megawatts of power?


MR. CHOW:  I believe Mr. Falvo has discussed that aspect quite a bit.  It is not a simple addition of the individual circuit capacity that give you the transfer capability of the overall Bruce system.  It is a lot more complicated than that.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, the advertising that you have put forward in promotion of this project, particularly in the April, says the 5,000 -- the 500 kV line would add an additional 3,000 megawatts of transfer capacity to the system.  That is what you have advertised and promoted in your -- is that a fair statement?


MR. CHOW:  I believe that is what Hydro One's communication said.  I believe -- and I have already confirmed that the new transmission line, with the near-term facility that we are proposing, will provide 3,100 megawatts additional capacity.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  All right.  So -- but for that 3,100 megawatts of additional capacity, if it was all nuclear, you could know with certainty that you are going to be able to generate 3,100 new additional megawatts of power.  If it was nuclear, 100 percent of that would be delivered; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  I mean, the transmission system with everything in service is good for 3,100 megawatts.  The transmission system in a sense don't care what kind of generation you put at the end of it.  It has the capability to deliver that to the rest of the grid.


MR. FALLIS:  So would you agree with me that the nameplate capacity for the wind turbine systems that you've got -- and you have talked of Melancthon particularly being now around 62, I think, and -- am I correct?  I may have not got the numbers right.  But by the time it is fully developed, it would be around 200 megawatts, I think you indicated.


MR. CHOW:  I believe so, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  I may have not -- what is the present figure, again, your understanding?


MR. CHOW:  I am looking it up right now.


MR. FALVO:  I think it is about 69.  There is an interrogatory that had the specific --


MR. FALLIS:  Yeah, it's somewhere around 70, let's say, and the next section will take it up to 130, which totals about 200?  I don't need the exact figure.


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  What I am getting at is this, is that that transmission capability that you are building for wind is based on its maximum capacity, but in reality, the -- that's if it happened to be generating at maximum capacity, but in reality, the actual power that it is delivering on average is only 20 to 30 percent of that maximum nameplate capacity on those wind turbines; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Again, we have spoken at length in the last few days on the aspect of review the proper planning of the transmission system should be based on installed capacity of the total resources that we are planning for.  I really don't have much more to add to that.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Well, let's put it in a dollar-and-cent thing for the ratepayers, because they're the ones that are asked to foot your belief.  I put it to you that basically, if nuclear were at the end, for the power that was being sent down those lines, the ratepayers would know with certainty that they're going to get 100 percent transmission down -- of 3,000 megawatts down those lines, whereas if you put down the power generated by wind, although it would have a nameplate capacity of upwards of that, that in reality only 20 to 30 percent of that upward capacity -- which can be 100 percent at times -- is really only being generated.


So that if you had 30 percent of 3,000, it would be a maximum of under a thousand megawatts; 20 percent, it would be around 600 megawatts.  So that's -- if you had that total capacity occupied by wind power, you would be overbuilding for an average of 20 to 30 percent, whereas if it was nuclear on the other end, you would be building knowing with certainty that you could get 100 percent most of the time.  Fair statement?


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, I didn't quite hear a question in there.


MR. FALLIS:  The question I am asking, would you agree with that statement?


MR. CHOW:  I don't agree with that statement.  I think, again, in the last few days we've presented and discussed quite a lot of detail about designing it for -- not to design for the average, because that is designing for congestion.


We have presented financial evaluation, in terms of the proposal that we have, which provide the capacity of 3,100 megawatts with a new Bruce-to-Milton line, versus a lesser option, such as series compensation, which is at the level that I believe that you are proposing at closer to the average type of level.


And I believe that the results shows that ultimately is the -- based on the assumption that we made for the development of generation in the Bruce area.  It is still the right thing to do at the end.


MR. FALLIS:  With respect to the area, you have indicated that you are building for 1,700 megawatts of surplus -- or power that is generated by wind that will be actually committed or forecast, I think you have indicated that; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  And that so that if 1,700 megawatts of power, at -- if it was a 30 percent capacity on the year, would really be -- over the year you would have just over 500 megawatts that would actually be generated.  And if it was 20 percent capacity, it would be 340 megawatts that would be on the average generated.  And yet you are building a system that is -- that will allow for almost over two full units at the Bruce to be transmitted by -- if it is 800 to 850 plus at the Bruce in your new units, you are longing for capacity for that when you are only going to generate by wind between 300 and 500 megawatts on average.  Would you agree with that?


MR. CHOW:  I do not agree with that.


Again, we presented information on this, and I guess the one highlight that I would like to point out is that when you plan for the average, it is not possible to get the average output from the wind generation.


I think I indicated a number of times, if you plan for the average, you are going to get something much lower than that.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, one thing that hasn't come out at all, but I think it is relevant in the context of this, I have handed in today, and everybody has been circulated -- and Mr. Millar can make it an exhibit.  It was an article that appeared only this past Saturday in the Toronto Star.


We want to give it a number, Mr. Millar.


MS. NOWINA:  Exhibit?


MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K5.1.  That is an article in the Toronto Star, dated -- what is the date, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  May 3rd.


MR. MILLAR:  May 3rd, thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.1:  TORONTO STAR ARTICLE DATED MAY 3, 2008.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, that is an article in the Star which indicates that the -- there is a Portlands Energy Centre, which is basically a natural gas-powered generation station which was successfully fired for the first time on Thursday, which is at the old Hearn generating plant in Toronto.


It indicates in the document that it will have the capacity late this year or early 2009 to go from zero -- from nothing, now, to 550 megawatts, enough to supply roughly 10 percent of Toronto's power demand on a very hot or very cold day.


That is what it says in the article.  It is owned by TransCanada Corporation and OPG, and it was designed to prevent blackouts.


This is power that is now being built inside the GTA.  Would you agree with that?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Were you involved in the planning of that?  Was the OPA involved in the planning of that?


MR. CHOW:  Not myself personally, but I am aware of it.


MR. FALLIS:  You are aware of it, but was it on the discussion table in the OPA?  Were they aware of the -- integrating that facility into the generation system that you manage or you plan for?


MR. CHOW:  I am aware of it.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, okay.  So, effectively, you've got 550 megawatts that's being created inside of the GTA, which is what your line is -- in your application is you say there is need to get power to the GTA, and you just occupy 550 watts of that two years ahead of this line being created.


Do you agree with that?  This will add 550 megawatts to the Toronto need that you don't have to otherwise direct from the Bruce?


MR. CHOW:  I don't agree with your assertion that the Bruce Power is directed to the GTA, specifically.


The Bruce Power, as we said a number of times, is connected to the southern Ontario main grid at Milton.


Milton is a connection point for the southern Ontario grid. From there, it can be used in Ottawa, it can be used in northern Ontario, it can be used in Hamilton, and it can be used also in the GTA.


The Bruce is not directed specifically for the GTA.


MR. FALLIS:  Would you go back to the exhibit that your chief operating officer wrote to the -- Laura Formusa, and I would ask you to agree with me that the -- with the heading on the line.  That's Exhibit 6 -- B-6, appendix 4.  It says, "A new transmission line from the Bruce area to the Greater Toronto Area."


First of all, that's what it says on the line?  That's the heading of the letter; would you agree with that?


MR. CHOW:  We would agree with that.


Milton is in the western part of the GTA.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, okay.  Are you saying there is nowhere in the prefiled material that the OPA has not expressed a need to get power to Toronto?


MR. CHOW:  There is need to get the Bruce Power on to the southern Ontario grid.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, you are saying that the statements -- that there are no statements that is made that is to get power to Toronto?  There is a need to get power to the Toronto area?


MR. CHOW:  To the Toronto area.  That's where the main grid is, and plus the fact 40 percent of the Ontario load resides in the GTA.


MR. FALLIS:  So are we not drawing a parallel that your object in building power is to -- the president of your company says, We have to get power from the Bruce to the Greater Toronto Area, and you are designing a line that goes there.  Are you saying -- you're saying now that that is not the case?  The western part of the GTA is where you are directing that PowerLine?


MR. CHOW:  No, Mr. Fallis.  I will say once again, the power is to be delivered to the grid, and the point of the grid in this particular case is at Milton.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Milton is part of the Bruce area?


MR. CHOW:  No.  Milton is part of the main grid.  It is situated on the western part of the GTA.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, let me just ask a couple of questions on that point.


When you deliver it to a transfer station at Milton, you're saying that first the existing line goes up in Bruce.  The next thing that happens, it ends in Milton, the very first line that was built in the late 1970s, and it goes from Bruce to Milton and there is no off ramps until you get to Milton.


Are you saying Milton at the transfer station is not part of the Bruce?


MR. CHOW:  I'm sorry, I still don't understand the context of the question.


MR. FALLIS:  Let me ask it this way.


You take a 230 line and you take it up at the Bruce, and first down comes on the old 230 line, dropped at Hanover?


MR. CHOW:  Right.


MR. FALLIS:  Then Hanover connects on to Orangeville?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  and Orangeville, then, sends -- it transfers it up line to Essa or down into the Kitchener and Guelph area, by a T there.


You have described yesterday that we have joined the Melancthon line into the Orangeville line six kilometres, I think you said, west of the transfer station.


You are now two transfer stations away from the Bruce. Orangeville is in the Bruce.  One transfer station away and the 500 is Milton, and it is not in the Bruce.


I have difficulty with your logic as to how it is in in one and out in the other.


MR. CHOW:  Well, Milton is not an isolated station.  Milton is very strongly connected of a grid that start at Nanticoke, goes to Hamilton, goes around to Mississauga, go up to the northern part of Toronto, go to eastern part of Toronto, go to Darlington, and then all the way out to Lennox station and Ottawa.  That's part of the major grid.  It's a very strong connection.


From there, there are major circuits going north to northern Ontario, and there is circuits from Nanticoke going west to London.  That is the nature of the main grid in Ontario.


So the place where we want to plug it into is, like, the major receptacle for this grid, and it could be connected into Hamilton station or it could be connected to a Toronto north station along that grid, but the most convenient place is at Milton, where it serves the rest of Ontario.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, then really what we've got, if I read you correctly, then, you've got a Bruce which is sending power to Milton?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  You've got Melancthon, which is going to send power, and it's going to the hub.  It has to get there, too.  So it is going to Milton; correct?


MR. CHOW:  No.


MR. FALLIS:  230?


MR. CHOW:  It goes to Orangeville.


MR. FALLIS:  It goes to Orangeville.  Where does Orangeville --


MR. CHOW:  It goes to Barrie on one side and go Kitchener on the other side.


MR. FALLIS:  Therefore, it goes to Barrie -- it is going down -- the power that flows is to Orangeville, and then upwards or downwards to Kitchener or to Barrie, is that correct, on the 230?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  I believe, as Mr. Falvo identified, the 230 kV is like the county roads where it serves the community that it is connected to those roads, where the 500 kV line is like a superhighway.


So you have county roads that -- you know, I don't know what the analogy this time is, but regional road where you have traffic going through, of which they drop off and serve the various communities.  You may not see any traffic come out at the end of the regional road, eventually, if everybody drops off.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, all you have used the regional road as an example, but there is a difference in this whole system, because you have got pressure flows.  You have got directions that the power travels in on the roads.  You don't have any -- you have freedom of traffic.


This one is direction one-way traffic, basically, down the 230 lines, down the 500 lines.  It is not necessarily to go back up to the other -- to --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, Mr. Fallis.  We have covered a lot of this ground before, I think, in understanding the grid and how it works.  I am not saying it is not relevant.  It is very relevant.  But I think you understand how it works, and I think we have covered it a lot.


MR. FALLIS:  All right.


MS. NOWINA:  And I am still trying to see the link between the conversation you just had with Mr. Chow and your exhibit about the Portlands Energy.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Let's go back.  The need for power into Toronto from the Bruce appears to be relieved by 500 megawatts by the establishment of the Portlands Energy Centre.  Would you agree?


MR. CHOW:  I don't agree.  I believe that the -- it is very difficult to isolate two developments on the system and say that somehow they are interrelated.


What we have here is that there is a plan, there's a policy, to shut down co-generation in Ontario by 2014.  That's close to 6,000 megawatts of coal-fired generation.


What is needed between now and allow the coal-fired generation to shut down, the development of other resources to replace it.


The development of the wind resources, gas resources, and the additional refurbishment at Bruce for the nuclear resources are all part of the overall picture to allow that policy to be implemented.


MR. FALLIS:  I am going to ask another question with respect to another facility.


I understand that there is a facility that is under construction and under application for construction, is at Halton Hills to build a generation station there.  What is the intended capacity of that station?  And that is before Milton.


MR. CHOW:  Sorry?


MR. FALLIS:  In megawatts, what will it produce when it's...?


MR. CHOW:  I don't remember off the top of my head.


MR. FALLIS:  Can anybody assist?


MR. SABISTON:  The Halton Hills GS is approximately 550 megawatts in size.


MR. FALLIS:  So -- and at present, Mr. Sabiston, with respect to its present state, when is it forecast to be in a position to deliver to the grid, and how would it deliver to the 230 or to the 500?


MR. SABISTON:  My recollection is that its connection date or its in-service date is during the summer of 2010.  And what was the second part of the question?


MR. FALLIS:  The question was, what does it connect to?  Does it connect to 230 or -- go to Milton to the 500, or does it go to the...


MR. SABISTON:  No.  The connection point of Halton Hills GS is a 230 kV line in Halton region, where it will be connected to the 230 kV Trafalgar transformer station.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  So it's for -- but that is serving the Greater Toronto Area?  Is that what that is?  The power is going to be now consumed in the GTA?


MR. SABISTON:  The power will enter the grid at the Trafalgar transformer station, where it will enter the grid and serve load throughout Ontario.


MR. FALLIS:  So that we've got two facilities that are being presently built that -- both -- one will be totally complete by 2009, the other by 2010, which will add in excess of -- well, if you add the two up, it's 1,100 megawatts to the grid system within two years; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  I would add, Mr. Fallis, that the shutdown of Lakeview station, which is over 2,000 megawatts, was done, I believe, two years ago.  And that is 2,000 megawatts as we move from the system.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, we are talking -- you don't like history, because we are reluctant to get back to it.  I am just talking about forecasts, sir.  And so we -- that's what you are aimed at, and forecast is that you are going to be bringing on 1,100 megawatts through two new generating plants.  They're gas plants, I believe, at Halton Hills and at -- at the Hearn, or what is now called Portlands.  That would be correct, would it, Mr. Sabiston?


MR. CHOW:  Again, I just want to make sure the picture is complete, in that there are generation being shut down because of the policy to remove coal-fired generation from the system.  The first of that was Lakeview station two years ago, and that was 2,000 megawatts removed from the system.


So part of the, let's say replacement of it, is coming from the two generating -- gas-fired generating stations that you have mentioned.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, if we want to go back to talk about shutdown, Units 1 -- Unit 2 was set -- Unit 2 was shut down in 1995 and Bruce 1 was shut down in 1997, so that you are bringing those units back to replace what was shut down in those two years.  Is that not correct?


MR. CHOW:  I can only repeat what I already said, Mr. Fallis.  There is a program to replace the coal-fired generation in Ontario.  So part of that --


MR. FALLIS:  I didn't ask you about coal-fired generation.  I asked you about replacement.


You are saying you are replacing Lakeview by another means.  All I'm saying is that with respect to the building of Bruce -- refurbishing of Bruce 1 and 2, you are refurbishing now what was previously shut down 12 years ago, and maybe 13 years ago and 11 years ago.  Same scenario.  It is just longer in replacing what was already there.  Correct?  Do you disagree?


MR. CHOW:  It's not that I am disagreeing.  There is a need to have additional generation on the system by 2014 to allow the coal unit at Lambton, Nanticoke -- Lakeview is already shut down -- to be replaced.


And part of the new resource are the gas generators, the wind generators, the hydroelectric generator, and the Bruce units.


MR. FALLIS:  I am going to ask a question with respect to --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, it is about time for our morning break.  Would this be an appropriate time to take it?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's take our break and resume at five minutes to 11:00.


--- Recess taken at 10:25 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:55 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Did any matters come up during the break?  Mr. Fallis, go ahead.


MR. FALLIS:  Mr. Chow, with respect to --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Turn your microphone on.


MR. FALLIS:  Oh, sorry.  Mr. Chow, with respect to wind power production, my understanding is that the -- first of all, that the wind power turbines would turn to a certain rotational speed and, if the wind is greater than that, that they have to be resisted to stop turning faster; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Can you repeat the question, please, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  My understanding is that the turbines on the wind generators, the wind will drive them, and that when they get to a certain speed, that they are feathered or slowed down so they won't turn beyond that speed; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Do you understand what that speed is, that rotational speed is?


MR. CHOW:  No, I don't.


MR. FALLIS:  Or the wind speed?


MR. CHOW:  No, I don't.


MR. FALLIS:  And that the nameplate given to the wind generators is at that cut-off point, my understanding is at 28 kilometres and hour, and if you had a 50-kilometre-an-hour wind, they would still turn at a maximum rotational speed of 28 kilometres an hour.  Do you have any information on that?


MR. CHOW:  I believe the nameplate rating is what the machine is capable of operating continuously.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, maybe Mr. Sabiston, from the generation point of view, although it is wind power, are you able to assist in an answer, sir?


MR. SABISTON:  I don't have expertise in that particular area.


MR. FALLIS:  I understand, also, that there has to be a minimum amount of wind to turn the wind turbines.  They don't turn -- before they will rotate on their own, there has to be 15 to 17 kilometres an hour of constant wind to allow them to rotate on their own.  Is that an understanding that either Mr. Chow or Mr. Sabiston has?


MR. FALVO:  I think that is correct, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  So when -- and the rotational speed to bring them up to that, all of the wind turbines actually have power assists to either slow them down at feathered speeds or electrical power to do that and electrical power to turn them to start them off; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  I am not sure if I am aware of consuming power to start them up.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, if wind doesn't do it, the only source of -- they're not gas or they're not oil driven.  They're electrically-driven generators.  Is electricity sold to the generators to function the turbines themselves?


MR. FALVO:  I am not aware of that.


MR. FALLIS:  You're not aware of that?


Would I be -- can I ask question just from a more layman's point of view?  As a person who often drives by the Melancthon farm on my route to Toronto, and, at night when I do that, there would be days when there is absolutely no wind at all, you know, a crystal clear morning, smoke is going straight up, and some turbines are turning at accelerated rates, some are stopped and some are starting up.


When there is no apparent wind, would I be correct in assuming that the winds that are turning are turning with power assists by electrical generation?


MR. FALVO:  As I said, I am not aware of that.  They're designed to capture the wind.  They haven't been placed there to consume electricity.  They have been there mainly to generate --


MR. FALLIS:  Let me put it to you that the standard rate -- standard offer contract is 11 cents paid for generation for each unit -- measured unit that 11 cents represents.  I am not exactly sure.  I think, Mr. Sabiston, you referred to that the other day when you were asked questions in Orangeville; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  I do not recall referring to the 11 cents per kilowatt-hour for the standard offer.


MR. FALLIS:  What is your understanding of the standard offer contract?  Does anybody on the panel know what the standard offer contract rate is for --


MR. CHOW:  If I could help, I believe it is 11 cents per kilowatt-hour.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  Do you know what the rate is for any power that the generator has to pay for consumption that it is charged to the generator for power that is used inside the facility?  Would it be a commercial rate?  Does anybody on the panel know that?


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, I think we covered this with Mr. Ross.  He indicated that there may be some entrepreneurial opportunity available, in his mind, for a generator to buy power for less than --


MR. FALLIS:  Hydro One is the one that actually sells the power, I believe.  I don't need to slow it down, but could that figure just be provided?  Could you undertake to provide that figure, what you would charge, let's say, the Melancthon farm?  That would be a helpful figure.  I don't mean to slow the process down.  It can be provided.


MS. NOWINA:  For what purpose, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I am just -- because of the fact that the -- it would appear that wind generation is happening at very low speeds at the expense of the ratepayers of Ontario, at very slow speeds.  They're still producing power, but paying much less to get it in.  It is being generated by electricity, not generated by wind.


MS. NOWINA:  How are you going to establish that premise?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, we understand that the blades will not -- they need 15 to 17 miles an hour to rotate on their own.  They don't rotate at one mile or two miles an hour.  So when they do rotate at lesser speeds, they are being power assisted to do that.


I want to know the rate, so that it allows us to understand, in a cost point of view, how the ratepayers are being in fact --


MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment, please.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  I have a number of concerns about your questioning, Mr. Fallis.


One is that you are talking about the commodity cost of electricity, and, of course, as customers on the grid, they would be paying for transmission costs and distribution costs, if they're on a distribution network.


So that would be in addition to whatever their costs are.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  So the total costs, I suppose, would be the relevant number.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  The other thing is that I haven't heard your premise established that the generators are running on electrical power for any material amount of time.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I am putting it to the Board that it is.  These gentlemen don't seem to be able to answer that question.


MS. NOWINA:  That's right.  They don't seem to be able to answer the question.


MR. FALLIS:  I asked the question, and they don't have the answer.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So given that, it is hard to understand the weight of the evidence.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, it allows me to call somebody who can indicate what it is.  If I got the answer, I wouldn't have to do that.  It appears I now may have to do that.


MS. NOWINA:  You're going to make a call to establish that?


MR. FALLIS:  No.  I may have to call a witness who can establish what that is.  I thought I could get the answer.  I can't.  I asked what the rate that the Melancthon farm would have to pay for the power coming in, to see if there is that generation possibility.


That is all I asked for, Can they give me the rate?  If they can, fine.  If they can't, they can't.  But I would think that they were the one that received the money and I would think they would be able to do it.


MS. NOWINA:  There is no problem getting the rate and we can ask them to do that.  I am not clear on how that would be useful to us.


However, I think it is a simple undertaking and it probably won't be one particular rate, perhaps --


MR. FALLIS:  It may not be.  I don't know.


MS. NOWINA:  -- one example of a rate for a wind farm, which would include transmission and distribution, if applicable.  Could Hydro One undertake to provide that rate?


MR. SKALSKI:  Madam Chair, if I could assist, there was an interrogatory by Mr. Fallis which touches on this matter.  It's interrogatory 107.


MS. NOWINA:  What's the full reference, Mr. Skalski?


MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, Exhibit E --


MR. FALLIS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, could I borrow your kleenex?


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's why I bring it.  It's for everybody.


MR. SKALSKI:  Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 107.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Skalski.


MR. FALLIS:  The question on the --


MR. SKALSKI:  Excuse me, Mr. Fallis.  It is part E, Madam Chair.  It is Interrogatory 107, part E.  And the question is:

"What is the net generation capacity of the Melancthon II wind project after deducting the power consumed by the same wind farm over the same reporting period?"


The response is:

"First, as noted earlier, Melancthon II is not commercially operational."


But then to the point:

"Metering is done at each delivery point and is therefore net of any power consumed for station service."


MS. NOWINA:  Oh.


MR. FALLIS:  I am not asking for the amount.  I am just asking for the rate.  That is all I am asking for.  It may be metered separately to each, but I am just asking for a rate.  That is different from...


MR. SKALSKI:  Excuse me --


MS. NOWINA:  If metering is net, then I assume that they are not paying a rate, if there's power produced, if they're generating.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, they have to deduct -- to get the net, they have to deduct from the gross cost to get a net.  And I can't see how that is such a difficult arithmetic process.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I am following into the trap of being a witness myself.  Perhaps the witnesses can explain the interrogatory response for us in more detail.


MR. SKALSKI:  Madam Chair, my understanding is as you've put it, that the metering and, therefore, the billing is done on a net basis after the consumption of station service, the power required for station service.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, do you have a response to that?  Does that answer your question?


MR. FALLIS:  It doesn't answer my question at all, to be honest.  But I...


MS. NOWINA:  So in what circumstances do you think that the wind generators would be paying for electricity commodity?


MR. FALLIS:  They would be paid for electricity commodity in -- from zero wind to where it would naturally -- turbines would turn on themselves, and they're also paid for from the feathering point of view, when the rotational speed is turned down to the maximum speed they're allowed to rotate at, which my understanding is 28 kilometres an hour, and that if the winds were 60 kilometres an hour, they would be of -- I don't know if there would be damage to the turbines or it would produce more power that the system couldn't take.  I understand there is a cap on it, and I've been told that, and I'm just -- my opportunity to ask the questions.  They were asked in the interrogatories but didn't get answered.


MS. NOWINA:  Witness panel, can you give me any assistance on, if the metering is done on a net basis, what possibility there is or in what circumstances -- under what circumstances would the wind generator, as a customer, be paying for power, as opposed to receiving a payment for power?


MR. SKALSKI:  I can't think of a circumstance, Madam Chair.  Typically, billing is done, I believe, on a monthly basis.  And therefore, you would expect that the wind production would exceed consumption over a given month, and therefore it would never arise in relation, where the generator would pay for the power consumed.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, that's fine, but it's creative accounting.  I think it's just, it's simple.  You know, you get 11 cents going one way, you don't get 11 cents, because they deduct something off.  It makes a difference.  What's the difference and why?  That's all I'm asking.  If the Board says "no", then I will move on with it.  I thought it was a fair question, but it has been camouflaged in nets and stuff, and I can't seem to extract a very simple answer from a quite simple --


MR. FALVO:  I agree with Mr. Skalski that the net metering is done on a monthly basis, which means there is some -- sometimes there is consumption.  Sometimes there is a generation.  It is the net of those two that is paid when there is a surplus that is generated.


MR. SKALSKI:  If I could just close the loop.  The 11 cents is applied on the net, if that helps Mr. Fallis.


MS. NOWINA:  I am going to allow the undertaking, if Hydro One will take it, because I want Mr. Fallis to have an opportunity to make his argument, assuming that there is an argument to be made.  But it is not clear right now.


MR. MILLAR:  It is Undertaking J5.1, Madam Chair.  And there has been a lot of talk back and forth.  Maybe we could clearly describe what the undertaking is.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  The undertaking is to attempt to provide an understanding of what the charge is to the generator for power consumed at the turbine, be it one or multiples of one, and when the standard rate contract is 11 cents on the other side.  I am just trying to understand what the charge is --


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair?


MR. FALLIS:  -- to the operator.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am equally confused as to what it is exactly my witnesses are being asked to do.


The testimony I just heard from Mr. Skalski is that the energy that is produced is netted off the energy that is consumed, and that difference is then multiplied by the 11 cents.


So I am not sure what more Mr. Fallis is seeking, in terms of a hidden number, because the netting is done at an energy basis.


[Board Panel confers]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps just to break this up into two parts, I could just ask a hypothetical.  And I am not sure if it will assist Mr. Fallis or not in what he is potentially trying to establish.


But if, for whatever reason, a wind farm, one generator sat idle for a month beyond a building period for whatever reason, and there was work going on at that site, there is no netting going on, the energy flow would be one way.  A bill would be produced.  And what would the volumetric charge be for that energy?


MR. SKALSKI:  I am not aware of that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. FALLIS:  That's the undertaking.


MR. NETTLETON:  So, Mr. Quesnelle, just to be clear.  So if there was a zero consumption, what would be the --


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, no.  If there is no on-site production of electricity, and it expands beyond a building period, what is the bill going to be to the generator?  What volumetric charge would be on those units?


MR. NETTLETON:  So no generation --


MR. QUESNELLE:  But consumption.


MR. NETTLETON:  -- but consumption.


MS. NOWINA:  But some consumption.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  And so no generation and no -- we're not looking at the zero-zero case.  We are looking at the zero-negative case?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  Thank you, that's helpful.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that clear, witness panel?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, it is.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  I will take that.  That will be fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


Do we have an undertaking number, Mr. Millar?  Or did you already give us that?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I did.  It is J5.1, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J5.1:  WITNESS PANEL 1 TO ATTEMPT TO PROVIDE AN UNDERSTANDING OF WHAT THE CHARGE IS TO THE GENERATOR FOR POWER CONSUMED AT THE TURBINE, BE IT ONE OR MULTIPLES OF ONE, AND WHEN THE STANDARD RATE CONTRACT IS 11 CENTS ON THE OTHER SIDE.


MR. FALLIS:  A question on -- probably Mr. Falvo.  We're in a -- I am going to give a hypothetical.  We're in a modestly warm summer day.  There is -- the demand has been set in the market of what the predicted need to be.  And you are making that need to all your generation facilities across the province.  And you have in place all your wind power.


I am not asking -- let's say the wind power at present.  And we're talking this is summer, so we haven't got the new line up.  And all of a sudden there is a sudden wind that comes up, and it lasts for four hours, and it basically -- your need is being met with your existing generators, and you don't need the wind power, but it is there.  It comes.  It starts, and it happens, and it joins the system, and your system can take it.


But where do you put it, because -- do you blow off something else to accept that?  Or is it rejected?  How do you deal with the uncertainty of wind in the system when that happens?


MR. FALVO:  Well, what would happen there is that, provided there are no reliability restrictions, what would happen is that the most expensive resource that is able to back down would be sent to dispatch instruction to back down until there is a balance.  Knowing how many wind farms are operational at any one time would dictate how much of that balancing capability would be available to be dispatched.


MR. FALLIS:  And would nuclear be dispatched or would -- all of your costs are from place and borne.  Is that an expensive thing to dispatch, or do you slow it down or which one do you go to first?


MR. FALVO:  No, as I said, it would be based on the offers that are -- we're sent offers on an hourly basis for fee for the current and future hour.  So the economic dispatch would be determined on the basis of the most expensive resources.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, with wind, you might be silent now and all of a sudden a blow hits of it's there.  An hour later, you're into your problem.  What do you do?  Do you not receive the wind, or do you receive the wind and

hope --


MR. FALVO:  As I said, if the reliability can be managed, then the dispatch instruction would be sent to the most expensive resort -- the most expensive resource to dispatch down so that we achieve a balance, again.


MR. FALLIS:  So the expensive resource would be contract measured, not facility -- is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  It would be something that is submitted, a bid or offer.


MR. FALLIS:  A bid or offer.  So that is what you're talking about.  It could be hydro, it could be gas, it could be nuclear generated, whatever it happens to be?


MR. FALVO:  Whatever the offers happen to be at that time.


MR. FALLIS:  One of the things I noticed in the study here, there is -- I know it's not a big one, but it is there.  There is a hydro generation plant that is inside the new definition of Bruce, which doesn't even show up in any of your documents here, is at Eugenia, and yet that factors into the -- it is a generator.  It is pushing power out.  It isn't part of your numbers at all.


You don't show that as a generation source.  Why not?


MR. FALVO:  It is in the model.  It is embedded in the small details of the model.  It's not shown on the big pictures, but it is -- if I recall correctly, it is connected into the -- I think it is the distribution system.


So it would be netting out with the consumption at one of the --


MR. FALLIS:  Well, the distribution system is 230 or less, is that...


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. SABISTON:  The distribution system is generally the 44 kV system or the 27.6 kV system.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, just as an example, when the power leaves Melancthon and goes to the 230 system, what system is it going out on?  What PowerLine is it -- do you get it to the 230 at Orangeville?


MR. SABISTON:  The Melancthon I wind farm is connected to circuit B5V, and the Melancthon II wind farm will be connected to both of B5V and B4V.


MR. FALLIS:  I don't care about the numbers.  I am just asking about the power.


MR. SABISTON:  The transmission circuit that goes from Orangeville to Hanover.


MR. FALLIS:  That's a 230.  We know that.  I am saying, to get from the Melancthon to the transfer point on to the 230, what is the size of the line in terms of power, 118, 67?  What is it?


MR. SABISTON:  The Melancthon wind farm owns a distribution system connecting a -- consisting of 34.5 kV distribution lines.


MR. FALLIS:  So 34.5.  Is it more than one or just one line?


MR. SABISTON:  I believe that the Melancthon wind farm owns three such feeders.


MR. FALLIS:  Times three, okay.  All right.


Will that be enough then to service the additional power that's going to be put on the other 120 turbines?  Will that require yet more...


MR. SABISTON:  The Melancthon wind farm is staying at the three feeders for the full I and II.


MR. FALLIS:  I see, okay.  Are those three feeders in place to receive the second phase when it comes in?


MR. SABISTON:  They're in place.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay, thank you.  Now, on your -- on the outlook that the IESO put out -- and I don't know the exhibit number, but I think I have my copy.  It's the ten-year outlook which we referred to in the document before.  There was a map --


MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, Mr. Fallis.  Is that the 2007 outlook?


MR. FALLIS:  It is the one presented in 2000 -- for January -- ten-year outlook, 2006 to 2015.


MR. SKALSKI:  That's the outlook that was filed in the response to Mr. Pappas's Interrogatory No. 1, Exhibit C, tab 4, schedule 1, I believe.


MR. FALLIS:  In that document at page 44, if we can look at page 44, there is a map on the bottom, if you can call that up on the screen.


That map has a series of flow arrows on it, which is produced by the OPA, power flow in the southwestern Ontario and GTA.  And it appears to show two generating stations in Sarnia area and three generating stations in the Windsor area, and a flow line -- other than from local consumption, a flow line of surplus that goes to -- which appears to be the line that would flow to -- probably to Middleport, and then from Longwood to Middleport.  And also the one that goes from Sarnia would appear to go to Longwood.


Would I be correct in my assumption, sir, with respect to the directions of the arrows there?


MR. FALVO:  Generally, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  So everything -- the flow -- seems to be that all of these flows seem to, one way or another, wend themselves to the GTA as a dominant consumption area.  It flows -- from the Bruce, it goes to Milton.  From the Bruce going down to 500 kV to Longwood, it seems to go to Nanticoke and back up to Milton.


Everything seems to come back in that way; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  This is just an illustration, Mr. Fallis.  It is our report.  It is our diagram.


It is there to depict the importance of Nanticoke in controlling voltage, and it is there to show that in situations when the power is flowing in the directions of the arrows, Nanticoke plays an important role in controlling voltage, and parts of this outlook were intended to describe why it is necessary to replace that capability as part of the overall off-coal plan.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  You have described in your

report -- I am not going to go into it, other than the fact that you have a -- it was gone into by others.  You have a system that you intend to put into Nanticoke that will substitute for the going off coal to create reactive power so that it won't negatively influence the Bruce; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  And the -- when you put that system in, is Nanticoke generating power to do that?  I guess there is something that is coming out of Nanticoke; is that correct?  You are putting systems in place, but there is a generation that is still going on there?


MR. FALVO:  At the time, one of the options was to essentially disconnect two of the units so that they could no longer generate by burning coal and would just simply be using the generator capability to inject current out of phase from the voltage, and that helps control the voltage on the system.


MR. FALLIS:  I see.  But you have to do that to allow the Bruce to function right, because it says in your report that it would inhibit the refurbishment, generation from the refurbishments at 1 and 2 if you do not do that; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  That was the option that was understood at the time of the 2005 report.


MR. FALLIS:  Is there any reason why that same option isn't there now, other than by building this line?


MR. FALVO:  No.  This wasn't to replace the line.  This was simply to supplement the voltage control that's needed in the interim.


MR. FALLIS:  In your report that you did in that -- on page 27 of that report, if you would go back, you did say that if you did those -- made those -- took those steps, and I am reading from the -- about two-thirds of the way down the page, that you did some load flow studies.


Wait until it comes up on the screen.  Just a little further down on the page.  That's fine.


In the middle -- in the first whole paragraph is on the screen right now, it says, with respect to the assessment:

"A number of low-flow studies with additional generating capacity included in arbitrary locations have been completed.  These have shown that the series capacitors, together with new shunt capacitors at Middleport TS and some units at the Nanticoke GS, converted the synchronous condenser operation, should be sufficient to enhance the transfer capability of the existing transmission facilities to allow Units 1 and 2 at Bruce A TS to be incorporated without the need for any new transmission line."


That's a statement that you made effective for the period on August the 15th, 2005 for the ten-year period forward to 2016 from January 2006; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  2005 -- the first sentence of that paragraph said "the IESO has yet to perform its full assessment of the impact".  And so we said a preliminary analysis gave us an indication that the plan as we knew it at the time might be sufficient.


Remember, this is just saying two units.  It didn't have the committed wind from the RFPs of renewables 1 and 2.  Those came later, right?


And our subsequent outlook that is filed in the evidence doesn't include that as a -- doesn't state that as the plan to meet the present forecast need.


MR. FALLIS:  Wind being the predominant difference; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes, that's one of the differences.


MR. FALLIS:  And did that plan that you did contemplate the 550-megawatt Portlands facility at Toronto, the 550 at Halton Hills, and did it contemplate the power that's at Eugenia?


MR. FALVO:  I believe the -- part of this plan also talked about having sufficient voltage control, including some resources in the Toronto area to supplement that voltage control.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, just one question here, and I am going ahead here.  Is there -- and I don't know the answer to this, and they always -- should know the answer before you ask the question, but is there -- there was at one time a facility in Blue Mountain to store power, which was in peak periods, and in off periods it was pushed up the hill, and in peak periods the water was released as hydro facility.  Is that still in place?  Do you still operate that?


MR. FALVO:  I am not aware of that.


MR. FALLIS:  Mr. Chow, do you know?


MR. CHOW:  There was, but that has not been looked at for quite a long time.


MR. FALLIS:  I see.  Okay.  I won't go on with that any more.


With respect to the wind -- I will say Kingsbridge and Melancthon -- is it not a reason why those -- the lines could be not taken through the distribution network without going to 230, that could be -- would be used more locally and more regional settings without having to get into the 230 network?


MR. SABISTON:  The Melancthon wind farm is too large to fit on the distribution system in that area.  That is, if you were to try to connect them on to the distribution network, there would not be enough capacity to take that power.


MR. FALLIS:  Could you have joined that, the Melancthon, into the line going from the Orangeville transformer station to Essa, as an example, without having to come into the 230 -- the distance wouldn't be any different?  Could that have been a...?


MR. SABISTON:  When the Melancthon -- okay.  In theory, yes.  When the Melancthon wind farm chose to connect, they chose a connection station to locate their connection station at a spot that made economic sense for them.


Hypothetically, had they chose to build the connection station east of Orangeville -- that is, to connect it to the Essa line -- they would have had to construct a lot -- a significantly larger infrastructure themselves, and they would have had to pay for that significantly larger infrastructure, and that may have made -- this is again my hypothesis -- that may have made the Melancthon wind farm uneconomic to build such a huge infrastructure when in fact it was not needed.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, if the infrastructure is -- a new line is created and the distance is the same, how does it become more expensive?


MR. SABISTON:  The generation proponent is required to pay for any and all infrastructure required for them to connect.  They were able -- their wind farm is located near the town of Shelburne.  Their connection point to the transmission circuits, west of Orangeville, is due south of Shelburne.  And so that is the shortest distance.


Had they wanted to connect east of Orangeville, they would have had to build much longer distribution lines.  And hence it would have cost the proponent significantly more money, and it could have made their project uneconomic.


MR. FALLIS:  Just one other follow-up question, and that is that, did you have -- because it was going to come into your Bruce area now, and it impacted -- it impacts upon your ability -- supposedly impacts upon your ability to transmit, creates more congestion, would there have been less congestion if it were gone to the Essa line, and wouldn't have impacted on the Bruce area.  Would that be a fair statement?


MR. SABISTON:  That's a hypothesis.  The IESO was asked by the Canadian hydro developers to conduct the system impact assessment on connecting at the spot they chose to connect, and the IESO concluded in their connection impact -- system impact assessment that there was no negative impact in reliability of connecting there.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, it wasn't a question of being reliable.  It was a question on, if you were bringing locked-in energy at the Bruce, if you joined somewhere else and you didn't have locked-in energy, there was 200 megawatts that could have got on to the system without impacting negatively upon locked-in energy concerns at the Bruce.  Would you agree with that?


MR. SABISTON:  No, I do not agree with that, because that's a hypothetical question.  In fact, their connection application was to connect at the point they chose to connect.  They never submitted a connection application to submit east of Orangeville, and hence we cannot -- it was never compared whether a connection east or west of Orangeville would be more beneficial to the system.


MR. FALLIS:  Would that be the province of the OPA to look at that?  Would that be what they would do?  Or would that be the IESO?


MR. FALVO:  At the time I believe they were part of an RFP that was being -- I can't recall whether -- I think that was still under the Ministry, that RFP.  They made a proposal, and their proposal was one of the --


MR. FALLIS:  We can look at it two ways.  Either it was looked at -- it wasn't looked at the point of view of the Bruce -- trying to preserve the Bruce for the power it's produced.  It doesn't appear to have been looked at that way.  But it seems to me now that it is used for this justification for building a 230 line that might have been avoided if that consideration had been given.  Is that -- would those be the two alternatives that one might look at?


MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, we don't understand.  Mr. Fallis, you said to build a 230 kV line --


MR. FALLIS:  No, no.  To join the 230 -- to build the 200-megawatt facility at Melancthon.  If you had evacuated the power to the other 230 line, and had no impact on the Bruce, you would preserve the Bruce for -- wouldn't lock in energy -- that's your thinking, it is going to be locked there now, and that is your reason for building the line.  That is the one side.


But if you are using it to justify the -- you are now locking in power and using that to justify the need for a $635-million expenditure on the ratepayers, because you have hooked into -- hooked it into the Bruce grid, if you will, you know, you're either doing it one way or the other.  Which is it?


MR. FALVO:  The need is based on the total forecast that includes many aspects going forward.  Those wind farms were selected as part of an RFP that was conducted, I think, in late 2005 or early 2006.  And again, they were all part of attempting to achieve the off-coal program.


MR. FALLIS:  Just a last point on -- in this area.  It seems that the big thing in this area is -- from your perspective, seems to be Milton.  It is where the power is going to be received to be moved into the Toronto area.


You have nameplated this area as the Bruce.  But there are many different generators.  You have got wind generators in Dufferin County.  You have got wind generators in Huron County.  You have got wind generators in Bruce County.  You've got coal-fired -- you know, you've got gas plant in Lambton that has surplus.  You have the same thing in Windsor.


It seems to me that everything is coming back to Milton to get into Toronto.  I mean, what is the -- it seems to me we're nameplating this as the Bruce, when really it is the receiving area to distribute it into bulk areas of Toronto.  Milton seems to be very important in this process; would you agree?


MR. FALVO:  Perhaps naming could be more precise, but the idea, the way systems operate in wind, the way Mr. Chow has described it, the strongest part of the grid is that part that forms essentially a semicircle around the Toronto area.  That is where most of the consumption is in Ontario.


When there is a plan to develop a significant block of new generation, the Bruce refurbishment, as well as the extra wind, that has to be connected into a very strong part of the grid.  It couldn't be connected into a very weak part.  It would be like ending a superhighway in the middle of nowhere.


So it has to be connected into a very strong part of the grid.


MR. FALLIS:  Is your $635 million expenditure contemplating all of the upgrades that are necessary to receive this additional 3,100 megawatts of power potentially at Milton?  Does it include all of the work that has to be done to receive and transmit the power beyond there?


Is there a cost part of that proposal that is in that, in the $635 million?


MR. SABISTON:  The project, the $635 million project, as it is currently envisaged, includes all of the upgrades required at Milton and Bruce A, Bruce B.


MR. FALLIS:  All right.


Now, with respect to the report that you have submitted that Hydro One has put in their prefiled evidence, you have a section called "Transmission Alternatives".


MS. NOWINA:  Can we have a reference, Mr. Fallis, please?  Where do we find that in the evidence?


MR. FALLIS:  Oh, give me a minute.  Just bear with me.  It is in tab B -- oh, no, Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. FALLIS:  My understanding from the evidence is that the OPA is required to do the independent planning for the transmission, that that's what the mandate was.  We reviewed that this morning, when we looked at the act, that you were to do the independent planning.


Would I be correct -- I will ask this of Mr. Chow.  With respect to the independent planning that would go on, would that be the role of the OPA, just to keep on top of all of the new technologies that are in the electrical generation and transmission industry worldwide?


Would you be on top of that?  Would that be a mandate that you would have to look at different technologies?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  And in the course of doing that, would your OPA participate in workshops that may be put on by NERC or by NPCC, or any other groupings of industry, to compare with the electrical transmission and generation of Ontario?  Would you participate in workshops or forums to talk about technologies?


MR. CHOW:  Yes, among other things.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  In the three years that the OPA has been in existence, what would be the frequency of interfacing with such groups and such organizations for planning and technical studies of new technologies?


MR. CHOW:  Again, I mean, this is an ongoing exercise.  But one example would be, in the development of the supply mix directive to the Minister, there is substantial amount of stakeholdering of the --


MR. FALLIS:  Sorry?


MR. CHOW:  Stakeholdering.  Consultation with stakeholders.


MR. FALLIS:  Oh, stakeholders.  I'm sorry.


MR. CHOW:  Stakeholders.  It could be in respect to solar power.  It could be in respect to wind power.  So the input is sought.


In terms of keeping up with technology, we have presentation from ABB, a manufacturer of such, come in and talk to us.  So it is an ongoing exercise.


It is not necessarily the number of conferences, but it's just a continuous contact with people in the industry.


MR. FALLIS:  Sir, with respect to the alternatives that are in the -- that have been filed by Hydro One, I take it that you -- the evidence suggests that you have been involved in the development of those alternatives; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  You work with them in the development of alternatives?


MR. CHOW:  We in the OPA would look at a reasonable set of options that could be used to meet the need.


MR. FALLIS:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. CHOW:  That, I believe, is covered in the discussion paper, transmission discussion paper, for this aspect with the Bruce.


MR. FALLIS:  Just a moment.  With respect, sir, if we can just move on on that same alternative, my review of the alternatives that have been considered here, if we could scan down into the next couple of pages -- I guess on page 3 of 6, there is -- one of the things is a section called "Other Alternatives Considered".  And the alternatives that are considered are on pages 4 of 6, 5 of 6 and 6 of 6.


Looking at that, it would appear that the alternatives that were considered, of the alternatives, alternative number 1 was a routing alternative from Bruce to Essa.  Alternative number 2 was a routing alternative from Bruce to Kleinburg.  Alternative number 3 was a routing alternative from Bruce to Guelph, and then to Middleport.


Alternative 4 was a routing alternative to go from Bruce to Longwood, Longwood to Middleport.  And that alternative 5 was the only one that had any technological adjustment to it.  It was a one that proposed as a consideration a high voltage direct current line from Bruce to Milton.


That was the only alternative that was contemplated in your -- in the filed material; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Those are the alternatives that we carried forth into the screening exercise.


As you know, in the discussion paper we have looked at other options for the purpose of their use as near-term measures or interim measures.


For example, the need for reactive support in the Nanticoke area was identified, and the option there was to provide static and dynamic reactive sources.  And the dynamic part is a static VAR compensator, which is appropriate use for that particular need.


In terms of using as an interim measures, series capacitor has been identified as the technology that can be used for that particular application.  So there is a number of other options.


What we are looking at here is a set of options that could potentially meet the need that is being considered in the screening part of the selection of the alternatives.


MR. FALLIS:  But it wasn't important enough to put in the filed plan to show that you looked at that?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, I think we covered this ground with other cross-examiners.


MR. FALLIS:  I will go back one, and I am going to ask this of the Hydro One, and it's because of the fact that it is in the first alternative from Bruce to Essa.  I am going to ask it of Mr. Schneider, because he indicated in his evidence last Friday that he was involved in route selection.


And I take it, then, he indicated that you did -- and I know I will have questions directly on other routes.  I only want to deal with this one.  We may get into the land part of it, Mr. Schneider.


But on the one to Essa, you have looked at that as an alternative.  And I think you indicated that the one when you were coming, the preferred one that you are proposing and that you did some aerial photographs and analysed them and brought the -- and looked at aerial photos to determine the routing.  I think you mentioned that the other day; is that correct?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I recall that conversation.  It was in the context of siting the line from Bruce to Milton on a particular side of the corridor.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  And I believe what I said was that we had placed it on the north side of the corridor coming out of the Bruce, and turning down Orangeville to Milton on the east side of the corridor for primarily technical and economic reasons.  And I believe what you're referring to is a statement I'd made about, from an environmental perspective, which would have been handled and it will be handled in the environmental assessment, we had taken a look at overhead photographs of the Bruce-to-Milton route to see if anything from an environmental perspective came out at us, in terms of looking at those photos, that would suggest the north and east side was not an appropriate location for the proposed route.


MR. FALLIS:  I am going to your section on the environmental -- or on section 1, the first Bruce-to-Essa line.  That one was eliminated, because you indicated it would provide only 7,300 megawatts of transfer capability, which is about a thousand megawatts less than the 8,300 that would be available.


Was that section authored by you?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  It was written under my direction, if that's what you're getting at.


MR. FALLIS:  So what you put down there is, you have approved the writing and everything of it?  That's your --your team has authored that if it wasn't strictly you?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, Mr. Fallis, this material was worked on collectively by the group.


MR. FALLIS:  What I am curious is that, you know, it would seem to be a fairly hasty document, and I realize that there was an indication that it started before, but there is no mention in any of this document about the Niagara Escarpment Commission.


You may think that is an EA process, and maybe it is, but I provided to you and to the counsel and to the Board a decision of the Consolidated Hearings Act application that was made to the joint board, for the proposed transmission plan of Ontario Hydro for southwestern Ontario, which was heard on February -- rendered a decision on February the 27th, 1987 under an application before that Board, CH-8503, about '85.  And if it could be given an exhibit number -- it is just an extract from it.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. MILLAR:  We do have copies, Madam Chair, and that will be Exhibit K5.2.  It is the decision of the Consolidated Hearing Board, dated February 20th, 1987.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.2:  DECISION OF THE CONSOLIDATED HEARING BOARD, DATED FEBRUARY 20TH, 1987.


MR. FALLIS:  And I can indicate that the whole decision that has been filed with the Board, it's there.  It is available to everybody.  But the extract is the important part.


And it is -- it was an application that was made by Ontario Hydro for -- to approve -- to select a line, and there were a number of alternatives that were put out.  You here have had, in this one, five routing alternatives, one of which you selected.


This was a decision that involved, amongst other things, I believe, the Longwood line.  There were other lines that were there.


The Board had occasion to analyze the effect of the lines across -- over the Niagara escarpment from Bruce to Essa.  This line, I would point out, crosses over the Niagara escarpment at a much lower location, but in effect, the Board -- and I would read from page 85 of the -- excuse me, 84.  It says the Bruce-to-Essa line is -- and I'm -- from the middle of the page:

"The Bruce-to-Essa line is a utility which would cross 1.5 kilometres of what is called Escarpment Natural Area, as well as escarpment protection and escarpment rural areas, all of which are designations under the Niagara Escarpment Plan.  The Escarpment Natural Area is the highest designation, and even though utilities are a permitted use in all designated areas, in the case of Escarpment Natural Area designation, only 'essential' facilities are permitted.  'Essential' is defined by the plan to mean 'that which is deemed necessary to the public interest after all alternatives have been considered'.  Mr. Carson for the NEC argues that the Bruce-to-Essa line is not an essential utility, in the sense that it is not necessary to the public interest, because Ontario Hydro has declared that Plan 1 without such a line is acceptable..."


That's another alternative:

"...on the basis of the dictionary definition of 'necessary'..."


And again, they...:

"Indispensable requisite and unavoidable -- again, the same argument can be applied.  The word 'reasonably' to the word -- modify 'necessary' -- has not been inserted to modify 'necessary', and so the word 'necessary' stands unqualified.  For the reasons stated, the joint board agrees that the Bruce-to-Essa line is not an essential utility as designed by the Niagara Escarpment Plan."


And continuing down the -- it finds -- it accepts another alternative as being acceptable.


I would suggest that that alternative is -- and that the decision there, which is very applicable to this case, because you are crossing again natural escarpment area, that before you would bring this application forward, that you would want to know with certainty that you could cross the line.  And that -- I don't think you know with certainty that you can cross the line.


If you can't, then are we not in a situation where this whole process could be put into jeopardy for a year later after the application is made?


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Fallis, what is the question, exactly?  You have given a very lengthy speech about --


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  The question is:  Why was this not looked at before you brought this application?  Because it is so fundamental to this application, whether or not you can cross the Niagara Escarpment with this line.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I think we have been quite clear from the beginning, when we filed this application with the Energy Board, that we were going to be conducting this process -- we expected this process to be conducted in parallel with the environmental-assessment process for the line.


The issue you have raised is an important issue.  The issue with the Niagara Escarpment Commission is important.  We know that, and we have been working with representatives of the Commission on the other process, in the EA process, to deal with any issues that may arise there.


We have also said that -- and I think we have acknowledged that any decision from this Board would more than likely be conditional upon approval under the Environmental Assessment Act.


So if changes arise in that process, I believe we would be reporting to this Board rather promptly about those issues as they have arisen.


But I can say, to date, we have worked quite effectively and cooperatively with representatives from the Niagara Escarpment Commission, and although, you know, you're referring to a document -- I am not sure of the year -- 1987 -- I can't comment on whether the statements and the conditions in this document -- how relevant they are to what we're doing now with this project with respect to the Niagara Escarpment Commission.  But I can assure you we are working with them as part of the EA process.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I'm not saying that you're not.  I'm just saying it would be better to know if it's an absolute -- if you can't cross, it would have been better to know this at the beginning rather than a year down the line.


MS. NOWINA:  I think we have covered this ground previously with this Board.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Thank you.  No more questions on that point.


In the -- your study, Mr. Chow, with the alternatives, did the OPA ever study the ACCR technology?  Did you as an organization receive it, understand it, and look at that as an alternative to the proposal, as an alternative to the proposal that is before us today


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, I believe we spent, it seems certainly to me, like hours on the ACCR technology previously.


MR. FALLIS:  I haven't asked any questions on it.  I just asked the question about the OPA, if it spent it.  I am not asking -- I am just asking because it is an alternative, that's all.  I'm not going into the merits of it.  I just want to know if they studied it.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Very briefly.  I am surprised if that question wasn't already answered, but if it is brief, you can ask it again.


MR. CHOW:  Can you repeat the question, please?


MR. FALLIS:  The question was:  Did the OPA study -- do an independent planning study of the technology known as ACCR for the conductor technology which we have talked about earlier in this hearing?


MR. CHOW:  We didn't study it.  We know about the potential for such a conductor.  In fact, the representative of 3M presented to me in Calgary when I was in Calgary.  I was here in Toronto.  They presented the same information to me.


As I remember it, in most of the meeting, the issue is cost.  It is a very expensive conductor.


My understanding from 3M, when I had the presentation with them, is that its application is very unique in nature.  For example, it is a short span, and their example was over a river, it would be difficult to put in heavy conductors, so you pay for the costs and use it for such a river crossing on a long span.


I think we are continuously looking for opportunity to use it.  I think a lot of the opportunity that we feel this conductor could be of use is in urban settings where it is very difficult to widen or even changing the tower structures.


In fact, one of the projects that we identified in the IPSP for the Windsor area, this considered a potential use of this as a solution, because it is just very difficult to expand that transmission line down there.


So this is the aspect that we keep on top of technology.  But we also need to know the application of each of the technologies.  And in this case, to my belief, this is not a suitable option for the reinforcement of the Bruce system, increase the capacity from 5,000 megawatts to 8,100 megawatts.


MR. FALLIS:  I wasn't asking you -- I just asked you if you did a study.  I didn't need the results of it.  You obviously -- you have looked at it yourself, I guess, in your prior capacity with -- in Alberta, I gather.


MR. CHOW:  Also here, too, in my current capacity.


MR. FALLIS:  Is it just you personally, or do you have a team, or is there a report that you have done on it?


MR. CHOW:  My team is with me and a part of the meeting with 3M.  When I collectively say "I", I think I am talking about my whole team.


MR. FALLIS:  All right.  One of the things in the directive by -- it was in Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5, appendix 7.  There is a letter that was sent by the Minister of Energy to Dr. Carr of the OPA June 13, 2006, if I could turn to that.


One of the things that they talked about was the -- in paragraph 2, was the government directs OPA to create an Integrated Power System Plan to meet the following goals.  It says:

"Increase Ontario's use of renewable energy ..."


And it went on to describe them.  One was renewable -- was hydroelectric.  Wind we have talked about at some length; solar and biomass for electricity generation.


With respect to -- your focus seems to be very intense on solar -- or on wind.  The biomass side of it, which is basically burning waste, is that -- the generation would be from burning waste; is that what you understand that to be, Mr. Chow?


MR. CHOW:  My understanding is that it is a bio-digestor.   It use gas from natural product through decomposition.  But I am not an expert.  My understanding is that.  Sorry for -- your question?


MR. FALLIS:  I am just asking, because you were to do that, and yet one of the municipalities which you go through right now has attempted to lobby with the OPA and with Hydro One to do just that, and they're being rejected from even being considered for a waste generating facility that will generate up to 50 megawatts of power.


It seems strange that we are -- I am talking about Southgate Township.  They want to do that.  They have had talks at the highest level with Hydro One, including its president; Hydro One Networks Inc., including its president.  And they get nowhere trying to promote this, and yet it is another form of energy that you are mandated to consider and it doesn't seem to be promoted.


Are you currently doing any studies on planning from biomass within the OPA?


MR. CHOW:  The answer to your question is yes.  There are quite a lot of discussion in the IPSP on biomass, but I want to give a more suitable picture, in terms of how the resources are acquired.


There are a number of programs that the OPA has or will be instituting to acquire resources.  The standard offer program is aimed at generation, renewable generation, less than 10 megawatts.  In there, there is terms and conditions of the kind of resources of fuel type that would be suitable under that program.


There will be other programs that would, again, or standard offer in nature, that are geared toward different type of small generation, such as, you know, waste production from waste gas.  So there is a series of programs.


There are also competitive programs, and this is the key part, is that there are programs that's -- for example, for large generation greater than 10 megawatts, where there is a request for proposal out, which then developers, which have interest, would bid into that process.


With that process, I believe, then, the most economic basket full of solution will come out.  It is not an RFP which is, say, specifically for wind.  It is an RFP for renewable energy.  And it is up to the developers to come forward and put their bid in and compete.


MR. FALLIS:  I will leave the question at that.


I would like to go over to a new area of questioning with respect to the transmission lines themselves.


You would agree, Mr. Skalski, I believe, that -- or the HONI representatives, that the interrogatories that were certainly asked by the Fallis group sought historic information which seemed to be refused at the -- on, first of all, the technical conference.  They sought to build an information base of what the transmission levels were, different years, for the Douglas Point and later Bruce 1 to 8 reactors, and then transmission information -- power that was generated.


Would you agree that that is what the basis of those interrogatories were, specifically Mr. Skalski?  Are you aware of any of those?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.  You were seeking historical information, that's right, on the generation side, and I believe also the transmission side.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  The generation were nine reactors, including the Douglas Point and also the five double-circuited lines.  Three of them are 230 and two at 250.


And that at the technical conference that was held on October 15th and 16th, you would agree with me that the -- those questions were not answered at that time?  Would you agree with that, sir, or by that time by you?


MR. SKALSKI:  No, that's right, because we viewed the technical conference for a different purpose.  We gave a fairly detailed presentation in line with our view of the objectives of the technical conference.


MR. FALLIS:  In fact, would you agree with me that it was a complaint by many of the intervenors, including ourselves, that there seemed to be a design by Hydro One to keep information, historic information, to itself without delivering it to the intervenors?  That's the perception that the intervenors had.  Would you agree with that perception?


MR. SKALSKI:  I can't speak to their perception, Mr. Fallis.  But I can speak to the wording of the procedural order, and I believe our interpretation of the objectives of the technical conference is consistent with the wording of the Board's procedural order.


MR. FALLIS:  I believe in the interrogatories, around day 2, 187, Mr. Nettleton, who was counsel for you, indicated that one of the problems he had was dealing with 207 questions in about a ten-day period.  He didn't have time to answer all those questions.  That was a complaint that was made.


Would you agree with that, Mr. Skalski?


MR. SKALSKI:  I don't recall.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  All right.  And that those questions were put into interrogatory forms and were submitted by many of the intervenors, including the Fallis group and the Ross group within the time for, again, submitting interrogatories, which is March the 10th.


Would you agree that they were reassembled and placed in the form of interrogatories; is that correct?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, they were, with some variations.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, this is eating up a lot of time.  Maybe you could collapse this schedule, this discussion of schedule and history, into a couple of questions.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  All right.


Then with respect to the productions that were not forthcoming, the Board made an order for -- on October the -- April the 7th to produce information, and that information was, in fact, produced in a chart form in your production, which I believe was made Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment A, for historic information on generation from 1984 to the present; is that correct?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  With respect to that particular document, who prepared the document?


MR. SKALSKI:  We received that information from Bruce Power.


MR. FALLIS:  From Bruce Power?


MR. SKALSKI:  From the counsel of Bruce Power, I should say.


MR. FALLIS:  From the counsel of Bruce Power?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  And had that request ever been made of Bruce Power by Hydro One for that same information prior to the making of the order on April the 7th?


MR. SKALSKI:  Not to my knowledge, no.


MR. FALLIS:  Notwithstanding the requests for the information, it was not made by Hydro One.


MR. SKALSKI:  No.  Because Bruce Power is not a party to the application.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I don't care whether they're a party or not.  I just asked if a request was made of Bruce Power.


The letter that was sent on February the 26th said that this information was not available to Bruce Power -- or, excuse me, to Hydro One or to IESO, or to the Ontario Power Authority.  It was in the letter -- you would agree that that was the letter that was sent, and it was sent to the intervenors, particularly to Mr. Klippenstein and to myself?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  And so as to the accuracy of this information, do you know whether this information is accurate, or you are just relying on the document speaking for itself from Bruce Power?


MR. SKALSKI:  As I say, we don't have the information, Mr. Fallis.  It came from Bruce Power.


MR. FALLIS:  So this is Bruce Power information.  Okay.


The question I wanted to ask you, do you have -- and I will ask it of any one of the panelists.  As filed evidence in the report of Mr. Edward Brill, and also on the filed evidence that was submitted April 18th of the Fallis group and the Ross law-firm group, attached at tab 3 of that in the same document is the information that was provided by the International Atomic Energy Agency from Vienna, Austria, which was produced on April the 7th, 2008, Vienna time 17.37.  It's five o'clock Vienna time.


MR. NETTLETON:  Can you just let the witnesses get what you just referenced?


MR. FALLIS:  Sure.


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, this is the document entitled "Bruce 1"?


MR. FALLIS:  Actually, the document is actually each reactor -- the IAEA provided an operating experience history for each of the eight reactors at Bruce on an individual-reactor basis from inception until it stopped producing power, other than the ones that are continuing to produce.  The last record they have of entry is 2006.


Also included at the end of it, after Bruce 8 is there, is the reactor -- the operating -- power-reactor details for an operating experience history for the Douglas Point reactor as well, which shut down in 1984.


First of all, have you reviewed that, the information on those charts?


MR. SKALSKI:  I have seen it, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Do you have any reason to disagree with any of the information that has been provided by the Atomic Energy -- International Atomic Energy Agency on those reactors?


MR. SKALSKI:  It is out of my area of expertise, Mr. Fallis.  Hydro One is a transmission service provider.  We don't have anything to do with atomic energy.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, this is -- maybe I will ask the question of Mr. Chow or Mr. Falvo.  Do you have any dispute with any of the information contained on the report provided -- information provided by the International Atomic Energy Agency of Vienna, Austria?


MR. FALVO:  I can assume that it is information provided to report on the capability of the reactor.  That's what it looks like to me, because it is not quite the same as the information provided by Bruce Power, which was the electrical-generation information.


MR. FALLIS:  The Bruce Power information was generation information; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  I believe so, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  And this is generation information as well?


MR. FALVO:  Well, this is the energy and capability of the reactor, I believe, given that the Atomic Energy Agency is concerned with reactor operations.


MR. FALLIS:  With respect, sir, I would like you

to -- let's -- maybe we will just go to one reactor.  Let's just take Bruce 8 as an example.  If you could go to one that is there.  It came out in '87, and we will look at it and take it right to 2006.  If you would look at that one.


Does everybody have that?


MR. SKALSKI:  Could we have a page reference, Mr. Fallis, please?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, it just says "Bruce 8" on it, and it is page 1 of 1.  And there is 1 of 1 behind it for the power-reactor details for Bruce 8 right behind it.


Do you have that document?  Anyway, my understanding is that the information is quite complete about each of these.  It sets out the date of construction, the date of first criticality, which was 1987.


What would your understanding be of criticalities, Mr. Falvo?


MR. FALVO:  When the reactor starts to -- when the atomic reaction starts to go on its own, to use loose terms.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  And the date of grid connection would be obvious when it would actually connect to the grid.  And then the date of commercial operation, which was -- appears to be when it actually went online full-time, would be May 22nd, 1987.


Is that what your understanding would be of that?


MR. FALVO:  That's consistent with my recollection, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  And at that point it talks about the lifetime generation of the Bruce 8 on the right hand top, the "cumulative energy available" factor.  I don't know exactly what it means.


Would that have meaning to you, Mr. Falvo?


MR. FALVO:  No.  Some of those terms are not clear to me.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  The cumulative load factor?  Would that be -- have meaning to you or Mr. Chow?


MR. FALVO:  I am not sure I understand the distinction you are making between availability factor.


MR. FALLIS:  And the operating factor is 84.6 percent, is cumulative?


MR. FALVO:  Again, I am not exactly sure what the definition was.


MR. FALLIS:  All right.  And the cumulative energy, available factor of 18.72.  Going down with each of the years, it would seem that that reactor would -- it has a different -- for different years, but it has the energy, the capacity, energy availability load factor, annual time on the line, and operational factor.


If we look at 2005, for example, for that particular reactor, it looks like it operated for 99.83 percent of the year.  It almost was 100 percent.


Would you agree with that?  From that figure, that appears to be -- second-last line, 2005, right hand column.  It operated for --


MR. FALVO:  I am not sure of the determinative operational factor.  It all looks fairly similar.


MR. FALLIS:  My understanding that on the time on line for a full year would be 24 hours times 365, which is around 8 -- 8,760 hours.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  So it was on for 8,745 of that, which seems to be almost 100 percent.


MR. FALVO:  That would seem to be correct.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  So that's pretty good reactor.  But it talks about the capacity of that reactor in megawatt, with an E after it, at 790.  And on page 2, following that, just as an example --


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Excuse me, Mr. Fallis.  I want to point out something in the annual time on line column.  In 1996, it suggests hours greater than 8,760 hours in a year.  So I am not quite sure what this column represents.  It has 8,783 listed under that column for 1996.


MR. FALLIS:  I have to -- I don't have a calculator, but 24 times --


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I agree with you that the number of hours in the year is 8,760, so I am not sure what that is.


MR. FALLIS:  To be honest...  We can do a calculation and do the math for you, or somebody can do it, I guess, but it is a percentage.  The distinction is pretty -- it's like Ivory soap.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I am just suggesting I am not sure what that column represents in terms of the year.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Schneider, was that year a leap year?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I have no idea.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I think it was.


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you.  But the information is quite detailed.


If you turn over to the second page of that, it indicates who the International Atomic Energy Association believed to the be owner and operator as Bruce Power.  They talk about the operational -- it says operational net capacity and the gross capacity.  So there is a net and gross there.


I suppose net is -- I don't know what point it was net, whether that is at the beginning or present.  I don't know.


My associate here has indicated, Mr. Ross, that from the European Nuclear Society, it's just a four-line thing:

"Energy availability is the ratio of available energy, the theoretically possible energy in the period under the report.  It characterizes the reliability of the plant in general considering all complete and partial outages."


So I guess it is nameplate capacity versus actual output.


I am just saying that the information that the nuclear -- International Atomic Energy Agency has seems to be fairly complete.  It would be based on information that could only be provided to it by the owner or operator.  Would you agree with that, Mr. Falvo?


MR. FALVO:  I assume so.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  If you would turn -- well, the information that was also provided in the material that was called -- the International Atomic Energy Agency has a power reactor information system.  It is called PRIS, and that is the information that is carried out on the 439 nuclear reactors around the world.


If you look at any of them on that site, as I invite you to do, the information is as complete with respect to ones in China, Russia, places you might not expect to be completed.  It is as thorough on Bruce as it is on any of the others.  So I suggest it is a very good quality document.


None of you on the panel have any dispute with the information contained in that report -- those reports on those reactors?


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, I don't think we have any basis on which to make comments on this information.


MR. FALLIS:  Would that be the same information -- answer you would give if I asked you the same question about the Bruce report that you have filed and which you referred to as an exhibit?  You wouldn't have any information?


MR. SKALSKI:  I'm sorry, you're talking about the --


MR. FALLIS:  The one filed by Bruce Power.  Would your answer be exactly the same for it?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.  It is Bruce Power's information.


MR. FALLIS:  Hmm-hmm.


Now, I have another document, and I would like to -- I have given it to everybody and it is ready for circulation.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, it is 25 past 12:00.  We're aiming for a lunch break at 12:30.


MR. FALLIS:  I won't be much longer after the lunch break.  I am happy to take it, though.


MS. NOWINA:  So my question is:  How much longer will you be after the lunch break?


MR. FALLIS:  Within a half hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Within a half hour, but you are starting a new line of questioning right now, are you?


MR. FALLIS:  Basically, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we take our lunch break and return at 25 minutes past 1:00?


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:34 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Did any matters come up during the break?


MS. GREENBLATT:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  My name is Adriana Greenblatt, and I will be sitting in for Murray Klippenstein.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

Procedural matters:


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, we have three undertakings that we would like to fulfil.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. NETTLETON:  These are in respect of undertakings that were made to Mr. Barlow during, I believe it was

day -- sorry, I believe it was at page 165 of the transcript.


And I am going to have Mr. Schneider address, if I could, those undertakings, because there are some matters that I think are best left to Mr. Schneider, if I could have him address those undertakings.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Your mic is not on, sir.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  These were information requests that Mr. Barlow made, I believe on both Thursday and Friday last week.  The first was regarding three items that he had raised on the Thursday.


This was a request for information collected through the early access activities, including appraisal information for his property, and understanding of why, following the Halton Hills route refinement, his property remained within the environmental-assessment process, and thirdly, to understand if the early access conditions of the Board's order of August 20th continued to apply to his property.


So today we have got a letter going out to Mr. Barlow to address those issues.  And the letter explains -- gives some explanation with respect to the second and third point he raised.


With respect to the information collected through the early access activities, attached to the letter are various reports and -- various reports and other materials that were used by the individuals on his lands collecting information.


It also includes an incomplete appraisal.  The appraisal of his property was not completed, and it wasn't completed because, once we concluded the route-refinement activity earlier this year, in that area the recommendation was to switch the line over to the west side within Halton Hills, so work on that appraisal ceased at that time.


So what he -- we will be doing is arranging to have a copy of the incomplete appraisal material sent to Mr. Barlow next week.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


Mr. Nettleton, we didn't give this an undertaking number.  And it wasn't really my intention that it had to be filed formally as an undertaking.  I asked that you let us know when Hydro One had done this and what they were doing, so I think that is fine.  You've let us know, and the information can just be sent to Mr. Barlow.


MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  And that correspondence is on its way, as we understand it.  I was not -- I was hoping that we would not have to file this on the public record.  I don't think it is appropriate.


MS. NOWINA:  No.


MR. NETTLETON:  It is personal information for Mr. Barlow's request, and I think it should remain as such.


MS. NOWINA:  I agree, and I don't think it is relevant to the proceeding either.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Now, there was one other request from Mr. Barlow, and this happened on the Friday.  This is May 2nd.  On page 165 of the transcript, Madam Chair, you asked that myself or someone at Hydro One undertake to find out what happened to that letter and if a response was sent.


And the letter, in going back in the transcript, appears to have referred to two letters.  And I will quote from the transcript.


On page 163, Mr. Barlow mentions that:  "We..."


And this is Mr. Barlow speaking:

"We sent a letter several weeks ago to your CEO asking for a meeting, and we have not heard from her since."


On the same page, at line 19 to 23, Mr. Barlow says:

"I also wrote a letter to Hydro One on March 22nd of a year ago.  I have not received back any official correspondence on that letter."


So it sounds like there is a letter last year in March, and one recently.  And in completing our search of what we have, I tracked down the two letters, and I will start with the second one first.


The March letter of 2007 was, in fact, written on March 23rd, and it was signed by Mr. Barlow, addressed to Ms. Formusa, as well as Mr. Hawthorne at Bruce Power.  And it was written from the perspective of what was called the Fifth Line Business Group.  And I believe this is the group that started the PowerLine Connection Group.  It turned into the PowerLine Connection Group.  And the letter asked for a meeting to consider a business proposal that the Fifth Line Business Group were wanting to put forward.


On or about April 5th, our vice-president -- Hydro One's vice-president of facilities and real estate, along with one of its staff, telephoned Mr. Barlow, talked to him on the phone, and as a follow-up to that conversation I understand set up a meeting with that group to continue discussions and actually to initiate the discussions about the proposals that the group that eventually turned into PowerLine had.  And in fact, that was the beginning of the consultations and the discussions that I had mentioned on a previous hearing day, with the PowerLine group.


So in my view, we have responded to that letter through meetings and constant communications with the PowerLine group.


With respect to the reference to a letter sent several weeks ago, all that I could find was a letter dated March 24th, 2008 from a Mr. Robert McClure to Hydro One's president and CEO, Ms. Formusa, expressing concerns about landowners' issues not being addressed by Hydro One with respect to compensation.


That was received -- or it was sent to us on March 24th, and my understanding is that at a subsequent meeting between Hydro One senior executives and PowerLine, the leadership of PowerLine and their counsel, that this letter was addressed, and that there wasn't a need for a response written from Hydro One.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Schneider.


MR. NETTLETON:  I think that concludes the undertakings.  I think there is one other outstanding undertaking, and that was made yesterday, concerning information from Bruce Power, and we are in the process of getting that information available.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis?

Cross-examination by Mr. Fallis: (continued)


MR. FALLIS:  When I left off this morning, I was -- or before lunch, I was about to introduce a document that was circulated this morning.  It basically encapsulates the nameplate capacities for each of the reactors during the calendar years 1977 to 2006.


Does the Board -- the Board has a -- can you give it an exhibit number?  It's a three-page -- I have an extra copy in addition...


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we do have copies.  I think we're at K5.3, if I am not mistaken, but I will confirm that.  I have the list here.


Yes, it is K5.3.


MR. FALLIS:  Does everybody have copies?


MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Fallis, could you just read the title of that document for the --


MR. FALLIS:  Oh, it's "operating-expense history, reactor units at Douglas Point and Bruce 1 to 8 from '77 to 2006".


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "OPERATING-EXPENSE HISTORY, REACTOR UNITS AT DOUGLAS POINT AND BRUCE 1 TO 8 FROM 1977 TO 2006".


MR. FALLIS:  Perhaps I might direct it to Mr. Falvo, since he seems to have some information.  I asked questions on it before.


This is plotting out the previously mentioned production from the International Atomic Energy Agency and, in particular, the -- each of the units for each of the years.


And what it does, it demonstrates in the first two pages what units were working and what units were not in those periods.  And I think it is helpful to know that Douglas Point stopped in 1984, and that in 1977 there was only three units.  Bruce 3 came on in 1978; Bruce 4, 1979; Bruce 5 and 6 in '84; Bruce 7 in '86; and Bruce 8 in 1987.


You will notice, going over the chart -- and I am just orienting you through the document.  I will ask you a couple of questions -- that Bruce 2 has been offline since 1996, and that Bruce 1 has been offline since 1998, ten years ago, and that Bruce 3 and 4 were offline in 1999 through -- Bruce 3 to 2004, and Bruce 4 from 1999 to 2003, or starting in 2003.  This just shows that.


I would just ask you a couple of questions.  It was circulated this morning.  I don't know if you have done the -- looked at it, but do you have any difficulty with the information as it is aggregated on the totals along the bottom, Mr. Falvo, as far as the net megawatt generation capacities -- I guess it would be nameplate capacities for each of those years?


MR. FALVO:  This isn't our data.


MR. FALLIS:  No, but it's data that you validated to the extent you could this morning by -- from the International Atomic Energy Association.  It's the same information put in chart form.


MR. FALVO:  I understand, but even the information from the Atomic Energy agency, it is not our data.  It seems to approximate or -- I rely on my recollection, but I am not in a position to verify each of the numbers.


MR. FALLIS:  You are certainly not in a position to say that it isn't correct either; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Well, it's not my data.


MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  It's the best we've got.  Of all of the information, it is certainly the information that you have from Bruce -- from Bruce Power, for example.


I just want you to look at that again.  I just wanted to share with you a little -- if you go back to that production, which is Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment A, that from 1984 to 1990 -- excuse me, to 2001, in fact that information is on a reactor-by-reactor basis; would you agree with that?


It is not your data, either, but it appears to deal with it on a reactor-by-reactor basis?


MR. FALVO:  The Bruce data?


MR. FALLIS:  The Bruce Power Inc. data that is on that exhibit prepared April 10th.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  That appears to me to be unit-by-unit monthly data.


MR. FALLIS:  Then we turn over the page to 2002 onwards, and it doesn't -- it stops breaking it down on a unit-by-unit basis and just talks about Bruce A and Bruce B.  There is no unitized information after that; would you agree?


MR. FALVO:  That's what is there.


MR. FALLIS:  Sorry?


MR. FALVO:  That's what I have in front of me, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  So you agree with my observation that as of 2002, the only way to talk about the information is in either Bruce A or Bruce B format.  They don't break it down on a unit-by-unit basis?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, and that is, Mr. Fallis, because the original interrogatory question asked for information

-- this is in Pollution Probe No. 1, Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1.  It asked for the installed capacity at the Bruce nuclear station in part A, and parts B, C and D also pertained to the Bruce nuclear station.  It did not ask for individual unit data.


MR. FALLIS:  Regardless of how it is there, it doesn't report it in that fashion, in any event.  It is done in the four units up on Bruce A and four on Bruce B.  Regardless of why, it is not as complete as the information by the International Atomic Energy Agency.


MR. SKALSKI:  Actually, Mr. Fallis, if you turn to Pollution Probe number 2, and the information was requested on a unit basis and it is there for the years for which the IESO had the information; that is, from 2002 on.


MR. FALLIS:  Which schedule?


MR. SKALSKI:  schedule 2.


MR. FALLIS:  schedule 2?


MR. SKALSKI:  Exhibit C, tab 2.  So it's the next interrogatory.


MR. FALLIS:  There's some -- there is capacity factor that is there, for -- only for the four, but that rest -- that is on page 2 of 2; is that what you're referring to?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, the bottom table.


MR. FALLIS:  That only deals with the capacity factor and percentages.  It doesn't talk about any of the other -- the megawatt -- it limits it to one element only.  It doesn't deal with the same degree as the other.  Would you agree?


MR. FALVO:  I understood that to be the question.


MR. FALLIS:  The question was:  You agree with me that it only analyzes one aspect of the factors, the annual capacity factors, and no more?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, consistent with the part D of the interrogatory request.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  I'm not saying it didn't answer the interrogatory.  All I'm asking you is, comparing the charts, that the more complete information is from the International Atomic Energy Association or Agency, than the information that is provided by Bruce Power?


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Madam Chair, Mr. Fallis is asking the witnesses to make a judgment call about which is more accurate information.


The only information that these witnesses have sponsored is the information that they have filed as part of the interrogatory responses, which Mr. Skalski has referred to.


I think it is quite clear that this information has been gathered, collected and sponsored by Mr. Brill.  It is his evidence, and he is in the best position to speak to it.


MS. NOWINA:  I agree he's in the best position to speak to it.  It seemed like a fairly straightforward question.  I think the word Mr. Fallis used was "complete", and I think I could probably answer that question looking at the two pieces of paper.


I understand that the witnesses don't have any more reference than that, but it seems it's a fairly straightforward question.


MR. NETTLETON:  It was simply the judgment that is being asked by the witnesses is, Which is more complete?  And it would strike me that it is not fair for the witnesses to answer a comparative question like that, when the information that they only have, that the IESO has only sponsored, is that which they have put on the record.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, in fairness, the record is the same for Mr. Brill or for anybody else looking at it.  He only got the same information that you have and is taking his information off that, but I am looking at the information itself.


It's fairly comprehensive and deals with a lot of different issues, and appears to be -- have a depth that is greater than what has been provided by Hydro One.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you go ahead, Mr. Fallis?  You are not going to get an answer to the question.


MR. FALLIS:  I don't think Mr. Nettleton would agree with anything on this one, anyway, but anyway ...


I wanted to -- I would like to ask you, 2003 was the year that the -- we had the big summer outage that was a major northeastern United States and Canada issue.  In 2003, I notice that there were only -- that's correct?  It was the summer of 2003, Mr. Chow, Mr. Falvo, you would agree with that, when all of the power went down in northeastern North America?


MR. FALVO:  It was August 2003, yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  At that point, August 2003, there were only five reactors.  There were not six.  There were only five at this point in time?  This chart seems to suggest that, that Bruce 3 didn't come back in until 2004.


MR. FALVO:  I know there were only five during that summer.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, okay.  So what happened at the Bruce -- what happened in North America wasn't anything that has happened in the IESO activities or anything like that?  It was outside -- it happened in the United States and you were a victim of what happened there; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you.


Now, a question on the -- just going back to the lines themselves, the transmission line, the 230 kV line, the double-circuit line in the Bruce, that was constructed in terms of megawatts, it was described by the Minister of Energy in 1977 as being able to carry all the power from units 1 and 2.  That was Mr. Timbrell at that point in time who said that.  That was 1,500 megawatts.  Is that a fair statement, when he told the House in 1976, that the 230 line could carry 1500 megawatts of power?


MR. SKALSKI:  We don't have that information.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, I don't know.  You have the information of his statement.  I can -- I am going to put it to you that the statement that it could carry in that period of time 1,500 megawatts of power.  Do you agree or disagree with that statement, that that it could take 1,500 megawatts of power, double-circuit line?


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, I'm sorry I still don't quite understand the question.


MR. FALLIS:  It's a very simple question, Mr. Skalski.  When the line was constructed, the 230 line that was constructed, it was indicated that it could take 230 megawatts of power.  It was transmitting the Bruce -- the Douglas Point power and it was capable of taking the nameplate that Bruce units 1 and 2 could put out.  Is that a fair statement, that that could do that?


MR. SKALSKI:  Mr. Fallis, it seems to me we may have answered this question in response to interrogatory 6 from you.  That's Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6.  It's in the table that we prepared.  That includes information on the various lines that you had requested, and the capacities and capabilities of those various lines is shown there in that table.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, let me ask you a question on it.  What are you saying that the capacity of the 230 line from Bruce to Orangeville -- Hanover to Orangeville was in 1977 when the Bruce Unit 1 first came online?

     MR. SABISTON:  The table shows then -- shows that the capacity of the Bruce-to-Orangeville line was 423 megawatts.

     MR. FALLIS:  And that was in -- 423 megawatts was in the -- was that the full capacity, the double-circuit line?

     MR. SABISTON:  Mr. Fallis, the answer to that specific question is "no".

     The way these questions were formulated, you asked for the capacity of each individual line.  So when the answers were prepared for this question, the answer was given in the context of that individual line in isolation.

     I looked at it from the viewpoint, if there was just that one double-circuit line in isolation from everything else, I would consider that that line, by itself, would have a capacity of 423 megawatts.

     Now, when you look at it from an integrated power system, you get a different answer, and -- which gets into the whole theory of integrated-power-system operation.  And we did not provide an answer to that question, because it's a much more complex question, and because it appeared that your question was not asking for that figure.

     MR. FALLIS:  Let's back off, right back to the present.


Your published information - I said this this morning - suggests that your new 500 kV line will carry 3,100 megawatts of power.  That's what it will do.  Is that correct, Mr. Sabiston or Mr. Falvo?

     MR. FALVO:  No.  What we have said is that it will increase the capability of the whole grid to get power out of the Bruce by 3,100 megawatts.

     MR. FALLIS:  By 3,100 megawatts.

     MR. FALVO:  Right.

     MR. FALLIS:  And that isn't the same as saying it will allow that -- that line won't -- without that line 3,100 would be locked in.  Is that what you're saying?

     MR. FALVO:  Some would be locked in, yes.

     MR. FALLIS:  Yes, okay.  So putting that line on allows your network to carry 3,100 extra megawatts of power.  Why am I missing something, because you seem to suggest I am, that if that line goes in and 31 more can come out, why can't I say that line can carry 3,100 megawatts of more power?

     MR. FALVO:  Well, because all the extra doesn't flow

immediately on that one line.

     MR. FALLIS:  When you said -- and published that this will allow 3,000 megawatts of power, is what the 500 kV line will do -- so when you published that, as you did in your EA process, the statements -- is there something I am missing, that that is wrong, that statement is wrong then?

     MR. SCHNEIDER:  What was said, I believe, in those public documents is that the line enables 3,100 megawatts of incremental power to come out of the Bruce.  It doesn't necessarily mean it is all flowing on that line.  As Mr. Falvo mentioned, it is a network, and the construction and placing and service of the line allows you to get 3,100 megawatts -- approximately 3,100 megawatts out of the Bruce area.

     MR. FALLIS:  With the first Bruce line, did it enable -- also enable 3,100 megawatts to come out of the Bruce?  Is there any difference between the old Bruce line and the new Bruce line?  500 kV is 500 kV.  It is still there.  Mr. Sabiston said it is a 100-year line, and we're only 30 to 40 years into it.  It's a fairly robust line.


Is there any reason why the first line wouldn't do -- 500 wouldn't do what the second is proposed to do?

     MR. SABISTON:  Again, the capacity of the first line, the Bruce-by-Milton line, the original one, we looked at in isolation as -- as is given in the table in Interrogatory Number 6; in other words, 2,442 megawatts, when looked at in isolation.

     MR. FALLIS:  Let's look at the 500 line that you are going to build in isolation.  What's that going to do?  What's the capacity in it, in isolation?

     MR. SABISTON:  If you were to separate that new line from the power grid, then this is a hypothetical question.  If you're hypothetically going to separate that transmission line from the power grid and connect generation radially on that transmission line into Milton, so it's not connected to anything else anywhere down the line, it would have a firm capacity of 2,442 megawatts.

     MR. FALLIS:  So both of the lines would be the same?

     MR. SABISTON:  Right.  But because you don't connect it radially, because you interconnect it with other elements, you get an increased capacity.

     MR. FALLIS:  Now, may I ask this:  You have, if I take the -- that chart that you've got for the five lines, and you are saying that from Bruce to Hanover is 423, right, that's the end -- and there is off-loading at Hanover, if you will, off-ramping of power, the 412 is what goes on to Orangeville; is that correct?

     MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.

     MR. FALLIS:  So on to that line we have 423 megawatts,

according to your definition is what comes out of Bruce.  You don't add those two up.  I only start with 423.

     MR. SABISTON:  Yes.  The capacity at the Bruce end of that line is 423 megawatts.

     MR. FALLIS:  Mmm-hmm.

     MR. SABISTON:  I am making a distinction between capacity and capability as well.

     MR. FALLIS:  Mmm-hmm.

     MR. SABISTON:  But the capacity of the wires, of the Bruce-by-Hanover line, is 423 megawatts.

     MR. FALLIS:  So in the era of 1991 to 1995, the nameplate capacity of the generators was 6,832 megawatts, constant for those five years.  Would you agree?  If the addition is correct on that exhibit I presented to you.

     MR. SABISTON:  Right.

     MR. FALLIS:  And right now, the nameplate capacity of

what's at the Bruce is 4,724; is that correct?  Looking at that chart, it is 4,724 megawatts, correct?

     MR. SABISTON:  Correct.

     MR. FALLIS:  The electrical highway allowed the nameplate capacity to be generated in the era 1991 -- 1990 at 6,800 -- I guess it was around the same, 6,800 -- or even 1998 -- allowed it to be transferred over 6,800 megawatts for five, if not seven, years.


So there hasn't been any change in the generation -- any change in the lines in that period of time, has there?

     MR. FALVO:  Mr. Fallis, this is -- these are the numbers that are here from the Atomic Energy Agency.  What the transmission grid delivered is not necessarily these numbers.

     MR. FALLIS:  I hear what you're saying, but I'm just saying there hasn't been any change in the transmission of power in all those years.  The lines have been there for all of those years I have just mentioned.

     MR. FALVO:  Yes, the lines have been there.

     MR. FALLIS:  And yet the capacity of the lines appears to have reduced by two reactors, and yet you need to bring these -- the line back up again -- or the new line to get back to where you were.

     MR. FALVO:  The data we submitted, going back in our records, there was some of the coincident flow away from the Bruce never reached these numbers.

     MR. FALLIS:  Well, how far back did you go in your records?

     MR. FALVO:  To -- I think we had 1984.

     MR. SKALSKI:  1985, I believe.

     MR. FALLIS:  And when did you get that information, sir?

     MR. SKALSKI:  This was filed, Mr. Fallis, as the updated response to Ross 9.1.  That's Exhibit C, tab --

     MR. FALLIS:  So you never had this information before April the 10th, 2007 -- 2008?

     MR. SKALSKI:  It was not filed before --

     MR. FALLIS:  I didn't ask you that question.  I asked you if you had the information before 2008.

     MR. NETTLETON:  Can you let him answer the question, please?

     MR. FALLIS:  Well, I was asking Mr. Falvo a question, and Mr. Skalski seemed to scoot in with an answer.  I thought I was having a nice conversation with Mr. Falvo.

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's just get the question answered.

     MR. SKALSKI:  Sorry, the question was...?

     MR. FALLIS:  The question I was asking was of Mr. Falvo, I think.

     MR. FALVO:  I don't believe we had the specific information that was asked in interrogatories, but we did

-- we were able to go back into an old computer system and we extracted the information we had.


I don't think it was a direct answer to the question that was asked, but we provided what we were able to

find --


MR. FALLIS:  When did you do that, sir?  When was that extraction made?


MR. SKALSKI:  That was between April 7th and April 10th, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  So I gather that the impression you have made with respect to these capacities, which have been filed in March, were based on information that you didn't get until April.  Am I correct?  You didn't have the information until April 10th, and you have given capacities about the lines that you didn't have information about in March of -- on March 12th.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't understand the question, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, the information, Madam Chair, is this, is that this information that has been produced requires -- on Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6, requires information to have been available to Hydro One or HONI or IESO to create this information about the capacities of these lines back in that era of time, transmission capacity.


It is information which, in March -- and February 26th they said they didn't have, and yet they're using that information to create answers to these things.  I am having difficulty understanding the -- how we can generate answers without information that wasn't available until a month later.  It's like back to the future here.


MR. SKALSKI:  I can address that, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SKALSKI:  It may be helpful to trace the history of the interrogatory responses.


Mr. Fallis, in his interrogatories that were submitted in March, was asking, in some of them, for a very particular piece of information, and that had to do with the maximum sustained power flow on the various individual circuits emanating from the Bruce.


Hydro One checked its records and came to the conclusion that Hydro One did not have that information.  And the issue there is that Mr. Fallis was asking for that information all the way back to the lines' in-service date.  For these lines, as you can see from -- it's no longer up, but it's in schedule 6 in the table.  The B4V and B5V lines, for example, were installed in 1963 on the Bruce to Hanover section.  Hanover to Orangeville was 1961.  Some were 1947, 1975, and so on.


So the history goes back quite a far way.  Hydro One does not retain information that far back in history.


So Mr. Fallis's question for the maximum sustained power flow on that line from the date of in-service of those lines was not available.


We checked with the IESO and they indicated, as well, that they likely did not have that information, and in the space of time that was available for answering the interrogatories, that's as much as we could do.


When the Board's order came on April 7th, the IESO had a -- another look at their files and they realized that they had what they have characterized as raw telemetry data available, which does not calculate a maximum, but it just, as far as I understand it, takes a snapshot of the power flows on -- I believe it's an hourly basis on each line, and they had that information available going back to 1985.


If I could just -- if I could just refer you to the response that we provided in the updated response to Exhibit C, tab 9 schedule 1 - that is Mr. Ross 9.1 - this is on page 3 of 4, part A, triple I, and part 4.


Down at the bottom of the page:

"Hydro One has been advised that the IESO has reviewed its computer records going back to 1984 and it is able to provide the following information, which is included in attachment A, in the time available."


Two bullet points, and then below:

"The IESO records are raw telemetry records and are likely to include some periods of missing or corrupted data due to computer system or telemetry outages."


What the IESO had was very raw data that, in some sense, did not correspond to the information that Mr. Fallis was originally looking for.  I think that may be the reason that Mr. Fallis is not able to find the information that he wanted, or, put it this way, the maximum numbers that he is looking for don't exist back to the in-service dates of the lines.  The information is only back to 1985, and it's -- the maximums would be included somewhere within that mass of data.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Skalski, what I heard Mr. Fallis questioning, and I thought you might be able to clear up, was that he seemed to be under the impression that you needed historical data to give the answer that you gave in Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6.  Is that correct, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  I'm sorry?


MS. NOWINA:  Your question seemed to be regarding Exhibit C, tab 3, schedule 6.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  You were indicating that Hydro One must have had historical information in order to answer that question.


MR. FALLIS:  That was my --


MS. NOWINA:  That was your point?


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And so, Mr. Skalski, can you address that?


MR. SKALSKI:  I'm sorry, I am still not following, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  The table that was just up there --


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- was filed on March 12th.


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis seems to be under the impression that you need the information that was filed after April 7th in order to create this chart.


MR. SKALSKI:  What we did, to be helpful to Mr. Fallis and to meet the interrogatory deadline of two weeks, which was March the 12th, instead of providing the maximum historical loading that he was looking for, we provided the 2007 loading information which is included in the second column -- sorry, second column from the right and last column on the right.


So we provided the information that we could.


MS. NOWINA:  You provided current information?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  I think that was the quick answer to his question.  It wasn't based on historical information.  You provided current information on these lines?


MR. SKALSKI:  Well, I gave you the historical tour.


MS. NOWINA:  You did.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that answer your question, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  Partially, I suppose.  I will have to accept it for what it is worth.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, I think it was a fairly clear answer to the question in terms of how they came up with this information.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, the question I have is that I believe the evidence is that in the -- it was asked before.  There was a voltage issue, if I am correct, that led to the increase in transmission ability from 6,100 to 5,000 megawatts; am I correct with that, Mr. Falvo or Mr. Chow?


MR. FALVO:  There's both voltage and thermal limitations on the system at this time.


MR. FALLIS:  Why did the -- I mean, the lines are the same.  What happened to have the voltage and thermal limitations change to inhibit the ability to transmit more than 5,000 when you were transmitting 6,100?


MR. FALVO:  Well, there's some wind farms that have been connected to the 230 kV circuits that are taking up some of that capability.


MR. FALLIS:  There's a new what?


MR. FALVO:  Wind farms that are connected to some of those 230 kV circuit that you see on the chart are taking up some of the capability, and --


MR. FALLIS:  Well, energy is energy, no matter where it comes from.  You're saying those lines can only take 5,000 before they could take 6,100.


So where would the energy come from?  We don't really care.  It is just the voltage issues and the thermal issues you have said have created a reduction.  Is that because you haven't been able to maintain the lines properly?


MR. FALVO:  No.  I am not aware of any maintenance issues.


MR. FALLIS:  It isn't a maintenance problem?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, why don't you let them answer the question.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.


MR. FALVO:  You seem to be implying that you can simply add up the capacity of each individual circuit.  And, actually, if we go back to Board Staff Interrogatory Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1.3, that one explains the changes on the system that have reduced its capability to deliver power out of the Bruce area.


As we said in there, and as we described in the technical conference, as well, there are three main factors.  One is that the system that was designed in the '80s was designed mainly for exporting over the peak period.  So the direction of flow would be different on all the circuits.


Secondly is that in the 1980s the system was mainly limited by the stability of the generating units that were connected to it, whereas today, when there is very much more air-conditioning in the system, demand is peaking in the summer, the system is limited more by voltage, as well as thermal.


And lastly, there has been a change in the load in the Bruce area, specifically the shutdown of the heavy-water plant that would have siphoned some of the power away from -- some of the power that was generated at Bruce before it got on to the transmission lines connecting Bruce to the rest of the grid.


MR. FALLIS:  When did that severance take place from heavy water?


MR. FALVO:  It was in the -- I'm not sure if it was late '80s or '90s.


MR. FALLIS:  That's a decade.  Can anybody...?


MR. FALVO:  Well, it's not now.  I know that for sure.


MR. FALLIS:  That makes it 20 years.  We've got late '80s or late '90s.  What -- I mean, can we not be a little more exact than that?  That is a pretty big step to remove that.  Can you give a more exact date than that?  You're saying ten or 20 years ago.


MR. FALVO:  My recollection is that it was somehow at the time -- about the same time, give or take a few years, as when the nuclear units at Bruce and Pickering were shut down.


MR. FALLIS:  I see.  So that was in the area of

1990 --


MR. FALVO:  That would be mid-'90s, if my recollection is correct.


MR. FALLIS:  All right.  Well, thermal limitations is -- the more power you put down, the warmer the lines get, and therefore the sag is greater?  Is that what...?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  So that isn't -- that is only because of power going down the line, whatever -- whether it is air-conditioners or whatever the reason doesn't really matter.  It is the amount of power you're putting down the line.


At one point you could put power down the line that you can't do now, because there is a voltage issue; is that right?  You were doing 6,100.  You're at 5- now --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis, again, these are relevant questions, but I believe that other cross-examiners have asked them, and they have been answered in depth.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  And you did tell me you would not be a long time after lunch.


MR. FALLIS:  I will -- I have two questions.  One is, locked-in energy at the Bruce is what the concern has been.  And Mr. Pape has alluded to that yesterday in his evidence, about the contract that was put in place between Ontario Power Authority and the Bruce LLP.


If there is locked-in power, there is a requirement to pay, I think it is $63 a megawatt for locked-in power.  Is that power measured at nameplate capacity, or is it based on some other formula, as far as the payment the ratepayers of Ontario are going to have to pay?


MR. CHOW:  Well, our assumption is that the locked-in energy, in fact, it just assumes that whatever the Bruce plant produces is going to get paid for, whether it is consumed or not, for example.


The locked-in energy issue is the fact that now you have to go buy replacement energy from the system, and that would be at whatever the system price at the time you purchase it.


MR. FALLIS:  I understand the concept.  What does that mean, in terms of -- if you had to buy it somewhere else, you would have to pay Bruce the equivalent, again, on top of buying that?  Is that what you mean?


MR. CHOW:  Well, you contract for Bruce to take or pay.  So they produce, you take it.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  Whether it is delivered or not.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  Now, that energy is taken but not delivered, but paid, you still have to go to the system to buy replacement energy.


MR. FALLIS:  So, well, then the question is, the measurement of what you're paying the Bruce, is it, if you pay in any particular month $10-million for replacement energy to another source, does that mean you also write a cheque out to the Bruce for the source you didn't get?


MR. CHOW:  Well, for the energy that they could have produced, but --


MR. FALLIS:  Well, you had to get it from another source other than Bruce, so you had to buy it somewhere else, so you've got to pay for the Bruce on top of paying for the energy.  Is that --


MR. CHOW:  What Bruce produced, you pay them.  Even though you cannot deliver it, you still pay, and that missing energy that you could have used from the Bruce, now you have to get from the system, not at Bruce, but let's say in southern Ontario elsewhere, to allow you to supply the load.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Bottom line is this, is if you only need 78 percent load from elsewhere, are you paying Bruce 78 percent of what you paid elsewhere, or are you paying them nameplate capacity for that load?  That's what I want to know.


MR. CHOW:  You pay according to the contract.  If they produce, you deliver at the agreed-on contract price.


MR. FALLIS:  But if they don't deliver, what are they paying?  Because they're not delivering anything.


MR. CHOW:  But they're delivering -- at the point of where you take the power, you cannot deliver it.  That's a separate issue.  They are able to produce it.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes?


MR. CHOW:  So therefore, you should be paying for it.


MR. FALLIS:  But if you only needed 80 percent from them on a given day, are you paying 100 percent on that day, or are you paying 80 percent on that day?


MR. CHOW:  Those would be the detailed contract.  I am not familiar with --


MR. FALLIS:  That's a pretty important detail.  What is -- you signed -- the OPA signed the contract with them.  What is the detail?  How much are you paying?  Name-plate or what you consume?


MR. CHOW:  Sorry, I don't --


MR. FALLIS:  You measure what you consume by what you had to pay that day for that power somewhere else.


MR. CHOW:  I don't know the detail of the contract, sir.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, the night before last -- and it has been circulated, and there's copies around -- there was a report.  It was on the third panel here.  Stated to -- from a group of 50 Kincardine and area businesses, which is Hydro One's manager of public affairs, which she delivered at an Energy Speakers Evening at the Best Western Governor's Inn at the Kincardine and District Chamber of Commerce, is reported to have said this --


MS. NOWINA:  Is this an exhibit, Mr. --


MR. FALLIS:  We can make it an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  This document is called -- it appears to be an e-mail dated Tuesday, May 6th, 2008, and it will be K5.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.4:  E-MAIL DATED TUESDAY, MAY 6TH, 2008.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, it is my understanding that this document was a -- it's on the website of a radio station.  It was their report of the meeting on Monday evening.


And in that report, at the very end -- they were reporting on these hearings, and at the very end the report -- Hydro One's manager of public affairs, Enza Cancilla, said:

"The Bruce-to-Milton expansion will be able to take electricity from Bruce A and B refurbishments and the Enbridge wind project, but Cancilla says it won't be enough to handle the energy produced from the potential Bruce C build."


That was a report that she said.


What I would like to know, sir, is, from the Ontario Power Authority's point of view, is that statement correct or is it not correct?


MR. CHOW:  Which specific statement are you referring to?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, there are two statements.  First of all, it says that the Bruce-to-Milton expansion will be able to take electricity from Bruce A and B refurbishments and the Enbridge wind project.  Is that statement correct?


MR. CHOW:  For the capacity -- yes, for the capacity that we are seeking up to 8,100, it will take the refurbishment of A and the possible refurbishment of B, and the Enbridge wind project, which is one of the committed project of the 700 in the Bruce area.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  And she -- also statement:

"But Cancilla says it will not be enough to handle the Energy produced from potential Bruce C build."


Is that statement correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  But the statement there has to be read in the proper context.  What we said was, again, the capability that we are looking at providing is -- at the Bruce is additional 3,100 megawatts of resource development.


That would provide for the refurbishment of Bruce A and B, or, if Bruce B is not refurbished, then the potential of a new build at Bruce C.


I think the transmission system is not capable of doing Bruce A and B and a Bruce C.


MR. FALLIS:  So bottom line is that if Bruce A and B are refurbished, and then Bruce C comes on line, this line will not be enough for Bruce C; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  There would not be sufficient capacity with this line for Bruce C.


MR. FALLIS:  We know that there is an application before the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission for a Bruce C new build; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  My understanding is that the -- yes, that's true.  My understanding is, in case Bruce B is not to be refurbished, then Bruce C to could be a potential replacement for Bruce B.


MR. FALLIS:  So you are basing your need on forecast generation in the Bruce area?  That's what you've told us.


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  That's what you told us.  You designed the alternative to be -- the 500 kV line to be sufficiently scalable to meet the significantly increased generation in the Bruce area; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  And I state yesterday the nuclear capacity that we are forecasting is between six to 7,000 megawatts.


MR. FALLIS:  Yet the proposed alternative cannot transmit generation from Bruce C, if Bruce B is refurbished?


MR. CHOW:  Not the specific proposal we have, but if there are additional resources up at the Bruce, then the Bruce-to-Milton line would be the basis of which any further reinforcement would be made to the Bruce system.


We don't know what it is until we know the specifics, and we have not studied that.


MR. FALLIS:  And the environmental assessment process for Bruce C is already under way under the Bruce C new build; is that correct?


MS. NOWINA:  I think that question has been answered before, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  Yes, okay.  So we have that, all right.


Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.  Mr. Millar.

Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Would you like me to begin now?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I would like to you begin now.


MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, panel.  I am Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am just going to start with a couple of housekeeping matters.


I have some exhibits that I will be referring to which I would like to introduce.  The first one -- all of these I provided to your counsel, and I think you have probably seen them, as well.  The first one I actually don't think I will be referring to, but it was an exhibit prepared by Board Staff.


It shows the flow away from the Bruce complex on a chart form.  What we did for that is we simply took the data that was provided by Hydro One and we plotted it on a graph.


I will hand these out, but are you familiar with this chart?  Have you seen it before?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Unless there are any objections, I will enter this as an exhibit.  Do you have copies?  Okay.  While Mr. Richmond is circulating those, we will call that Exhibit K5.5, and that is a chart showing the FABC or flow away from the Bruce complex for 1985 to 2002.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.5:  CHART SHOWING FABC (FLOW AWAY FROM THE BRUCE COMPLEX) FOR 1985 TO 2002.


MR. MILLAR:  Just let me deal with that quickly, once Mr. Richmond has handed it to you.


I believe we circulated that with Hydro One previously.  As I said, I don't actually think I have any questions on it now that the other parties have gone, but I think it is a useful diagram that shows that data in a chart form.


Are you able to confirm, subject to check, that we plotted it correctly, that the graph matches the data that was provided by Hydro One?


MR. FALVO:  I believe we spot-checked -- I think what you plotted was monthly maximums.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think that's right.


MR. FALVO:  We spot-checked some of them and they appeared to match source data.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  As I say, I don't think I actually have any questions left on this, so I thought since we had circulated it already, I would introduce it into the record, but I don't plan to address that any further, probably.


There are two other documents that I will be referring to and I provided copies to your counsel.  The first is a document that is actually referred to in your evidence and you reference it by way of a web link.


It's NPCC document A2.  It's called, "A basis criteria for design and operations of interconnected power systems."


I have given copies to your counsel and I take it that you are familiar with that document, as it is referenced in your prefiled application?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have copies of that, or a copy?  Thank you.


We will call that K5.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.6:  NPCC DOCUMENT A2 ENTITLED, "A BASIS CRITERIA FOR DESIGN AND OPERATIONS OF INTERCONNECTED POWER SYSTEMS."


MR. MILLAR:  The final document I will be referring to is a speech that was made by your CEO, Ms. Formusa.  I have given copies to your counsel and circulated it to the Panel, I believe.  This was a speech to the Canadian Nuclear Association of February 28th, 2008.


Were any of you gentlemen actually at that speech?  Okay, that's fine.  I'm sorry, Mr. Skalski, were you about to say yes?


MR. SKALSKI:  I was about to say "no".


MR. MILLAR:  Were you supposed to be there?


[Laughter]


MR. MILLAR:  Don't answer that question.


I will have a couple of questions about that in a few moments.  So unless there are any objections, I will call that Exhibit K5.7.  That is Ms. Formusa's speech dated February 28th, 2008.

EXHIBIT NO. K5.7:  COPY OF SPEECH MADE TO THE CANADIAN NUCLEAR ASSOCIATION OF FEBRUARY 28TH, 2008 BY MS. FORMUSA.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Moving into the actual questions I have for you, I am going to start with some questions on the reliability aspect of this application.


I take it that you would agree with me that the Board's mandate is to look at the price, quality and reliability of service of electricity transmission, leave-to-construct projects?


MR. SKALSKI:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn up the PowerPoint presentation you made at the technical conference.  We have seen this a few times.  I have it up on the screen right now.  I think it is Exhibit KT -- Mr. Nettleton, are you aware?


MR. NETTLETON:  KT1.1.


MR. MILLAR:  1.1, thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  KT1.1.


MR. NETTLETON:  Day 1.


MR. MILLAR:  Day 1, that's right.


I would ask you to turn to the very last page of that presentation, which is on your screens right now.


You will see there is a chart there, and beside the chart it says, "Building new Bruce-to-Milton line is the only plan that meets key criteria."


Then if you look at the chart, it has various options that I take it were considered, and then it has some criteria that you have set out.  Have I got that right?  I have described it accurately?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, that's correct.  There is actually a larger version of the table that's included.  I think it is slide 39, if memory serves -- 31, sorry.


MR. MILLAR:  This is the same chart?


MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Can I ask you, how did you select these criteria?


MR. CHOW:  Mr. Millar, we provide a response to include that.  The response to that question is Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 2.4, Board Staff interrogatory 2.4, this one.


If you take a look at page 2, first, under line 7, it describes the four-step generic process that we used in doing the selection.  So the first one is, "Developing reasonable solutions", and we have we had quite a lot of discussion on that.


The second step in the process is to do a screening, and it is to screen the options, the reasonable set of options, based on a set of criteria.


I would refer you down to after line 17, and there is six areas of which we would develop these screening criteria.  The broad categories:  Meeting government policy.  Second one is reliability-related.  Third one is feasibility-related.  Fourth is flexibility.  Fifth is cost.  And the last one is land-use-related.


Those are broad categories of which, for this project, we would develop a set of measures which we will use in the screening process.  And in this part of the process, the decision is a go or no-go decision.


The one that we have chosen to represent that broad set of alternatives is now shown in that table that we were looking at before.  And it was -- which we presented at the technical conference.  Slide 26, starting with slide 26 on the technical conference.  Okay?


Twenty-seven, that slide shows the -- in a graphical manner, the four-step process.


Next slide.  Those are then the mapping of the various screening areas to specific screening factors.  So, for example, government policy would be -- translate to assist in achieving policy goals.


Reliability is, capability to deliver generation to customer, secure system operation.  Feasibility would be proven technology, lead time to in-service.  Flexibility is changing system needs, affecting other transmission paths, enabling future development.


The next one is cost-related, would be project cost, losses.  Next one would be land-use-related, and this would be consistent with land-use policy, line length, and right-of-way width.  Those are the various measures of those policy items.


The next slide...


MR. SCHNEIDER:  So as you see on this slide, it is a listing of the options that were considered.  And to be clear, the process considered the first seven options listed on this slide.


As we mentioned back at the technical conference in October last year, we had heard from intervenors, and there was a lot of interest generated regarding series capacitors.


So for purposes of presentation at the technical conference, we added that option to the list, although we had already determined that it was not a long-term option, it did not meet the need.  So we included it in here, in response to what we heard from intervenors.


So if you can go to the next slide.  This slide was simply used to illustrate the location of those options.  So I think we can move to the next slide.


And then here we are at the summary of option screening results.  So if you look at the items across the top of that table, you can link the screening criteria that Mr. Chow spoke of to what is listed at the top of these tables.


So, for example, "provide required capability" falls under the reliability category.  "Limited effect on other paths" falls under the flexibility category.  "Proven technology" goes under the feasibility category.  "Reasonable relative cost", of course, the cost category, and consistent with land-use policy, was under the land-use category.


MR. MILLAR:  So for reliability, if I heard you, that is captured under "provide required capability".


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  I would suggest that it is linked to the flexibility one as well, but certainly from the previous slide listing the categories, that is the one that fell under the reliability category.


MR. MILLAR:  So when you consider reliability, is the only thing you considered whether or not the proposal could carry away the expected generation?  Is that the only thing you considered with regard to reliability?


MR. FALVO:  Well, when we interpret reliability, what we're saying is that we assess the plan at the level that it is forecasted to achieve, and we assess it by checking against the standards that exist, the NERC and NPCC and the IESO standards.


So we would say that it meets the need, because it satisfies all of those standards when operating at the forecasted transfer capability.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


Just again on this chart, if we go over to "consistent with land-use policy", by and large, are you talking about the provincial policy statement there?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  That's correct.  That's found in Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5, appendix 13, I believe.


MR. MILLAR:  And I am not sure if these are questions for you or for the land panel, but tell me if we get out of your area of expertise.


Just looking very generally at the PPS, as I read it, it encourages you to use existing transmission corridors; is that fair?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  If I can take you -- maybe we can go to it for a moment.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  Yes, that would be helpful.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  I believe I am on the next panel as well with respect to this, so...


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You can't get away.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  It is Exhibit B, tab 6, schedule 5, appendix 13, page 10 of that provincial policy statement in section 1.6 on infrastructure and public-service facilities.


Section 1.6.2 states:

"The use of existing infrastructure and public-service facilities should be optimized, wherever feasible, before consideration is given to developing new infrastructure and public-service facilities."


And if you just skip forward to page 32 of the document, there is a definition of "infrastructure".  And that definition includes physical structures such as facilities and corridors, and in the long list there includes electric power generation and transmission.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  So I think I characterized it fairly accurately.  It encourages you to use existing rights-of-way for transmission facilities whenever possible?  I guess it says what it says.  You don't have to accept my -- you have actually read the policy, so I guess we can interpret that as we wish.


It doesn't say you can never create a new right-of-way, though, does it?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  No, it does not.  And maybe I could refer you to a Board Staff interrogatory, Exhibit C, tab 1, -- sorry, C-1 -- Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 2.9, 6part (v) of that interrogatory response.


Now, part (v) of that interrogatory asked if it was normal practice to rule out alternatives that required new corridors when existing corridors are available.  As you can see in the response.


When there is space on an existing corridor, of course, Hydro One's policy is to use that space.  However, that isn't the case here, in general, and there are situations where there isn't enough room on the existing corridor.


We take guidance from the policy to look at expanding the existing corridor and looking at the considerations and feasibility of doing so prior to developing new corridors.


Now, that doesn't mean that there won't be situations where a new corridor will be given more consideration.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that was my question.  Thank you for that.


And again, just in terms of the -- using the existing corridor, as you say, you are actually not quite using the existing corridor, correct?  You are expanding the existing corridor?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  We are expanding the existing corridor, and my understanding and my plain reading of the land-use policy says, you optimize the use of the existing, in this case, corridor.


And for this project, my interpretation of that is that we are requiring less width for the widened part of the corridor than we would require if we were to build a greenfield corridor; i.e., a corridor not adjacent to any existing corridor.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And I think I just heard you to say -- and I think is it consistent with the PPS -- neither the PPS nor either the OPA or Hydro One's policy is that land-use policy, in the sense that you don't want to create new right-of-ways, will trump all other considerations.  Is that fair?  There would be circumstances where the cost of using an existing line was so prohibitive, for example, that you would consider creating a new transmission corridor; s that fair?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  Considerations of cost or time available to projected in-service, the urgency of the need, all of those considerations would have to be --


MR. MILLAR:  All else being equal, obviously you pay heed to the land-use policy.  But, in other cases, it may be a balancing act; is that fair to say?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  However, the policy does suggest that, where feasible, one should optimize the use of the existing infrastructure before developing new infrastructure.  So there would have to be --


MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Okay, what I am just suggesting to you is there may be instances where other factors would outweigh the land-use policy issue.  That's a possibility?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Could I turn you to the NPCC document that I just circulated?


I just want to make reference to a passage on page 1, in fact.  First, you are familiar with this document, obviously?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  What it says is, and I think it is marked on your page:

"The characteristics of a reliable bulk power system include adequate resources and transmission to reliably meet projected customer electricity demand and energy requirements as prescribed in this document and include..."


Then there is (a), which I won't read, but (b) says:

"Consideration of a balanced relationship among transmission system elements to avoid excessive dependence on any one transmission circuit, structure, right of way or substation."


Do you see that?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you agree, as a general principle, if they have a right here, you should -- all else being equal, you would avoid overloading a single right of way?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  That is the answer.  We answered in line with that in Board Staff 2.10.


MR. MILLAR:  What I would like to explore with you -- let me give you a hypothetical, I guess, and I think you have already answered this in the affirmative.  Let's imagine there were two routes leading from the Bruce.  They're both approximately the same length and they both -- they're existing rights of way.  They're about the same length, and the cost to create a new transmission line would be about the same and the impacts on the right of way would be the same.


One of these routes currently carries 90 percent of the load from the Bruce area and one carries 10 percent of the load.


Everything else being equal, which of those routes would you prefer to build a transmission line on, a new transmission line on?


MR. FALVO:  I would have to say the IESO isn't the planner.  It is the independent authority for reliability.  I'm sorry, I'm going to give you a bit of an explanation here.


All of the alternatives that were presented to you us and that we evaluated, all of them had circuits on existing right of ways.


So I looked at this as a question of either -- of either turning this down - essentially, we were stating that this was an unacceptable plan - or assessing it and determining whether we felt there was an acceptable and a manageable risk.


That is the conclusion that we came to.  So when I read that consideration and in the balance, it is -- I looked at it as a question of, Did I see enough to require us to deny the plan, or did I have enough information to tell us that I believed it was an acceptable risk and a manageable risk?


That's the conclusion that we came to.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I want to get to the steps that led to your conclusion, so if you will bear with me.  I take it that you do agree that, all else being equal, it is preferable to avoid excessive dependence on a single right of way?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I take it that the reason for that is that if you spread the distribution over a number of rights of way, there is less chance that, for example, a catastrophic weather event, or something of that nature, will take out a large portion of the transmission capacity?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That is why you try and spread it out, if possible?


MR. FALVO:  Absolutely.  All of this is based on risk.  So there is a design -- there is a design criteria that essentially establishes a minimum, but certainly if you can design the system with even more than that at an acceptable cost and other factors, that would also be desirable.


MR. MILLAR:  Again, as I said, all else being equal, you try and spread it out, if you can.  But in this circumstance, in this case, as you have already discussed, all else isn't equal.  There are other considerations.  Some of the alternatives cost more, for example, and some of them, as you point out, may be less consistent with provincial land-use policy.


MR. FALVO:  Well, I looked at them as some of the others didn't satisfy the need.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  And there is a number of things you have to balance.  But I guess my question to you is:  How did you arrive at that balance?  What led you to believe, for example, that the reliability consideration -- the reliability advantage you would gain from moving this off the Bruce-to-Milton line is less important than not conflicting with the land-use policy?


MR. FALVO:  Well, as I said, I evaluated the plans that were put in front of me, all of them had lines on existing right of ways.


When I assessed this one, as I said in our answer in 2.10, I believe we have procedures and plans in place.  We have monitoring.  We are allowed to use a special protection system for a loss of right of way contingency.  That is considered an extreme event that is beyond design criteria and is an acceptable use of a special protection system.


So I felt with all of those things, I didn't have enough information to deny this request.


MR. MILLAR:  So essentially you looked at the reliability question from a go, or no go, and for Bruce-to-Milton you were satisfied that was a "go"?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You didn't necessarily weigh it against conflicting considerations?  It was just go, or no go?


MR. FALVO:  I think the evaluation was made by the others.  I said that we could operate this, make this plan operable.


MR. MILLAR:  I certainly welcome input from anyone else on the panel if there is anything you would like to add.


MR. CHOW:  Well, what I would like to add is we -- the step that lead to being specific about where the line goes, you start off first understanding the general nature of the problem.


In this case, there is just insufficient capability of the transmission path coming back to the GTA, which is the main part of the grid.


In our discussion paper, we identified that general concept.  And the discussion paper, in a way, it really didn't treat it down to the level where they actually run the line.  It said you need something from Bruce -- from Bruce to the GTA area where the main grid is.


Working with Hydro One, Hydro One, with their understanding of the land-use policy, understanding where routing is possible, we developed a set of plans that put the concept now into more definition.


So there are definition of how you get to Essa.  That's one way you get to the main grid; one way to go down to London and move back to the main grid; and the one that go Bruce to Milton as being a third way of going to the grid.


Those were presented as options.  The IESO studied those options.  If the IESO, in their consideration of those options, feel those options are not reliable to be looked at as an option, we will -- we are seeking their input.


They studied the capability of those systems, which is one of the primary reliability determinations:  Does those systems that we define now in more detail, when it is tested under the criteria of the IESO criteria, which is based on the NPCC criteria, does it pass, and at what level of transfer capability it passes those tests?


MR. FALVO:  Right.


MR. CHOW:  There are certain mandatory standards that they use, the IESO use, for testing that system.


Those would be the loss of a two-circuit or multi-circuit tower line.  In this case, it would be a double-circuit line.  It has to be able to withstand, at the transfer level that you are planning, for the loss of a most critical double-circuit line, in this case, the Bruce-to-Milton line, the existing Bruce-to-Milton line.


So the system was tested that way, and they were provided with a certain capability of which, you operate below that capability level, you are meeting all of the standards for that system.


There are also certain other types of testing standards which is in the NERC language, a C and D contingency.  They are lesser contingency.  They continue to be considered, especially the D contingency, which is the loss of a right of way.


MR. FALVO:  Right, extreme contingency.


MR. CHOW:  Extreme contingency.


Those are judgment calls of the reliability entity in Ontario of the reliability, whether those can be met or is there mitigation measure that can be used for those.  There is nothing in the NPCC standard to say, if your alternative plan does not pass the decontingency, then it doesn't meet the test, because those standards are to the discretion, as I understand it, to the judgment of the reliability entity in Ontario.


MR. FALVO:  Right.  The design criteria doesn't include the loss of a right-of-way.  All of the standards and criteria require those to be assessed for risk and consequence.


MR. MILLAR:  And you did do that?


MR. FALVO:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't want to belabour this point.  If we could bring back the chart, please, which is in a couple of places.  There we go.  Thank you.


If I look at options 6 and 7, Bruce to Kleinburg, to Claireville, and then Bruce to Crieff, it seems to me that they -- first let me ask you, Mr. Falvo.


From the perspective of that NPCC document that I just read you, where it is preferable to spread out the transmission where possible, would these lines be preferable to the Bruce-to-Milton line, simply regarded through that lens?


MR. FALVO:  I understood that all of these had part of their -- a significant part of those along the same right-of-way.


MR. MILLAR:  I think some of it is, but not all of it.


MR. FALVO:  No, not all of it, no.


MR. MILLAR:  So simply from that perspective and no other, would you agree that if that was the only thing you were looking, at you might in fact be inclined to choose option 6 or option 7?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the reason those were taken off is because it's not as consistent with land policy as the Bruce-to-Milton project; is that correct?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  If I could just add to that and maybe update the table.


In a response to Pollution Probe interrogatory 39, I believe the information regarding the Crieff option was updated.


MR. FALVO:  Oh, yes.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  And the Crieff option did not meet the need, based on the results provided in that response.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry I missed that.  So that is off the table entirely now?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  From a load-meeting capability and, sorry, a transfer-capability perspective.


MR. FALVO:  Right.  In terms of transfer capability, it didn't meet the 8,100.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  That was in a table at the end of that IR.


MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  But I guess the question would remain then from the Bruce to Kleinburg to Claireville.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.  And for that option, as set out in the pre-filed evidence at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, that's at page 5 of 6, where that option is described, lines 1 to 11.  This option would require about 52 kilometres of new route, for a couple of reasons.


It didn't pass the screening.  Both related to land-use policy.  First of all, it doesn't align with the land-use policy for the entire route.


And secondly, for that additional 52 kilometres of route, it would require a corridor width of about 250 feet, versus 175 to 200 feet.


And of course, a third consideration was that, to get from the existing corridor to that Kleinburg station over those 52 kilometres, it would take, in our view, much more time to site the corridor over those 52 kilometres, because of course, you are not siting it next to an existing corridor.  You are going through an extensive route study as part of the environmental assessment.


And in terms of meeting the need data that are identified by the OPA, there were concerns about whether or not this option could, in fact, meet the need in time.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  But again, if we look at the chart, the constraint on the Bruce to Kleinburg to Claireville is land-use policies, as you have just described?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  And again, and the concerns related to the land-use policy that I --


MR. MILLAR:  No.  And that's fair.  I understand that.


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess -- and again, I don't want to spend forever on this.  If you've already answered this question, then you can just say so.  I just want to make sure that the record is complete on this.


You've stated that really you did this analysis in a go/no-go fashion.  But if I've heard you correctly, there may be some reliability advantages to the Bruce to Kleinburg to Claireville line.  And you have rejected that on the basis of the -- it is not as consistent with the land-use policy.


It really seems to me that you have done a balancing here, rather than simply a go/no-go, because there may be some advantages to that.


And I would just like -- again, I think, Mr. Falvo, you may have already answered this question entirely, but is there anything you would like to add on that, on the analysis you did in balancing reliability on the one hand versus land-use policy on the other?


MR. FALVO:  I think what I -- maybe I wasn't clear.  But my understanding of the Bruce-to-Kleinburg, it was 52 kilometres of new route, but the other 130 was along the existing corridor.


So from a risk, it would be very similar.  It's just that last 52 kilometres that doesn't have the exposure.  But the consequence would virtually be the same, provided, you know, for example, a tornado on that common route section, and the consequence would be the same, and would have to be mitigated by the same set of actions and plans.


So that one wasn't any different, from my perspective, from the risk.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You did look at that, though, and you did conduct a balancing act, and you're still satisfied that that is the -- the Bruce-to-Milton is the better option?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I want to talk quickly about generation rejection, still from the reliability perspective.  We have heard a fair amount about it.  And I just want to make sure I understand it accurately.


As I understand it, generation rejection and the related special protection systems work in this fashion.  When the load on the lines gets to a certain level, the special protection system is armed; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And what that allows is, you just sort of exceed the normal limits for the transmission line; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  And the reason for that is because the SPS is able to virtually instantaneously disconnect a generator if there is a contingency; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What happens when the SPS is actually -- when generation rejection is actually triggered?


MR. FALVO:  Well, that would -- it would be triggered by the contingency that's detecting, for example, the loss of the circuits, and would instantly send a trip signal to whichever generating units were selected or armed to be disconnected.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, maybe I wasn't clear.  What happens to the generator when the system is triggered?  How is it taken off the system?


MR. FALVO:  Usually from the circuit-breaker that connects it to the grid.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it instantaneously disconnects it from the grid?


MR. FALVO:  It instantaneously opens that switch, that circuit-breaker.


MR. MILLAR:  Which disconnects it?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. CHOW:  I would like to add, I mean, from an electrical side of the system, that's what happened.  Obviously, on the generator side, many things happen.


MR. MILLAR:  And those -- I had some follow-up questions on that, so if you will just bear with me, I will ask some questions.  If you need to add something, please feel free to do so.


So that was my next question.  What happens to the generator, the generation facility, once the SPS is engaged and triggered, once they're shut off from the grid?


MR. CHOW:  Typically, when a generator is operating at, in this case, full output, let's say a nuclear unit, in order for it to run in a stable fashion, it has to have the amount of output delivered to the system and taken.


You don't do that -- and I don't know this analogy for the car, where you are ramping up the car very quickly, and you shift it to neutral.  The engine is over-raced.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.


MR. CHOW:  So the same thing happen with a generator.  So you press the gas to the pedal really fast, but as long as you have the wheels there, you are driving on the highway, then the engine is maintained at a certain speed.


The moment you hit neutral, or you press the clutch in, the engine just race.  You maintain the same gas pedal.  Obviously, if you continue at that fashion, the car, engine, or the Bruce generator, nuclear unit, will destroy itself.  It cannot run at over-speed.


So instantaneously it will go into over-speed.  Then all the protection mechanisms that are built into the nuclear unit has to operate now.  All the steam will blow, bypass -- and I am not a nuclear engineer.  I understand it is a very complex process.  Everything has to work over there on that side.


Now, the assumption from an electrical side is that that system on the steam side, on the reactor side, is going to work.  Now, in nuclear units the additional complication is, if it is removed from full reactivity for a certain length of time, it is going to poison out, which I -- the terminology is, they have to shut it down.  I believe it's about three days.  You cannot just maintain it at that reduced level.  So you cannot get the nuclear reactor back until they run it back up again.


So it is not a simple matter to just reject the generator off the system, especially a nuclear unit.


So, yes, we talk about generation rejection as we just open a breaker and everything is fine.  But, in fact, on the generator side, on the nuclear-reactor sides, a lot of system has to operate correctly, a lot of the safety systems.


MR. MILLAR:  So I take it that if the SPS is engaged and triggered and the nuclear generator is shut off, they apparently have systems at their own end.  The Bruce has systems which essentially shuts off one or more reactors?  That's what would happen immediately following at the Bruce?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  The reactor that feeds the energy that feeds the turbine would have to be shut down.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know what impact that has on the reactor, if that has any detrimental -- obviously, you know, a lot of things have to go right for it to work.  Assume it works as it is supposed to work.


Does that have any -- does that adversely impact the generator?  You said is it has to shut off for three days.  Are there any other adverse impacts?


MR. CHOW:  I am not a nuclear -- sorry.


MR. FALVO:  Sorry, as Mr. Chow said, the generator speed has to be protected, and then the reactivity in the reactor has to be managed, because, again, there is no balance in terms of the energy that is being withdrawn.  As he said, we're getting close to the extent of our expertise.


Up until so far, Bruce Power has -- under normal circumstances, has made the units available to the selected, but they are always concerned, because although as you said they have safety systems to protect themselves, those are intended for in plant contingencies.


What we're essentially doing is exposing them to a risk on -- risks on the transmission system that also would trip them instantly, and so they're relying on all of those generator safety systems and reactor safety systems to function correctly to bring the reactor down to a stable point.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if it reduces the life of the generator -- the reactor, I guess?  Like, does this hurt the reactor?  If you don't know, that's fine.


MR. FALVO:  I would assume if it was to happen frequently, I don't think they would continue to agree to do it.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess my question is:  Do you know if it shorten the lifespan of the reactor?


MR. FALVO:  I am not sure of that.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if it would lead to more maintenance being required on the reactor?  Again, if you don't know, you don't know.


MR. FALVO:  I don't know for sure.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In terms of generation rejection, if you did it on the wind side, would you have similar problems?  Do you know how -- I imagine you shut off a wind farm through generation rejection.


Do you know what impact that would have on the wind turbines or that facility?


MR. FALVO:  Well, again, it is a similar thing, although perhaps to a much lesser scale, in terms of equipment and risk to the public.  The circuit breaker that connects the wind farm automatically disconnects.  That means the wind farms' equipment has to detect that there is not a balance between the wind pushing the blades and the electricity going out.


Again, those would speed up, and so their protection systems have to engage and function correctly so that -- I would assume that they also are concerned about that risk, but clearly it is not to the same scale.


MR. MILLAR:  You wouldn't happen to know if it shortens the life of the turbines or requires more maintenance on the turbines after the fact, if there is an actual contingency and the SPS is triggered, not just armed?


MR. FALVO:  No.  What we know so far is that they have agreed to participate in the special protection systems.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


I am going to move on to another area.  Madam Chair, I am taking a little bit longer than I thought.


MS. NOWINA:  You are, Mr. Millar.  I counted on you to stay on time.


MR. MILLAR:  Your own staff.


MS. NOWINA:  Really.


MR. MILLAR:  Would you like to take a break?


MS. NOWINA:  How much longer?


MR. MILLAR:  I probably have another 15 or 20 minutes, I would estimate.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's take our break now and we will be back at -- before we break, I am assuming that we are not going to get to the lands panel today.  Mr. Nettleton, Mr. Millar has another -- we will break for half an hour.  Mr. Millar has another 20 minutes.  That will take us to 4 o'clock.


You have redirect?


MR. NETTLETON:  I don't have any redirect, Madam Chair.  I have checked my notes this evening and -- last evening, and I don't have any re-examination at this point and I can't imagine anything arising from Mr. Millar.  But I am assuming the Board Panel may have.


MS. NOWINA:  We do have some questions.  All right.  Well, we will see where we are, then, in terms of timing when we get back.  We may be able to get to them for a short period.  We will return at 20 minutes to 4:00.


--- Recess taken at 3:09 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:40 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Did anything come up during the break?  No?  All right.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Could I ask the panel to turn to Board Staff IR 1.9.  That's Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1.9.


The Board Staff asked you, you will probably recall, some questions about the size of the actual wires, which, as I understand it, are measured in something called KCmils; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And as I understand it, does the KCmil measure the diameter of the wire?  Is that what it measures?


MR. SABISTON:  It effectively measures the diameter, but not directly.


MR. MILLAR:  Good enough.  So a bigger number is a bigger wire?


MR. SABISTON:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Board Staff asked you -- I understand there are a number of different sizes you can use, and different -- you know, they weigh different amounts, and there are different benefits and constraints that relate to them.


But in your response to question 3, if I can turn you to page 2, that question asked you about using larger conductors.  And you said the cost of conductor and assembly would be expected to increase by approximately 25 percent with use of quad 932.7 KCmil.


And then you say:

"Hydro One is presently investigating the use of quad 732 KCmil, which has recently become more readily available and is not expected to require fundamental changes to the design of the line."


Can I ask you what the status of those investigations are, and if you are still considering that option?


MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  I am pleased to report that, in fact, Hydro One has looked at this option, and we have decided to go with the quad 732 conductor, which is also termed as compact conductor.  The reason being is that there is a savings in transmission-line losses by the use of this conductor.


We evaluated that at 4 megawatts.  So 4 megawatts' savings and losses, 24/7, that adds up to significant amount of power.  And then the cost increase was estimated at around $6-million.


With the quad 732, we can use exactly the same towers that we were originally planning to use for the 585, with the same spacing.  And so from a visual point of view, the line looks exactly the same as it would have beforehand.  But we achieve this savings and losses.


When I looked at how much the savings and losses would be to the average end-use ratepayer in Ontario, I figured -- I calculated, sort of like a back-of-the-envelope calculation, that it would pay off in about three to five years.  That is, the lost savings would result in the savings that would be paid back in three to five years.  So it made sense to go with the larger conductor from the lost-savings point of view.


MR. MILLAR:  If I could just break that down a little to make sure I got it all.  You are going to go with the 732.  I take it that leads to lower line losses; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Does it actually lead to increased transmission capacity?


MR. SABISTON:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And why is that?


MR. SABISTON:  The transmission capacity is limited by other technical factors on the line.  The 732 does not change those other technical factors.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You said it is going to cost about 6-million extra dollars?


MR. SABISTON:  It will cost about 6 million extra dollars.


MR. MILLAR:  And is this reflected -- I take it there hasn't been an update of the costs.  Are there $6 million worth of other savings, or was this not considered to be significant enough an item to revise the cost estimate?


MR. SKALSKI:  If I could answer that.  Mr. Girard, I think, covered this -- covered this aspect on Friday when he indicated that in a recent assessment of the cost, a reassessment, we believe that the 635 million cost estimate is still valid.  That includes various ups and downs with some of the cost items, and this is one of them.


MR. MILLAR:  So Mr. Girard, he is here.  But I don't know if he has to come down.  Mr. Girard did -- was aware of this $6 million increase?


MR. GIRARD:  Yes, I was aware of that increase.  And as I stated earlier, we are still confident and believe that our $635 million total is valid.


MR. MILLAR:  This may reflect my ignorance of some engineering matters, but if you reduce line losses by about 4 megawatts, does that effectively increase the transmission capacity by 4 megawatts?


MR. SABISTON:  No, it does not.  It just means that somewhere in the system we would -- someone would have to sell 4 megawatts of less generation.  But it does not increase the transmission capacity, because the transmission capacity is basically measured where you inject the power into the system.


What it means is that -- is that we would be getting

4 megawatts out at the far end of the system, for the same injection in.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


Okay.  I would like to move on.  These are some questions, just a few more follow-up questions.  Mr. Girard, you -- I don't know if you need to come down, but you may need to turn on your mic.  I think you are sworn and empanelled, so I don't -- if you want to come down, please feel free to do so.


There are just a few follow-up questions on the cost of the project.  And I have provided you with copies of a speech by your CEO, Ms. Formusa.  I think you have a copy of that?


MR. GIRARD:  Yes, I do.


MR. MILLAR:  And if I could ask you to turn to page 8 of that speech.


Just to remind everyone, this speech is just from the end of February 2008, so it is just a couple of months old.


Ms. Formusa, she said a few things.  If you look about a little more than halfway down the page, there is a sentence saying:

"We are also experiencing significant material cost escalations and longer lead times."


Then she says:

"In fact, some major materials have increased in price, to the point where they now cost more than 200 percent of the average unit price paid in 2003, and we expect prices for raw materials like copper, aluminum, and iron ores to continue to show significant escalation due to global demand."


First of all, will you be using copper for this project?


MR. GIRARD:  For the transmission line, we will not be using copper.  We use aluminum conductor.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you will be using aluminum?


MR. GIRARD:  Yes, we will.


MR. MILLAR:  And iron ore, is that used to make steel?  I mean, is that --


MR. GIRARD:  That is used to make steel for the towers, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you're anticipating a fairly significant cost escalation with regard to some of the material inputs for the transmission line?


MR. GIRARD:  Well, what we have been doing is, our cost estimates were prepared in the winter, last January/February, of 2007.  And since then, we have been tracking the cost of steel, aluminum conductor, and the hardware.


And one of the things that we have noticed is, is that the cost of tower steel -- and that's manufactured tower steel, when it is cut and ready to be installed in the towers -- has actually gone down.  We estimated, and we allowed for more money than we predict it will cost right now.


MR. MILLAR:  So the costs you estimated are either accurate now or, in fact, may even be a little -- you may have estimated a little bit on the high end for some materials.


MR. GIRARD:  We estimated a little on the high end.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, obviously, as price -- if prices fluctuate, that could change.  Is that fair?


MR. GIRARD:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  But we don't know that right now.


MR. GIRARD:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you anticipating the costs for these materials will go up, or do you have a sense of that?


MR. GIRARD:  Right now we anticipate that the costs will be fairly constant for the next while.


MR. MILLAR:  Have you purchased any of the materials yet, or do you have options to purchase the materials?


MR. GIRARD:  We have not purchased these materials.  But for other projects we're working on, we are purchasing these materials like tower steel and conductor on an ongoing basis.


MR. MILLAR:  And what about for labour?  Have you secured contracts for any of the labour yet?


MR. GIRARD:  No, we have not secured contracts for the labour.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And this is probably going to be a question for the land-acquisition panel, but the budget for land acquisition was about 125-million in the estimate.  Is that number still -- does that number still hold?


MR. SCHNEIDER:  Yes, it does.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


I have a few questions that -- it may turn out that these are going to be more appropriate for the panel 1A, and if we go into something you are not comfortable answering, that's fine, I will move on.  But they relate to the locked-in energy-cost assumptions.


Could I ask you to turn up Pollution Probe IR number 7, which I believe is Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 7.  And I am looking at page 3.  In fact, I am referring to the chart at the bottom of that page.  You don't actually see the question here, but this chart is -- Pollution Probe asked you to give estimates of the undelivered energy you would see in the various scenarios; is that fair?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  For example, you know, Bruce B doesn't come back on line, or you use series compensation.  They list the scenarios, and you have provided the undelivered energy estimates for those five scenarios; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I could ask you to turn to Pollution Probe number 9, Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 9.


I am looking at page 4.  This is a response to -- I will just wait a moment, if the Chair needs a moment.


This is a response to another Pollution Probe interrogatory where, in this case, they ask you to calculate the undelivered energy cost for what I take it are the same five scenarios; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  I believe so.


MR. MILLAR:  That's what you've done there?  These numbers are millions of dollars in undelivered energy cost; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn now to Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 47, attachment A, table 5.


I can repeat that, if you like, but hopefully we can have it pulled up on the screen.


That's it.  Thank you.  This table at the top it says "avoided energy costs", so I take it it is just that.  This is showing the avoided energy costs?


MR. CHOW:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, you are looking at table 5?  Avoided energy costs, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Were the figures in this table used to calculate undelivered energy costs?


MR. CHOW:  Yes, for the -- yes, that's right.


MR. MILLAR:  These would have been the assumptions you used for the net present value calculations, as well?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand that the IESO currently has a protocol regarding payments for when a -- let me take a step back, because I understand currently, forget about this project, there are instances in which the IESO has to constrain a generator; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I understand there is a current protocol for, I guess, both paying that generator that is constrained, and also procuring the replacement energy; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  The costs that I see in table 5 here, do they match the IESO's current practice and protocol with regard to paying constrained generators?


MR. FALVO:  The current protocol is to simply a calculation in the marketplace.  There's an actual dispatch, and then there is an equivalent one run that assumes that there are no transmission constraints, and we compute what is called a market schedule, which would have been, in layman's terms, an ideal economic dispatch.


The difference between those two are what's used as a basis for crediting the generators, congestion management settlement credit, which gives them a payment to pay for any lost profit from the ideal dispatch to the actual dispatch.


MR. MILLAR:  And so when constraint actually happens, those are the actual costs to the system; is that right?


MR. FALVO:  Those are -- yes, those contribute to the costs of the dispatch.


MR. MILLAR:  And every year, as I understand it, there is a total amount that you have paid for constrained generation; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am not sure you answered my question, and maybe I simply don't understand the chart well enough.


Do the numbers in this chart match how the IESO actually pays a generator or pays for constrained generation?


MR. CHOW:  No, Mr. Millar.  What we have said was the assumption we made, in terms of costing the locked-in energy, is, one, the power that would have opinion produced by Bruce is a take-or-pay contract.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  So if they deem they could produce that energy, they will get paid for it, whether or not the system can deliver that.


Our assumption is that then we go to the market to buy the replacement energy, because you really have not got delivery of the energy at the hold price.  We are assuming, as a proxy, that the hold price would be similar to the avoided energy costs over those various time periods and over those years, as shown in this table.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that how the IESO actually does it, Mr. Falvo?  Mr. Falvo, pardon me.


MR. FALVO:  What we actually do is based on the actual.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.


MR. FALVO:  So there is -- there would be -- in simple terms if the generator that was very economic was constrained down, they would have lost a profit from the ideal dispatch and they would have been paid that difference.  They should be indifferent.


Then another generator that was asked to dispatch up that was not economic would have been paid again to recover their costs so they again would be indifferent.


[Witness panel consults]


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. --


MR. FALVO:  Sorry, they would be paid on a -- the dispatchable resources get paid on a five-minute price that is calculated.


MR. MILLAR:  Let me ask you this question, Mr. Falvo.


You weren't involved in creating table 5, I take it?


MR. FALVO:  The costing, no.


MR. MILLAR:  Do the avoided energy costs that they have used as their assumptions look reasonable to you?  Do they match more or less what the IESO would expect?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  I believe they did a -- used a forecast of a future costing system.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.


I just wanted to follow up with a response I thought I heard to a question by Mr. Fallis.


I may have just misheard.  I thought I heard, in response to one of his questions, that if wind generators are constrained off the system, you don't have to pay them.


Did I misunderstand that?


MR. FALVO:  Wind generators are not submitting bids and offers.  They're not dispatchable in the market rules definition.


So they're treated as a price taker.  They get paid for the energy that they deliver into the system, and when they don't deliver, even if it is because of a constraint on the system, then they don't get paid out of the market settlement.


MR. MILLAR:  So the locked-in energy costs with regard to wind are simply for replacement power; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  I believe so, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


I will leave that for the model.  Okay, I just have one final area I would like to look at.


Could I ask you to turn up Board Staff IR 4.4?  It's Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 4.4.


This is a question from Board Staff relating to the IESO's system impact assessment report.


If you look at the preamble, Staff gives you a quote from that report.  I think the reference to the actual report is found higher on that page where it gives the reference, but this quote is taken directly from it, so I am not sure we need to turn to it, but we can if you like.  But the quote says:

"Outages involving the transmission facilities that form the Milton-Claireville corridor would be especially challenging operationally and that this corridor would benefit from the implementation of measures that would limit the severity of the critical outage conditions."


Do you see that?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Then the Board Staff asked you to comment on that, essentially, and your response is:

"Hydro One agrees with the IESO's assessment concerning the operational challenges associated with the Milton-Claireville corridor.  These matters are being investigated further and are likely to be considered as part of the IPSP process."


So I take it your view is that this is a matter for consideration not in this proceeding, but in the IPSP?


MR. FALVO:  Um..., yes, I think with all of the power funnelling into Milton, the work that is required there has been included in this project, but as load grows and the system continues to develop in that area, there will need to be a target of further investigation.


MR. MILLAR:  The Bruce-Milton project itself is not being considered as part of the IPSP; is that correct?


MR. CHOW:  No.  It's included in the discussion paper that forms the basis of the IPSP, as in our letter to Ms. Formusa.  We believe that's such an urgency that we cannot await the outcome of the IPSP, so we said it is proceeding as a stand-alone application before the IPSP.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


Is it fair to say that the issues that the IESO highlights with regard to the Milton-to-Claireville corridor that I have just referenced are either caused by or exacerbated by the Bruce-to-Milton transmission line?  I assume that's the case, because the system-impact assessment is about the Bruce-to-Milton transmission line; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes, it is about the Bruce-to-Milton line.  The Milton-Claireville corridor will carry power that is common from the Bruce direction, and also from the Niagara direction.


So maintenance and other work programs that need to take place on there will just become more difficult to do, and as the system continues to develop, that will need to be looked at to see if there are any advantages that can be gained there.


MR. MILLAR:  But just to be clear, some of the issues, the operational challenges, as you call them, in the system-impact assessment are -- on the Milton-to-Claireville corridor are caused by this Bruce-to-Milton transmission line?


MR. CHOW:  Mr. Millar, I would say that this is caused by the generation development west of the Milton area.


Whether you have the Bruce-to-Milton line or you have a line that is somehow going a different direction into Milton, at the end of excessive power in southwestern Ontario and in Niagara is going to come to the same point.


MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  But I think my point is a simple one, that the problems on this Milton-to-Claireville portion of the corridor are at least exacerbated by the proposed Bruce-to-Milton line.  Is that fair?


MR. CHOW:  That's fair.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Once you -- assume you get approval to build this line.  Is it too late then to consider these issues in the IPSP?  I mean, if the line is built and that flow is coming down, isn't it too late to look at these issues?


MR. CHOW:  I believe the issue here is related to the maintenance limitations.  It's not the capacity.


MR. SABISTON:  Yes.  The limitation highlighted in the SIA is more related to the switching configuration and use at Milton TS.  The IPSP envisages a major project at Milton TS in around the 2015 time frame, adding transformation capacity at Milton TS.


At that time, Hydro One will -- Hydro One and the other agencies will look at the switching configuration in use at Milton TS and reconfigure it to accommodate the new transformation being added at that time to address these issues.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, you're saying "at that time".  Presumably at that time if you are successful you will already have approval for the Bruce-to-Milton line, and there won't be anything you can do about the Bruce-to-Milton part.  You may still be able to solve the problem through other measures, but there will be nothing you can do about the Bruce-to-Milton part; is that right?


MR. SABISTON:  There is nothing we can do about the Bruce-to-Milton part.  But there is something we can do about the switching configuration; that is, how the breakers are arranged at Milton to solve this problem that the IESO noted in the SIA application.


From a planning point of view, the Bruce-to-Milton line comes into service end of 2011.  This future project at Milton is 2015.  From a planning point of view, that is not a large amount of time.


So for those -- presumably those three years, whatever issues result during the maintenance on that corridor will be taken -- will be taken care of by operational measures implemented in real-time.


MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned that you would do some work on breaker switches; is that right?  Did I hear that correctly?  There would be some work done on the breaker switches at Milton?  Did I -- maybe I didn't hear you correctly.


MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  In 2015, the IPSP envisages adding transformation at Milton switching station, which will require Hydro One to install new circuit-breakers at that time.  In conjunction with adding the new circuit-breakers, it gives us the opportunity to rearrange the existing circuit-breakers to address the concerns addressed by IESO.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I assume there will be some costs to doing this, no doubt?


MR. SABISTON:  Yes, there will be costs to do with this.  Whenever we add new equipment, there are costs.


MR. MILLAR:  And is any of that going to be attributed to the Bruce-to-Milton line?


MR. SABISTON:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can you explain why not --


MR. SABISTON:  It will all be attributed to the future project.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But is the future project required because of this Bruce-to-Milton line?


MR. SABISTON:  The future projects are required because of ongoing load growth and demand in the greater Toronto area.


MR. MILLAR:  Which is -- so part of the issue is the Bruce-to-Milton line, if not the entire issue?


MR. SABISTON:  No.  I said the issue -- the requirement of the new transformers at Milton are required because of ongoing load growth in the Toronto area.  It's independent of the Bruce-to-Milton line.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think I have your answer on that.  Thank you.


Just one moment, Madam Chair.


Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


Mr. Nettleton, still no re-examination?


MR. NETTLETON:  No redirect.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Chaplin, do you have questions?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Thank you.

Questions from the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  There has been discussion on a number of occasions about reliance on generation rejection.  And, for example, in response to a question from Mr. Klippenstein, the comment was made that you don't want to rely on generation rejection for the long-term.


Do you sort of recall the general drift of those comments?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So how do you -- how do you define the long-term?  And I guess, in answering that, if you could also perhaps clarify for me -- my understanding is that generation rejection has been used in the system for quite some time.  Maybe if you could specify for me how long that has been, and why is it that, if it has been relied on over the long-term in the past, why that doesn't continue to be acceptable.


MR. FALVO:  As we said earlier, it was relied upon to manage expected delays in the transmission, going back into the late '80s and early '90s.


The design of the plan that had been approved did not rely -- did not need to rely on the generation rejection when all of the planned facilities were in service.  It was installed, recognizing that there was a need because of delays to transmission.  So the planning practice in Ontario has always been not to rely on it, when all of the planned facilities are in service.


So in this case, again, what we're saying is that it is used for short periods of time, things like planned maintenance, or under unanticipated forced conditions.  But our practice would be not to rely on it over the long-term, because then essentially you would be relying on it virtually all of the time, because you may need to use it even under the maintenance conditions.


So our measure of a good plan is one that doesn't need to rely on it when all of the planned facilities are in service.


The history with the Bruce is that in the early '90s, as the transmission came online, the units at Bruce were begun to be shut down, and when it got down to four units, the system was -- I don't think it was ever used except for some very extensive coincident transmission outages.  And I can't think of any specific ones right now.


And it's only been in the last few years, where the two units have returned to service, that we have seen an increasing reliance on the generation rejection on a day-to-day basis.  And that, again, is an indication to us that the system is being used closer to its limits.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So let me make sure I am correct, that the system in a sense was -- that special protection system and the generation rejection was put in place quite some time ago, but over time it has either been used or not used, depending upon which units at Bruce were operating or not.  Is that a fair characterization?


MR. CHOW:  Ms. Chaplin, there is two reasons generation rejection is put in place.  They are part of most major transmission systems.


One, they are provided to allow the operator in real time to have additional capability, if needed.  In many cases, it is because there are elements on the system or the system operated in adverse conditions that they need to have the extra capability.


So in typical planning of a transmission system, it is provided for and it is provided for for that reason.


Now, once this is given as an operator tool, the operator will use it where they see fit based on their criteria of its use.  But in planning domain, it is always put in for the purpose of allowing the operator to have a tool to allow additional capability to manage the system.


Now, in the history of the Bruce system, heavy addition of nuclear units, this is starting off with Douglas Point, then we start off with Bruce A plant, then we start off with the Bruce B plant.  My recollection is every time the generation is in place ahead of the transmission.


I am more familiar with the situation in mid-'80s where we went through the same exercise looking for transmission line.


In those days, the hearing was in the mid-'80s, around 1985.  As you know, the decision was made in 1987.  The line didn't come in service until 1991/92.


So there was a gap between the first B units coming in, which I believe is the mid-'80s.  During that time, there was only one transmission line on the system, the first Bruce-to-Milton line, and it is not capable of handling the eight units at Bruce.


So at that time, the measures are put in place to bridge the delay gap between the new line you are seeking to put in service, but the eight units at Bruce is already coming in.


So during that six or seven years, the use, what we call low end generation rejection, was put in place.  And that's what four units rejected for, at its maximum, and 1,500 megawatts of load.


Even with that, I believe two units would have been bottled and not able to operate, so that was the situation in the late '80s, early '90s.


In fact, the tornado incident that went through in '85/86 triggered the actual LGR scheme, load rejection scheme, and actually operated, where it rejected at that time three nuclear units and I believe 750 megawatts of load.


So that was the reason why that was used at that time, and it is consistent with the use that, if you plan for the transmission facility for the long term and you have a delay, you are using it to bridge the gap.  So this is like the interim measure that we are talking about in this application.


As Mr. Falvo said, after that time period, the plan we have, based on the condition that was studied, would not have required generation rejection when all of the elements, all facilities, are in service.


But we never were able to test that, because, by that time, the performance of the A units, especially, was that diminishing to the point that they were taking it out of service.  So a large part in the '90s, there were -- there was not eight units at Bruce.  There was less than that, until now, recently, since the early 2000s or 2002ish, that the units start to come back.


So now, today, we have six units, again, that we are pushing now to the limit of the system where every outage of an element would cause now a system capability issue to even manage the six units.


So that is the increased amount of generation rejection used because the system gets stretched more, and then the more critical element now, that when they go out of service, now require the arming of generation rejection.


I hope that is useful.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, thank you.  So what you have described is, in the recent time, it's being armed more frequently?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But it has not been triggered?


MR. FALVO:  No, it has not been triggered.

     MS. CHPALIN:  Then moving on, Mr. Chow, you had conversation on a couple of occasions with Mr. Klippenstein, and then again with Mr. Pape, talking about the Bruce B refurbishments and the potential alternative of a new build at Bruce.


There were -- you gave an explanation for -- if I may paraphrase you, that basically the Bruce-to-Milton need was being driven by the short-term considerations, but that good planning involved taking account of the -- that longer-term forecast.


I guess I would ask you to look at sort of the counter hypothetical.  If you knew, for sure, that there would be no Bruce B refurbishments and there would be no Bruce new build, would that affect what project you would be recommending be completed to meet the near-term needs?


MR. CHOW:  That's a difficult question.  I believe that, then, you have to look at the technical -- you have to look at the alternatives, in this case the Bruce-to-Milton line, and the lesser option that you may deem to be less costly, at least upfront.


I think one would have to do the economic analysis that we have done, look at any potential locked-in energy, look at the performance of that system prior to the retirement of the units, look at what potential that may have further development in the Bruce area, such as additional wind potential.


As we indicated, there are more potential in the Bruce area.  We are only assuming half the large wind potential and what would be -- what the distribution today is capable of absorbing in terms of standard offer.  So that is a consideration.


I think the key consideration also is, when you look at, then, the Bruce-to-Milton line option against the lesser option, the technical performance of that system.


I think in good planning, it is not necessarily always that you want a system to operate to the last megawatts of capability.  In this case, the Bruce-to-Milton line, in fact, when put in service, it is going to get operated to that, to its capability.


If the facilities operate at 80 percent capability, I think there is merit in having a system that is less stressed, especially for a system as critical as the Bruce system.


So I believe that we have done the analysis to show that, on an economic front, putting the Bruce-to-Milton line in, even assuming that the Bruce B unit is not refurbished, is still an economic proposition.  The crossover, I believe, is around 2018, 2019.


So what means is at least NPV wise, to the lesser option, which is series compensation and the line, they come together at that point.  Then it favours the line after that, for losses, for security operation, for future generation development, for not stretching the system to the limit.


I would say that is the answer.  Then I would still favour that the transmission line goes -- is the preferred option over the series compensation, even if Bruce B is not developed.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But in that analysis, not only would you be looking at the NPV.  Presumably you would also be looking at the other considerations around environmental impacts, landowner impacts, so it wouldn't just -- I mean, you would need to take that into account, and the land-use policy, which is saying to use your existing infrastructure more intensively.


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  And, again, we are against that.  Then it's the technical differences between the two options.


MS. CHAPLIN:  You have made comments about stressing the system, and, again, if I might paraphrase you, you are suggesting that, all else being equal, you prefer to

have -- no doubt there is sufficient capacity and, indeed, perhaps even capacity for further wind.  For example, in your 50 percent assumption, you might want to be able to bring even more on.


But given what we know about how wind works, how stressed is that system actually going to be?  I mean, yes, if all of the wind facilities are at full capacity all at the same time, at the same time all eight units are at full capacity, but it's not my understanding from the evidence that that will be a very frequent occurrence.


So do you have any concerns about how efficient the system is?  If wind is only operating to 30 percent, it seems to me that a lot of the time this overall system will have a lot of spare capacity.  Is that in any way a concern when you are planning the system?


MR. CHOW:  I believe that is a simplistic view of that.


The resources obviously vary over time, in terms of its output, but so does the transmission capability.


The capability of the system is not static.  As I indicated in one of the capability curve, the historical capability curve, the nominal level is derated most of the time, especially on a critical system like the Bruce-to-Milton.


This is why a more detailed analysis is necessary.  It is not a question of, here's average output for wind.  It matches the nominal capacity of the transmission.  It is an average output of the wind, but also at the same time the transmission system is not operating at full value all the time.


So it is a complicated -- use the word "convolution" of two factors, and it becomes then how often the transmission goes down in its capability versus how often the wind is not blowing together at the same time as nuclear.


Now, I think we have done that calculation in the financial evaluation to assess that type of relationship.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But -- correct me if I'm wrong -- if, for example, this line were being built to hook-up Bruce nuclear station and some other base-load station, it would be used at a higher -- it would be used closer to its full capacity, would it not?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  The energy that you would get out from that line would be higher.  But in terms of the capacity to provide for the line, would be the same.


We are assuming that at least sometime over the year that there would be a total output which maximized the wind and the nuclear.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then finally, in response to, again, a question from Mr. Pape -- and this was in the area of series compensation -- a response was given saying that if the Bruce-to-Milton -- if series compensation were put in, for example, and then the Bruce-to-Milton line were subsequently built, that the series compensation would then be of limited value.  Do you recall that?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  I also qualified, if the level of resources that's ultimately developed of the Bruce is 8,100 megawatts.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Right.  And I would just like to understand, and I will give you this scenario, and then follow with my question.


If you were to -- if Hydro One were to implement all of the identified near-term and interim measures -- so these are the Hanover-to-Orangeville and the shunt capacitors -- and the series compensation, and to continue with the generation rejection -- so let's say they were to do that until there was greater certainty about future generation in Bruce.  So perhaps if there would be more wind than the 50 percent, or if there would be refurbishment or not of Bruce B.


Are you saying that, in effect, if the Bruce-to-Milton line were eventually built, that those investments, or some amount of those investments, will in a sense be stranded and that capacity will be useless?


MR. CHOW:  Well, if the -- the way I would answer the question is, without series compensation, just with the near-term measure, because the near-term measure is common to all the alternatives -- with the Bruce-to-Milton line, you could get 8,100 megawatts of capability.


If the resource level up there is -- is only an additional 3,100 megawatts, then that's all you need from the system perspective to incorporate the full value of the new generation, which is all the Bruce units and 1,700 megawatts of wind capacity.


So any additional capacity, although it is welcome, it doesn't provide you any more ability to hook up additional generation, other than if additional generation is developed beyond the 8,100-megawatt level.  So in other words, let's say another 500 megawatts of wind.  Then the series compensation would be useful.


Now, whether that is useful for where they are located, that I cannot tell you at this point.  I think additional improvement on the system, beyond those, would be required.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Quesnelle?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Two areas.  The first one just a minor point, but it just kind of sprung up a little while ago.


Mr. Sabiston, your comments on the losses, when Mr. Millar was questioning you on the conductor size, you were mentioning that there would be 4 megs of reduction in losses, I believe; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  That's correct.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Was your comment that it does not increase capacity -- it is not so much the 4 megs I am worried about.  I think, you know, it may not be overly material, as far as the project goes.  But it is more the concept of only measuring capacity at the point of injection.  And I just wonder if you could expand on that a little bit, especially in the context of this application, as to -- and you are making a lot of analogies of the superhighway and, you know, how many cars are going on and how many cars are coming off the end sort of thing.  Your concept of capacity in that context.


MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  I believe we have an interrogatory response that enumerates the total losses on the system that is envisaged.  And the total losses on the system that is envisaged is in the order of 100 megawatts.


And so that means if we're injecting 8,100 megawatts at Bruce, we're getting back 8,000 at the receiving end, where the lines all end.


Now, with this slightly larger conductor, instead of losing 100 megawatts throughout that system, we will only be losing 96 megawatts.  So you inject the 8,100, and you're getting out 8,004 instead of 8,000.  So that is what I was referring to.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And you don't consider that an increase in capacity to deliver?


MR. SABISTON:  Well, that is an increase of capacity to the end-use customer.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess that was the point that I wanted to kind of bring out, that it strikes me -- and this goes to my second area -- that in transmission planning, your paradigm is to look upwards and to ensure that you are allowing all generation on.  Is that a fair statement?


MR. SABISTON:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  You are primarily concerned with your injection points and ensuring that you don't have any constraints, and you are designing, as has been said many times, to not constrain.


MR. SABISTON:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So the other area that I wanted to discuss then -- and to put it into kind of a magnitude, it's to deal with the standard-offer program, and the -- just from my notes here, but I will ask you to confirm this.  I think, if I picked it up right, the existing standard-offer program, wind-generation applications, you had mentioned that there were 400 megawatts available in the queue, which are -- the moratorium has effectively put a hold on.  And that an additional 300 expressed an interest, 300 megawatts.


Can you put those numbers into context of that 8,100 for me?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.  The new resources that we are forecasting for the Bruce area, one-half is the nuclear, the return of the two Bruce units.  So that adds up to 1,500 megawatts.


The other half, more or less, is the forecast wind developments up at the Bruce, because the Bruce is a very good wind area.  700 megawatts of that has already been committed through the RFP, RES 1, and RES 2.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  The forecast wind we are looking at for another thousand megawatts, 300 of that we are assuming is going to come from standard offer, and 700 megawatts of that from large wind sites through another RFP process.


Now, 300 megawatts of standard offer, I would say, even though it is a future kind of generation coming on the system, there are, in fact, already present today, in terms of, it is a current demand on the system.


The standard-offer program today, if it wasn't for the issue of the moratorium, there would be, I would believe, the order of a few hundred megawatts signing up in the Bruce area now.


What's stopping it from happening is the orange zone, the moratorium.  Why can't it be more than 400, 300 megawatts or thereabouts is the inability of the distribution system to absorb any more.


In the Hydro One queue, which is in most of the -- pretty well all the transformer station -- the step-down transformer station in the Bruce area, the queue is longer than what the distribution system is able to handle.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. CHOW:  When you look at what is able to be handled, which is roughly around 300 megawatts, there is another three or 400 megawatts that is waiting to come on, if the distribution system has the capacity.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So when we talk about the constraints in that moratorium, there is distribution -- we talked about just the standard offer program, so below 10 megs.  You've got the capacity issue of being able to inject on the distribution system, and that's typically driven by the transformer stations?


MR. CHOW:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So if that -- with the new Bruce-to-Milton line in your application, explain to me how that distribution constraint is affected.


MR. CHOW:  Let me explain it this way.  Right now, all of the transformer stations serve local loads up in the Bruce.


Some, for example, the Hanover station, step down is serving 60 megawatts of local load right now.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  So, in effect, of the roughly 5,000 megawatts of generation in the Bruce, much of that is already consumed within the local area at the various stations.


So the amount that we actually transfer out of the Bruce area is the net difference between the amount of generation that is operating in the Bruce area and the loads in that area.


Now, what happened when standard offer wind is connected to the distribution system, let's say another 10 megawatts at Hanover station, what in fact it does is that it provides the supply for the local load at Hanover; so instead of 60 megawatts that currently the bulk system is serving, it now is going to serve only 50 megawatts, which means that 10 megawatts, which would not get shut down because of the fact the local area has additional local generation, will become surplus to the area and get sent, then, by the superhighway to the main grid.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It's that point that I am a little confused by, but I think I have got a handle on the physics as to what is happening with the electrons in that scenario.  If you have local absorption potential, it doesn't flow up.


Your comment that in that scenario you have the ability to have more flow-through on the superhighway --


MR. CHOW:  No.  I'm not saying there is more flow.  I am just saying that electron, which would have been serving the local load at Hanover, and because it is still getting produced, would have to find the path to where it will get used.  In this case, it would be to the grid itself.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So what's the effect, then, of counting that 300 meg standard offer program in the total of local -- of the network generation if it is going to be absorbed at the local level?


MR. CHOW:  The reason we do it that way is because when you net out the local load, what effect does it have is just allow more surplus generation to be exported from the Bruce area.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I am not catching where you're netting it out if you're using nameplate.  If you are using nameplate generation, and if you are -- maybe I should confirm that.  Is the standard offer program one where you actually analyze and only use the net or do you use nameplate?


MR. CHOW:  We use as a parameter the amount of total generation that could be developed in the Bruce area.


Now, what Mr. Falvo actually simulates is the total model of the system of the Bruce, the load, step-down transformers, the bulk system, the major generators, the big generators.  All of that is modelled in his load flow.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  But the parameters he changes is the amount of generation added to the system, until the point of which the system fails on the test.


And we, then, use that as the measure of the amount of incremental resources that we can add to the Bruce area.


Now, where that incremental resources is there to net out load, which means that then there is surplus generation, that -- it has the same effect at the end.  That has to be exported out of this area.


So the study take into account that there is actually a system up there.  So we are not just adding and subtracting numbers.  Mr. Falvo actually modelled it and actually simulated that condition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So this could become another question on Friday, then, but we're going to be looking at that type of netting out that the model does?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I guess this goes back to an earlier conversation we had on the losses.  If we are -- if the model takes those things into consideration of the local use, the local absorption of the local generation -- because if you are to take it to the ultimate extreme, just to make the point, if distributed generation took off to the point where everyone had their own generator and you used just what you needed, full displacement generation, not tapping back onto the line, obviously anything that you created at the Bruce is going to be committed to the 500 kV and it is just going to leave that area, because from is no interface?


MR. FALVO:  Right, right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So a portion of that I would think would have to be recognized, and you're saying the model does that?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Because to the point where we're looking at the transmission being built for capacity only, what I was losing was the scenario or the proposition that anything that is being absorbed locally allows for or causes more electrons to flow Ontario's superhighway.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine up to the point where we have that capacity already counted.  It is only going to allow as many electrons that are being produced in the area.  What I was hearing is what I thought was double counting, but perhaps the model takes that into consideration.


MR. FALVO:  No, it is all taken into account.  I think in an earlier discussion, we said that some power is being siphoned off at, for example, Hanover.  So it doesn't continue to flow and overload the downstream part of the line, but if that load wasn't being siphoned off at Hanover, it could be because the load was lower or because there is some local generation on that distribution system, and what isn't being siphoned off continues down the line.  So it becomes a question of:  At what point does the system fail the tests?


So the injections, whether they're at Bruce or whether they're at the distribution stations, eventually find themselves flowing down the lines and getting down to the main part of the grid.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I will have to understand more how the model goes.  I will save this until Friday, then, because it is that interjecting until you fail the test element that I am not quite catching.


It was actually the conversation, I think, that you had, Mr. Falvo, with Mr. Faye, I believe it was on

Monday --


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- that led me to this concern, that your responses led me believe that there was no netting out, that you were looking at capacity, nameplate capacity, and stacking was up to come up with the 8,100.


MR. FALVO:  No.  This isn't a hand calculation anymore.  It is a very detailed simulation where every little piece is simulated.


MR. QUESNELLE:  When I do the math from the notes, the 300 that you discuss, is that 300 nameplate or is that 300 net?


MR. CHOW:  No, 300 megawatts of nameplate, the amount of standard offers added to the system.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So that is a stacking.  If I am just taking those numbers and adding them up to 8,100, where does the netting out come to, to get that 300?


MR. CHOW:  Sir, I think what it is, and simpler to look at it, is there is 300 megawatts of generation.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. CHOW:  And 300 megawatts of generation is being either placed on the distribution or 230 kV regional network or on the 500 kV bus.  In effect, if it can't be used locally, then it will be consumed locally.  If it cannot be consumed locally, because part of it is already served by existing generation, then it has to be export out of the area.


It is not a matter of whether those standard offer ones displace something that is already being served at Hanover today.


So the existing nuclear station is serving some of the Hanover load today.  If Hanover load now serve, say, half by distributed generation, then Bruce, now, can relieve itself of that to be serving at Hanover, and that 30 megawatt would go down to the grid to serve other loads on the system.


So it is more of a delta change of generation in the Bruce  that will find its way into the grid.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. CHOW:  I guess a correction is, on Friday, this is not an aspect that we will be covering.  This is an aspect to do with power system simulation that Mr. Falvo will be doing.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I was thinking that some of it would somehow find its way into the locked-in power calculation, as well, but that is not the case?


MR. CHOW:  It is the case, but it is treated as additional generation that can be permitted to be incorporated in the Bruce area as defined by Mr. Falvo when he does his study.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

Procedural matters:


MS. NOWINA:  That completes your questioning, panel.  Are you happy?  You are finished, although some of you are, and some of you are coming back again.  So thank you.  Thank you very much for all of your assistance.  We appreciate it.


Most of you are relieved.  I would just like to turn to the schedule before we adjourn for today, to ensure that I understand what's going to happen next.


So tomorrow we will have panel 2, which is Mr. -- on Mr. Woodford's report; is that correct?


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, it is.


MS. NOWINA:  And we expect to spend the day, but just the day, on that report, on that panel.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I have not got a sense yet from my friends as to how long people intend to be with Mr. Woodford.


I would expect that Mr. Pappas is wanting to ask some questions, and I would expect that Mr. Klippenstein and Mr. Ross are also in that camp.  Mr. Pape is also nodding as well.


So -- but in terms of how much time and whether there is going to be overlap, I have no idea.  But I have scheduled -- in my mind I have scheduled the day for Mr. Woodford.


MS. NOWINA:  Is he available for Friday, or for next week?


MR. NETTLETON:  He is definitely available for Friday.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So if we don't complete him on Thursday, we have to move to him on Friday.


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Or finish his cross-examination on Friday, which would push back the presentation on the model and the discussion around that.


MR. NETTLETON:  I don't think, Madam Chair, that we had anticipated the discussion of the model consuming the whole of the day.  It could, depending on the questioning.  But it could also, I think, logically end at a point at the end of the day on Friday, given that we are planning to come back to it on Monday.


MS. NOWINA:  On Monday.


All right.  So a day and a half perhaps on panel 2, Friday afternoon on the model, Monday morning on cross-examination for the model.  And a hope that we can move to the lands panel Monday afternoon, at the very latest Tuesday morning.


I want that on the record tonight so those looking at the transcripts know when they can expect the lands panel to be up.


MR. NETTLETON:  And Madam Chair, just for the record, I did have a conversation with one of the landowners and communicated to her that the panel -- the land panel would be available on Tuesday.  No commitments were made, obviously, as to when on Tuesday or if on Tuesday.  But we were targeting that certainly Wednesday would be the day that they could definitely expect, if not earlier on Tuesday.


So I think there is an expectation that it is going to -- that the land panel will be up and available on Tuesday at the earliest.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's carry on through the next -- rest of next week then.


Mr. Pape, Mr. Ross, you have experts coming from out of town, as does Mr. Klippenstein.  I don't see anyone here from -- oh, I'm sorry, you're here from Pollution Probe.  And Pollution Probe does as well.


When are your experts scheduled to be here?


MR. FALVO:  As it stands, Thursday.


MS. NOWINA:  Thursday.  Your experts.  And Mr. Pape?


MR. PAPE:  Mr. Russell can be available when he is needed, as long as we have enough notice.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


For Pollution Probe?


MS. GREENBLATT:  I don't have an answer for Mr. Klippenstein.


MS. NOWINA:  You don't have an answer for that.  Could you ensure that we have an answer for tomorrow morning?


MS. GREENBLATT:  Yes, I will.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if it helps, I have -- it is me, Madam Chair.  I have spoken with Mr. Klippenstein on these --


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  I believe the agreement was that the -- Mr. Ross and Mr. Fallis's witness would go on Thursday, likely, and probably Mr. Klippenstein on Friday, but that is subject to confirmation.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  That's helpful.


Again, thank you very much, panel.  And thank you to our court reporter.  I don't think I have thanked her yet, and she has been suffering through all this as well.


We are adjourned until nine o'clock tomorrow morning.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:47 p.m.
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